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Corporate Profile
NI LR

Our Vision,
Mission & Values
EMFES -
FEamFMEEE

Vision To be the pioneer of innovative living space

FE = WEAFE BIEEEM

Mission We strive to create a healthy, stylish and distinctive living experience through
ﬁﬁ teamwork and passionate pursuit of innovation and excellence

BREN IR SBANR BEAX  BHEMLLER

Values PIONEER RESPECT INNOVATION
E{EE} Break new grounds Value the individual and Think outside the box
HE PR Y 3 cherish our environment TE A48 |
BAE+
— PRDE AE
INTEGRITY DEVOTION EXCELLENCE
Uphold high ethical Be committed and Consistency in the pursuit
standards passionate of our quality standards
IS E MR T 36 IEREE
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HKR International Limited (“HKRI" or the “Company”) is a conglomerate
in Hong Kong, together with its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”),
with interests in diversified businesses, focusing on real estate
development and investment, property management, luxury hotels
and other investments in Hong Kong, mainland China and across
Asia.

HKRI's comprehensive portfolio includes Discovery Bay and CDW
Building in Hong Kong; HKRI Taikoo Hui in Shanghai, and a number
of premium residential properties under development in Shanghai,
Jiaxing and Hangzhou. We aim at further growing a balanced
portfolio to maximise the Company’s value for shareholders.

At HKRI, we strive to create a healthy, stylish and distinctive living
experience through teamwork and an unwavering commitment
to innovation and excellence. We believe sustainability is one of
the most important ways to make a business and community
viable. Guided by our core values, we are devoted to making a
positive contribution to the communities, promoting sustainable
development and creating a better living environment.

FEERXBEREEARAR ([FEEXBR
HIARARA]) REMBLAR (S E£E])HESE
B PEAMETNRESTEER 26
EHWEZRRIRE YEERE EHERE
R EERE -

FEREEBEREBBMDN  BREERRE
RARANE - EBEEREE  ARAR ES -
SREERMMNNZHEERRFTEETHEE - A2
ARNE—FFEXHER  RRREAESRS
BfE-

EBEKAE  BRAMMEREH  FEME
XBERB NI EREFEHNEET L8R -
PREAFRBEZERREFRMBERNZKER
—ROUERTEEROEE X AHEFELE
Bl HBASERR  ERERFNEERE
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Highlights of the Year
FERERE

APR 2021 @M H

> Acquired a residential redevelopment project
on Hollywood Road and Upper Lascar Row

BANKREZTENEE CH2FEERER

MAY 2021 £ A

Lantau Yacht Club, an addition to the premium
membership clubs in Discovery Bay, became
fully operational

Lantau Yacht Club ZERH i B EE ST
BN

Consent of assignment for IL PICCO was issued
and handover of units to purchasers commenced

R \S e | R ESIEERERN ANV TER

Land premium for the land plot in Lin‘an District,
Hangzhou was fully settled by instalments
and the site was officially handed over

DB Ice Rink, an international-standard ice rink
that features state-of-the-art amenities, opened

to public i anded
SESEKERERE BRMRAEZKE 1 &ﬁﬁﬁﬁié%{fﬁﬁlm m iR %2 &2 F it (9
.mﬁfﬂﬂ]ﬁ& % g WEEX AT
JUN 2021 <H JUL 2021 A

Accepted the Government's offer of basic
terms and a land premium for the Discovery Bay

Completed renovation of the commercial project Master Plan 7.0 . .
West Gate Tower in Cheung Sha Wan ?ﬁéﬁiﬁzﬁﬁk g m BRI 7.0E $RI2HAY
B EH AR TS RO B EFfREmURER
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SEP 2021 /1A

e

5 ir _ ¥ . Peony, Discovery Bay's first fine dining Chinese
L : ; 3 restaurant, of‘ﬁcially opened
WEEE A 5 FEpE
Entered into an agreement to acquire office R EEESATRERE A RRERNR

units and the right of use of parking lots at Pre-sale consent of VILLA LUCCA, the latest
Jinsha INCITY in Hangzhou

residential project in Tai Po, was issued
5] Mt 2 AR BB A AN Th 2 D EN S I N BRI TEEEMELREEERE
B REEREAE BEEE
Entered into agreements to dispose of three
investment properties in Japan

TR SRR ERENE bbb =5
Application for the change of land use for
Discovery Bay Area 6f into residential buildings
NOV 2021 +_ﬁ was accepted by the Town Planning Board
=
Won the bid for a residential site in Songjiang E?ﬁg,‘g&m&%ﬁ mREEEEMAETNL
District, Shanghai ER1EE
BKIIRE LD IEEERT
Secured planning permit to change the land FEB 2022 — A&
use of United Daily News Centre in To Kwa Wan ) )
from industrial to residential Entered into agreement to dispose of
AR A B T2 XA EERE healthcare business to further consolidate

the Group’s businesses
RIVIELEBERER  E-SBREREXK

Entered into agreements to dispose of the
remaining investment properties in Japan for
a profitable return

AR ER AR T RENHE  UES
A E R

DEC 2021 +—H

Residential project in Hangzhou was named
In One

MM EEEEEXN G ERRER
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Awards and Recognition

RERER

AN

Significant awards won by the Group in the

financial year 2021/2022:

£ ER2021/2022 L F EE SN T ELIF .

HKR International Limited
BEEEFBEEESRAA

“15 YEARS PLUS CARING
COMPANY" LOGO
15FPLUS[ B R B BAR 1 R358
The Hong Kong Council of
Social Service

R ERGEHE

HONG KONG ESG REPORTING

AWARDS 2021

2021EBRE  HERERREAR

- BEST ESG REPORT (SMALL-CAP)
GRAND AWARD
BREESGHREARE (P HE)

Alaya Consulting

AEREH

GREEN OFFICE AND ECO-HEALTHY

AWARDS LABELLING SCHEME

BRERAERETE

- “GREEN OFFICE” LABEL AND “ECO-
HEALTHY WORKPLACE" LABEL
[(BERAZIRIBETFRIER

V\/or\d Green Organisation
R E A

ENERGY SAVING CHARTER 2021
20215 BE N E

Electrical and Mechanical
Services Department

WETREE

FINTECH AWARDS 2021
2021 @A K88
- APPRECIATION CERTIFICATE ON ESG
HERE  HENRELE
EL
ET Net
R

CHINESE ENTERPRISE ESG

AWARD 2021

2021 HE % ESG K5

- THE BEST CASE STUDY
RERGIR

Cailian Press

gk

TOP 10 URBAN RENEWAL
DEVELOPER 2021

2 TEHN T ABEFERE
E-House CRIC

5 & 7

ECO-BRAND AWARDS 2021
2021 BIR @G K%

East Week

R ET

GOOD MPF EMPLOYER

5 YEARS+/ MPF SUPPORT AWARD
/E-CONTRIBUTION AWARD
BEFEESF+/
BEEER/BE T ARR
Mandatory Provident Fund

Schemes Authority
wHELERITEHEER

YOUTH EMPLOYMENT AND

TRAINING PROGRAMME

RRABERE

- CERTIFICATE OF APPRECIATION
Rk

Labour Department

HI1k

MENTAL HEALTH WORKPLACE

CHARTER

RHREBENE

- MENTAL HEALTH FRIENDLY
SUPREME ORGANIZATION
BUHRERESUKE

Department of Health and

the Advisory Committee on

Mental Health

FEEBRBEBREREANLZES

BEST MARKETING AWARD 2021

20214 E Al B 58

- “ON THE RISE - FROM DAZHONGLI
TO HKRI TAIKOO HUI”
(R FE-RRPEFFE
AEE)

International Quality Festival

B mE

TOPTOUCH FESTIVAL 2021

GLOBAL BUSINESS

INNOVATION AWARDS

2021 SR M B RE XA AR

- PUBLIC RELATIONS CAMPAIGN
GOLD AWARD
REESR

TopMarketing

GOLDEN FLAG AWARD 2021

2021 £

- CONTENT MARKETING AWARD
RAEHSR

17PR

Discovery Bay Services
Management Limited
MEEREEEFRAA

HKQAA RECOGNITION PROGRAM

FOR ORGANISATIONS 2021

2215 BRERBRABBETHE

- BUSINESS RESILIENCE & COMMUNITY
CONTRIBUTION AWARDS (GOLD SEALS)
REERENFAR (WEEREE)

Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency

BEMERE

HKR International Limited Annual Report 21/22

Qall

“5 YEARS PLUS CARING
COMPANY” LOGO
SEPLUST B R R BIIE IR
The Hong Kong Council of
Social Service

AEtektke

HONG KONG AWARDS OF

ENVIRONMENTAL EXCELLENCE 2020

20208 BREFSMAR

- PROPERTY MANAGEMENT
(RESIDENTIAL) - SILVER AWARD
MEEE (%) - RE

Envwronmemal Campa\gn Committee

REEDHZE

COMMENDATION SCHEME ON
SOURCE SEPARATION OF
DOMESTIC WASTE 2020/21
202021 R B EYRE S B M+ &
- SILVER AWARD

i 5%
Environmental Protection Department
REREE

HSBC LIVING BUSINESS AWARDS 2021
2021 EREBHE H DA
- CERTIFICATE OF MERIT
BEM
Business Environment Council

BARRGE

CLP SMART ENERGY AWARD 2021

2021F BRI EIRE R E A8

- JOINT ENERGY SAVING AWARD
2= B K B

CLP Power

HET]

JOCKEY CLUB CARER & SENIOR

FRIENDLY ESTATE PROJECT 2020-21

202020 FERFEENHEREHE

- HONG KONG OUTSTANDING
CAREGIVER AWARD - GOLD AWARD
2REFEEE-ER

Hong Kong Association of Gerontology

EELTEE

BEST SECURITY PERSONNEL
AWARDS 2020-21
202021 FERERZEEE
- RESIDENTIAL (OUTSTANDING
AWARD)
FE (B R)
New Territories South Regional Crime
Prevention Office
MABERNEFRRPLE

PRIVACY-FRIENDLY AWARDS 2021
20215 B2 R #7FEE
- SILVER CERTIFICATE

iR MR
Office of the Privacy Commissioner
for Personal Data

BEEAANEHNLEREERSE

Discovery Bay Commercial
Services Limited
MEEEMERKEERATE

HKQAA RECOGNITION PROGRAM

FOR ORGANISATIONS 2021

21 EERERBRABBEFTE

- BUSINESS RESILIENCE & COMMUNITY
CONTRIBUTION AWARDS (GOLD SEALS)
hEEMEFAR(REEMEE)

Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency

EERERER

Wells Estate Services Limited
B ERBEER D E

FLUORESCENT LAMP / RECHARGEABLE

BATTERY / PEACH BLOSSOM TREES

RECYCLING PROGRAMMES

BERKALE/ZEM/ SRR E

- CERTIFICATES OF APPRECIATION
E RN

Environment Protection Department

RERES

HKR Limited
BREEREARAF

HKQAA RECOGNITION PROGRAM

FOR ORGANISATIONS 2021

2021 FRRERERBBRTE

- BUSINESS RESILIENCE & COMMUNITY
CONTRIBUTION AWARDS (GOLD SEALS)
hEEREFAE (WEEREE)

Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency

BAEMERER

GREEN OFFICE AND ECO-HEALTHY

AWARDS LABELLING SCHEME

mwmmﬂ

- “GREEN OFFICE” LABEL AND “ECO-
HEALTHY WORKPLACE” LABEL
[RERAEIRIBEIERIER

World Green Organisation

SR ax e A

QUALITY WATER SUPPLY

SCHEME FOR BUILDINGS

REBEHKEAE

- FRESH WATER (MANAGEMENT
SYSTEM) (BLUE)
BK(EERK)ERE

Water Supplies Department

UNES

UMBRELLA BAGS REDUCTION

ACCREDITATION PROGRAM 2021

2021E AR R ER R B

ERAETE

- GOLD LEVEL / REDUCTION AWARD
SRABIFE K

Greeners Action

RETH



G

i
EamEEEEEanLE

IL PICCO
g

GOLFERS' CHOICE AWARDS 2021

2021 FRRABE AR

- CHOICE GOLF PROPERTY
HESHAME

Golf Vacations, Senasia Publication

Group Limited

BIKEE - G ERER AT

Discovery Bay Phase 17
Residential Development
MEgE1I7HEERRER

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

AWARDS 2021

- BUILT - RESIDENTIAL
(HONOURABLE MENTION)

International Federation of Landscape

Architects Asia-Pacific Region

Starlight One
ERE

THE BENCHMARK PROPERTY
PROJECT OF JIAXING
EETREREXFESNER
Nan Hu Evening News, TMSF.com

MR ERESE

TRENDING PROJECT OF JIAXING 2021
1FEEE2HBAES

Jiaxing Broadcast and Television Group
REMERBREE

THE MOST INFLUENTIAL PROJECT
OF JIAXING 2021

21 ERAREFENER
FCCS.com

B EBT

EXCELLENT LANDSCAPE PROJECT
BEREESBER
Jiaxing Nan Hu Real Estate Association

EETERFENEXGS

RISING STAR PROJECT
HRZERE

Sohu Focus Jiaxing
RN A B 57 L

REGIONAL PROMOTION PROJECT 2021
21FEREHEEES NRE
Jiaxing Daily

= E A ®

MOST EXPECTED PROJECT OF
JIAXING 2022
BEFEI202ERESHSES]
NetEase

W@EHE

MOST TRUSTWORTHY PROJECT
BFEOTREREE
Jiaxing Market Supervision
Management Bureau, Jiaxing
Broadcast and Television Group
RETTISEEERR
RETEEERER

In One
BmEE

MOST EXPECTED PROJECT 2022
2022 ERHFER
Hangzhou Daily Press Group —
kfw001.com
MBEE - REB

Auberge Discovery Bay
Hong Kong
ERMREEE

STAYCATION AWARDS 2021

2021 STAYCATION X 2

- BEST THEMED HOTEL AWARD
BEROTEBEAE

Klook

HONG KONG PARENTS' CHOICE

AWARDS 2021

20215 BB ERMERE

- BEST FAMILY HOTEL AWARD
i BE

CHAMPIMOM

Lantau Yacht Club

FIVE GOLD ANCHORS
ik ¥ 1

Marina Industries Association
ERBEITERE

HONG KONG DESIGN AWARDS 2021

20215 BT AL

- INTERIOR DESIGN - HOSPITALITY &
ENTERTAINMENT (SILVER)
ERRE - REFRRE (R€)

DRIVENXDESIGN

Discovery Bay Golf Club
MERESERRE

READERS’ CHOICE AWARDS 2022

20225 HEZEAK

- BEST SPORTS & GOLF CLUB
(BRONZE AWARD)
BEEBRSEARE (R)

Expat Living

The Sukhothai Bangkok

STAR AWARD - FOUR STAR AWARD
ERAE-MEKRE

Forbes Travel Guide
&0 BT IR B2 46

WORLD'’S BEST AWARDS 2021

- NO. 4 BEST HOTEL IN BANGKOK /
NO. 11 BEST CITY HOTEL IN ASIA /
NO. 73 BEST HOTEL IN THE WORLD

Travel + Leisure Magazine

READERS’ CHOICE AWARDS 2021
- NO.1 HOTEL IN BANGKOK
Condé Nast Traveler

READERS’ CHOICE AWARDS 2021
- NO. 9 (BRONZE) HOTEL IN BANGKOK
DestinAsian

THAILAND TOURISM STANDARD:
ACCOMMODATION STANDARD
FOR TOURISM (HOTEL) 2021-23
Department of Tourism

ASEAN MICE VENUE STANDARD
ASEAN National Tourism Organisations

EXCELLENCE LEVEL OF GREEN
HOTEL

Department of Environmental
Quality Promotion

SHARECARE HEALTH SECURITY
VERIFIED"RE R 2R # B &
Forbes Travel Guide and Sharecare
RMETIREEIER © Sharecare

The Sukhothai Shanghai
EBRNFBEE

THE 13™ CHINA BEST HOTEL

AWARDS 2021

221 FFBEPEAREEERE

- BEST LIFESTYLE EXPERIENCE HOTEL
BELEAINERER

Best Hotel Prize Jury and Academy

SEBETEZES

TRAVELERS' CHOICE 2021
221 FHRITEZR
TripAdvisor

SHANGHAI HOSPITALITY

AWARDS 2021

2021FEH TR AE

- BOUTIQUE HOTEL OF THE YEAR
FERREE

TimeOut

BEST CITY HOTEL 2021

2021 /B b REEE
KOL Gold List

KOLAE h & 1%

ANNUAL LIFESTYLE AWARDS 2022

2022F EERRN AR

- LIFESTYLE HOTEL OF THE YEAR
FERMETHIARE

GOGOShanghai

READERS' CHOICE AWARDS 2021
2021 FBE 2 BAR
- TOP 10 HOTELS IN CHINA /
TOP 4 HOTELS IN SHANGHAI
HETAEE LERAEE

Condé Nast Traveler

The Retreat

SHANGHAI HOSPITALITY

AWARDS 2021

2021 EEW AN KE

- HOTEL SPA OF THE YEAR
FEBEKE

TimeOut

La Scala

THE BEST RESTAURANT

AWARDS 2021

2021FHMPEBEAR

- THE BEST WESTERN CUISINE
AND WINE RESTAURANT
FEREREEREE

Ganlanhuabao

HEER

THE BLACK PEARL RESTAURANT

GUIDE 2022

2022R Y BRBERER

- ONE-DIAMOND RESTAURANT
—EEE

Meituan, dianping.com

XE - KREFE

The ZUK Bar

SHANGHAI HOSPITALITY

AWARDS 2021

2021 FEWTAMKE

- HOTEL BAR OF THE YEAR
FEHETE

TimeOut

URBAN Café

FOOD & DRINK AWARDS 2021
2021 B R M K%
- SOUTHEAST ASIAN RESTAURANT
OF THE YEAR
FEREZRE
That's Shanghai

FaAxEpEmsRA= 21/2258% 07
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“In the face of strong headwinds,

the concerted efforts of the Company and
its subsidiaries have proven to be the best

tool to rise to challenges and uncertainties.”

[EHBRIENER AR RAWE

RAHBE N AABREEEK
THREMNRERE-]

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor
BERREE

Executive Chairman

WITER

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS AND
STAKEHOLDERS,

It gives me great pleasure to present our annual report for the
financial year 2021/2022 (the “Current Year"). The report covers the
results for HKR International Limited (“HKRI" or the “Company”), as
well as its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”).

ANNUAL RESULTS

The Group's revenue for the Current Year was HK$4,167.9 million, an
increase of 9.4% against last year's HK$3,809.5 million (restated). Profit
attributable to the Company’s shareholders was HK$1,097.3 million,
an increase of 22.3% compared with HK$897.3 million in 2020/2027;
and basic earnings per share was HK73.9 cents, versus HK60.4 cents
last year. Meanwhile, net asset value attributable to the Company’s
shareholders was HK$25,026.9 million (HK$16.8 per share), compared
with last year's HK$23,683.9 million (HK$15.9 per share).

Excluding the net unrealised gains on the fair value of the Group'’s

investment property portfolio, underlying profit was HK$960.4 million,
up 10.6% year-on-year.

HKR International Limited Annual Report 21/22

ABNURRREZFDE

AAMARREESEEEBREEFRAR ([F
EEEREIS[ARNA]) MEKEAR (58
[ @ ]) 20212020 BUFE ([ AFE]D) 2 FE

s -
FEXRE

EBMRAEEHRBRAL1679B8 BB IT
A F H93,809.58 BB T (EF) 3 hN09.4% -
AAE R ENEFA1,09738 88T
2020/2021%F € 2897.3E & 8 JT 18 h122.3% :
AR E 7B A A73.98 A - T &5 A B604EN -
EIFF - A RAIREELEEFEAR25,02698 S
BT (BR1e8EIT) + KF A A236839E &%
7T (FR%15.9870) °

oS e

WHEEREMEMREG ZRAER AT EF WS -
i m ) A96048 BB T - IRFLINI06% °



A Group Revenue £E A

million
BEBTT

ks 4,167,

2% +9.4% YoY

A Profit Attributable to Shareholders i & {5 %5

million
BEBT

ks 1,097.3

#F +22.3% YoY

The Board of Directors recommends a final dividend of HK5 cents
per share for the Current Year. This, alongside the interim dividend of
HK3 cents per share, brings the total dividend to HK8 cents per share
for the Current Year. A total dividend of HK9 cents per share was paid
to shareholders in financial year 2020/2021.

MARKET OVERVIEW

In 2021, the economy gradually rebounded as a result of high
vaccination rates and government stimulus packages around the
world. Global GDP growth turned around, expanding by 5.9% in
2021, against a contraction of 3.1% in 2020. However, the emergence
of new COVID-19 variants at the end of 2021 drove a surge in
confirmed cases across the world, and prompted renewed pandemic
containment measures. The varying pandemic situation, coupled
with rising geopolitical tensions, most notably the Russo-Ukrainian
War, increased volatility in the global economy.

Despite these circumstance, China still outperformed most other
economies in 2021, posting 8% GDP growth, as a result of its
effective pandemic containment measures and implementation of
the dual-circulation development strategy. The country’s Three Red
Lines Policy, which governs the debt-ratio of real estate developers,
successfully laid the foundations for the healthier development of the
country’s property market. Additionally, starting from the last quarter
of 2021, the gradual relaxation of real estate market measures,
including the reduction of the down-payment threshold for home
buyers, and easier access to funds generated from sales for land
developers, are expected to fuel property market growth.

In Hong Kong, GDP grew for four consecutive quarters in 2021.
By the end of 2021, solid pent-up demand and low interest rates
resulted in relatively stable residential property market performance.
Meanwhile, the commercial property market exhibited signs of
having bottomed out. This was, however, interrupted by the
pandemic’s fifth wave, which impacted local consumption sentiment,
property sales activities and transactions, and footfall at shopping
malls. Nonetheless, with the pandemic largely abating since the
second quarter of 2022, the property market will likely benefit from
the release of accumulated demand.

EETERATESTRABBRET RSB -
BERIFEBREESRIBWGAE  AFEZRE
48 %8 5 RSB AL R20202021 B LEE - R
RER 2R EAREAAFRIEN -

™ 5 8 R

2021 BEERIREEEEX A LS
B HE R B RBBUR - B EFIER - 2K
N A EE 42 {8 B120204F UL 483.1% » FR20214F 38
HEW RS AT 2 EBEREZR2021F
KR - B2 SBREZ R OIHIE - RF
SHRERBIEER - BRERBARMEKBER
g LEERZFHEERHENES <&
RIQ B EIE -

BEWMY PERAABRNRBEHIEEGELE
MERRERER  MOF2BRNEELE
BRESY  RBMERAKZEEEE -BRBE

FHERBEMAEERN = GRAKREE  REH
ETMSREERETER UL 82215 &

BR-EAFTEE FHETSEEEIRE £
EREEXSIXNNEHANR ZHEBES
RSHERNE - RS FHETSERTE -

EEBS NMAEAEMNIFEEENEZE
BREER B ZE20IFK BN BEEREF LK
BRESHEEMEMISRRBERTE - HILFE
B BEWEMSZ2BRBERMOT SR - AM - A
RBEBRERREE FETEAMBERBE W
XEETIRRS  UWEBHBAR - &E it
BEERBE20NFE _FERANBERM - FEH
MEMSBIT BN RETKOER -

EsAxEREmaREAR 212258 09



Chairman’s Statement

ERHE

A CHANGING ERA

In face of the challenges brought by the prolonged pandemic and
the changes in the macro-environment over the past few years, it
is important for the Group to adhere to our proven strategies while
maintaining flexibility, so as to further capitalise on opportunities and
better manage market risks.

It is notable that, during the Current Year, the Group further
integrated its business structure and made several disposals,
enabling it to better focus on its core businesses, which are property
development, property investment and hospitality. On the road to
creating long-term and sustainable growth, our development and
investment strategies are to build a balanced and diversified property
portfolio, and fortify our dual strategic geographical focus on Hong
Kong and the Yangtze River Delta in mainland China.

A BALANCED AND DIVERSIFIED PORTFOLIO WITH
DUAL GEOGRAPHICAL FOCUS

Over the past few decades, the Group has built a strong portfolio of
attractive developments, including land plots and properties with
high redevelopment and enhancement potential, in both Hong Kong

and the Yangtze River Delta. The firm foothold in these regions will
help the Group maintain its development pace while mitigating risks
during this period of disruption.

SORRANEA

BERE  AWEEHEREBREB AR
PR - BN ARRT RN R R
RBEEN R SNERBREARER
45 LB -

RAFE  SEE-TBEEXBRBRLE
MOERZOEL  WEEFEITNERLER
BIMEHRR  REMEEER - RAWBRE
BPERMRAIFEER - Bt RAWERR
BRERBMEEHERYOBGREZTCYEAS
YEBEHRMEFELRTERABR=AMALER
HY A o

RMABHRY YGRS IRELAS

BERTF SECETEAR=ZAMREYT
BMAMKREMRS  MEARSINWERIER -
BREUEASEEZMEEENNBBEYE -
BMEZSHWENREM A EEEFER
S FERELEDEHREORR -
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During the Current Year, the Group acquired diversified land
bank totalling 1,044,000 square feet gross floor area ("GFA”) and
maintained a robust project development pipeline with projects at
different planning and development stages.

HONG KONG

In Hong Kong, the Group is building on its well-established Discovery
Bay (“DB”) brand. With the Master Plan 7.0E and Area 6f in the
planning pipeline, Discovery Bay is set to provide more high-quality
housing to cater to demand in the coming years. The two
developments will further contribute to the green living environment
and create more spaces suitable for recreational lifestyles that meet
home buyers’ expanding expectations.

On top of residential housing, our DB 2.0 Vision also comprises
various upgrades to bring Discovery Bay to an even higher
platform. During the Current Year, we have upgraded the amenities
and recreational facilities at Discovery Bay, including the Peony
Chinese Restaurant, the retail extension at DB Plaza, the full
operation of Lantau Yacht Club, and the opening of the new
international-standard DB Ice Rink. Other infrastructure upgrades are
underway to deliver on our commitment to the community. With our
expertise in placemaking, the upgraded Discovery Bay will invigorate
the community and further consolidate its position as an iconic
landmark and residential community.

MARFEE  EERENZ T HHEENEEZER
M E1,044000F AR - WHEZEBRERTFH
HEARBEEERMNBEEAS -

&

EES SENEBNRSEREAERES
TR - 28R40 E R 557 065k MoflE [EE R E
o ZmETERBERRBREEZEER
B URmERKREFHMER K bigE—F
RELBANGEEETFRE  YEIEEZKE
ESERNZERE - LA MEERAREMAERK -

BRAEZEMEIN  BRANESE20/5T 2215
ZIEELCTIR E—FPRANSERBLEMN
BHEEZHE - -RNAFE BMABSENEER
REZHEETHL  BREESEREE B
ESRIEE « Lantau Yacht ClubR) 2T & 4& » A
TR BB IR ER 0 =8B K S - BFIIREXR
SHMAMER  UBITRMELE R -
RESETHEZSSETAMNER  BAHSE
WA SHEEREE N #E—FEEH
TEBMIZ R B EEEAMAL o




Chairman’s Statement

ERHE

The Group also strengthened its portfolio through urban
redevelopment projects. During the Current Year, the Group
acquired a residential redevelopment project on Hollywood Road
and Upper Lascar Row in Central, and completed the renovation
of its commercial project at West Gate Tower in Cheung Sha Wan.
Meanwhile, the Group secured a change of land use for the United
Daily News Centre in To Kwa Wan, from industrial to residential
use, to cater to housing demand in the area. Through deploying
differentiated redevelopment plans, the Group is set to unlock the
value of these projects.

To explore new development opportunities, the Group works with
partners that share a similar vision of pursuing sustainable growth
through development projects. Riding on the success of Discovery
Bay, for which the Group partnered with CITIC Pacific, the Group
recently launched the VILLA LUCCA project in Tai Po with Hysan
Development. VILLA LUCCA offers more high-quality home choices
to residents of the future Northern Metropolis. We will continue to
seek suitable joint-venture development opportunities.

MAINLAND CHINA

Turning to the Yangtze River Delta Region, the Group proactively
replenished its land bank to fuel its development in a prudent
manner. The Group will gradually expand its presence in the region
and leverage the strategic position of Shanghai, a city that is set
to play an increasingly vital role in international finance under the
National 14" Five-Year Plan. The Group won its bid for a premium
residential site in Shanghai’'s Songjiang District during the Current
Year. The site is in a prime location, and is expected to attract local
enterprises and technology industry talents.

SETEATREZERANBREYEMLAS -1
AREE  SERBURPREFEBNEE L
EFHEEEREE TKUREDENTEE
HEFhLOBFT IR - AR SEFAHLN
BEAEBAENTHARTESLH TRNRE
TNBEZRNEEFK - BB TIRANER
HE RERROBREZFHENERE-

SEENSHEUBESNEHETFAE E6%
REBERAFEER BRAMEREE -
MEPEREAFERMNMSELREF —E
HEMKRINGF ol SETEFEEXE
RIHEL 2 /MWEILWMIAR - AR EE
ERNEPREEZEEREEE - LK
BESKABENARERRKE -

7 B A 1t

RELSHEBRR AR THOBEERSHE
HREFTEENER SESHELELEN
B EL  ER=AMRBEEIERN T HHE
BEHERR  BPRREZLMROTIZHAL o
RAFEE  BEKRNKRE LM IENEE
EEMRM - ZRBBUEEL - ARSI
EHMAERRBRITEAT -
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To generate stable revenue streams, we also took steps to enhance
our property investment portfolio. During the Current Year, the
Group acquired office units and the right of use of parking lots
at Jinsha INCITY in Hangzhou, which subsequently generated
immediate cashflow for the Group. Plans have already been made
to enhance the tenant mix in HKRI Taikoo Hui ("HTH") and to
benefit from synergies with nearby new developments to increase
revenue. During the Current Year, the Group'’s investment properties
maintained occupancy rates of 95% (Jinsha INCITY), 94% (HTH retail
mall) and 100% (HTH offices).

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

As a responsible corporate citizen, the Group is determined to
move to a more sustainable development path. To that end, it
has already started to establish targets for various Environmental,
Social and Governance (“ESG") parameters, and drawn up related
policies and guidelines to accelerate change. We are also working
on strategic sustainability roadmaps, and have kick-started
preparations to move to reporting standards established by The
Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD").

Drawing on its deep commitment to sustainable development, the
Group will continue to go green and create a positive impact on the
environment. For instance, the Group has recently signed its first
sustainability-linked loan, reflecting its determination to link ESG
performance with operational and financial requirements.

BPIMEREBE IR A MEREHEE  BILEE
BEMRERE - RAFE  SERETUR
MM DS P ATEL R IFEAME
A NASETRRSTE - B IS
RABZEATENEEES  WIEBAmHE
RIEB®HRKEAE KRG - RAFE - £
EREMENTEAES B AE5% (£ EISH)
949% (B % K HER %) KX100% (H % K & & I
NKRIE)

REBRRRRR
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BHBRRER - At SEERKRRSEERER
e REARLEFTLEE  WHERBBEER K
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NEI([TCFD)) BIE IR EE L RS ©
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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®RE

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

For more than 40 years, the Group has navigated various economic
conditions that have proven the effectiveness of its tried-and-tested
core strategies. Despite a prolonged period of pandemic-induced
disruption, the Company and its subsidiaries have built on their
strong foundations, acted flexibly in response to market changes,
and achieved resilient growth during the Current Year. In the face
of strong headwinds, the concerted efforts of the Company and its
subsidiaries have proven to be the best tool to rise to challenges and
uncertainties.

With the pandemic waning after the first quarter of 2022, the
property and hospitality markets in locations where the Group
operates have displayed signs of having bottomed out. However,
the macro-economic environment and housing policies still pose
potential risks for the market. Nevertheless, the Group remains
prudently optimistic on the property and hospitality markets’ outlook
in view of still-strong market demand and our ability to provide
high-quality projects that cater to consumers’ needs.

To pave the way for medium- to long-term development, and
to better equip the Group to rise to future challenges and face
emerging uncertainties, we will continue to hold firm to our
development and investment strategies. We shall selectively
replenish our land bank, and will work towards strengthening the
Group's balance sheet and improving cash flow to fuel future growth
when opportunities arise.

RER AR

LZFR FEEKESBEERR SRR
RORBITZAN BERBERIAESHLS
ARBREWMERRDERBEER L BIEE
HMHEL INAFEERREBER -EY
BRIEMHIR KRR REMNBARERS A -
B 7 FE ST DR B I TR E M Y B A= AR o

BEERIBR200NFE—FTEERAREN  £E
EBEmEAYERBEMSEEHARE -
R ZEECERBEEREEBRINATEEL
AR ZE - BE M - ER T FERMAR
S MERMEAREREEEBESTKNEL
BE SEUDERBETSNIISRFEE

28 -

BB EERSERIRERE  WEATER
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i Ll T,

Victor CHA HITFEE
Executive Chairman ERK

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022 20226 A29B RE S
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWR DT

HKRI is a conglomerate whose core business is property development
and investment. The Group's strategy is to increase its asset value by
the continued development and enhancement of its flagship projects
including Discovery Bay and HTH, acquisition of land plots or projects
of varying scale for development/re-development, and enhancement
of the Group’s other investment properties’ value. The Group will
continue to look for opportunities to expand its property portfolio.

LAND BANK

As of 31 March 2022, total land bank (including that held directly
by joint ventures) attributable to the Group amounted to 9,450,000
square feet, which is earmarked for property development upon
fulfilment of the related terms and conditions. During the Current
Year, the Group acquired 1,044,000 square feet of developable gross
floor area.

BREXFARTIERENEEREIRERS -
SENRORBEEREAEEEE LEB=X
EHETL R R  BRFEERKELCEER
HE (BREBREREZXNEE)  WETR
RENMRKERETRER/ERZ UEAHE
THMREMEEE -SETTHYEHKS
BR|AEMEAS -

T e

20223 H31H - SEEE L WEERESS
9,450,000 F AR (BIEHELEARFANLH)
FRITHBIEE RIENE 2S5 ERED
HEER - SEBERNAFEINE B EE,044,000F 7
IRA] AR E A S -

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT
AND INVESTMENT

MEBERRRERES

The Group's revenue from property development and investment for
the Current Year, including the proportionate share of joint ventures
and associates of HK$1,061 million (2021: HK$949 million), was
HK$4,525 million, up from HK$4,237 million in preceding year.

The contribution from property development and investment,
including the proportionate share of joint ventures and associates of
HK$286 million (2021: HK$226 million), was HK$1,371 million (2021:
HKS$1,275 million).
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HONG KONG - PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

Hong Kong was buffeted by volatility caused by the COVID-19
pandemic over the Current Year. After the economy recovered
through 2021, the resurgence of COVID-19, including the emergence
of virus variants in the first quarter of 2022, and related government
policies, dampened the economy and interrupted property sales
activities. With confirmed cases having largely declined from April
2022, stringent social distancing measures have been gradually
relaxed, and subsequently the local property market is expected to
recover at a faster pace.

At Discovery Bay (in which the Group holds a 50% interest), the
Group's two completed residential projects, Poggibonsi and
IL PICCO, achieved satisfactory sales results during the Current
Year. With the Discovery Bay Master Plan 7.0E’s basic terms
agreed and land premium settled, the Group is working on the

ER-MERR

REAFE FAEBHRRSEBEHEATELX
BE -2021F  "AELE-—EHAERLE B
ARRAASRRNEEBRERTE  BR2020F5H
—ZEHRBERS - UBBUITERRENBCR
SREXE  WEEETEHXME - 52022F4A8
LAZR - BEEREZ BT AR T - BUN INE P
BRI A ETISEEEM
REELES -

SEMAELAMSENEEEEZRNEE
EAFRESRIHEXRE BEMRERM
[ 21 55 7.0E5% © 7% B E AR S SE B M 18
SETEFRENBER BN R 2R -

b Poggibonsi =32

N

ILPICCO B &

(50% owned)
(550%HE %5)

Total units 2 {7 # 2{: 196
Units sold & &8 {y: 188
(44 sold during the Current Year/Zx £F [ & ) 441d)

(50% owned)
(550%HE %5)

Total units E i #2 &: 21 garden houses 21/ i E ¥ &E
Units sold B2 &8 1u:5
(3 sold during the Current Year/ZN 4 £ & H31#)

Sale proceeds generated during
the Current Year: HK$707 million
AEEHEWR 7078 8ET

Sale proceeds generated during
the Current Year: HK$181 million
AEEHEWS 181B8ET

Revenue of 58 sold units recognised
during the Current Year

58EC EEMHNBACTRAFEARR

Revenue of 5 sold units recognised
during the Current Year

SEEEFENBRAEREFEAR

EREXEAREEARAIR 21/22 F#
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planning and development of a plot of land in DB North, which LB B 4 W& (ETEEEEmEIL B8
would increase Discovery Bay's residential gross floor area by more 1308 £ 75 IR - B] 8 4ME 1,400 (F £ & 7 o
than 1.3 million square feet to provide an additional 1,400 units. The 3% 3th 358 % 347 4 (b 3 35 - At 9¢E 1= EE KRB
plot is located in close proximity to areas of greenery, and adjacent B - BB D H%RE - £ —HNHEIRD
to the Discovery Bay Tunnel, providing convenient transportation — 202292 A EF o

options. The project will be developed in phases, with foundation

work for the first phase having commenced in February 2022.

Following the Town Planning Board’s acceptance of the proposed Z4h W HHBEE e EMh= Ecl@NE
change of land use, Discovery Bay Area 6f is being processed to N+ AR RS  ZEEHERT A - 12
be developed as residential properties to provide around 500 f#49500{@ B 7 - R E IR FETZERET
units. Additionally, improvement works for Discovery Bay are in 12 - B EEBH @M AR - W AKS EE
the pipeline, the resulting enhancements represent the Group’s i — B o £ EE A K = E50%4E 25 o
commitment to the community and shall turn a new page for

Discovery Bay.

LA CRESTA & ¥7 VILLA LUCCA # & 1L 35

(50% owned) (40% owned)

(1550%H %5 ) (1h40%HE %)

Total units 25 {7 # 2{: 61 Total units 25 v £ 2{: 262

Units sold © & E {i: All sold out 2 & GFA (sq. ft.) Z2HE & (F 5 R): 497,000

(2 sold during the Current Year/ZN 4 £ £ H 21)

Sale proceeds generated during Expected launch: Third quarter 2022

the Current Year: HK$82 million FEHEERRB 20288 =F

AEEHEWRE 82BEAER

Revenue of 3 sold units was recognised Status: Occupation permit was obtained in May 2022
during the Current Year B/R - R2022F5 A RS A K

MEEEEMNNBAERAFEAR
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As of 31 March 2022, all remaining units at La Cresta (a 50:50
partnership with Nan Fung Development Limited), a project located
in the high-end Kau To residential district, had sold out. Meanwhile,
VILLA LUCCA, the low-density luxury residential project located on
Lo Fai Road, Tai Po (a 40:60 joint-venture with Hysan Development
Company Limited), is set to provide 262 units of high-quality houses
and apartments. It boasts magnificent views of Tolo Harbour on
one side and greenery on the other, and because of its location, the
project is expected to benefit from the Northern Metropolis plan. The
sales is expected to be launched in the third quarter of 2022.

A residential redevelopment project located on Hollywood Road and
Upper Lascar Row in Central was acquired in April 2021. The existing
buildings were demolished in March 2022, and foundation work
started in April.

HONG KONG - PROPERTY INVESTMENT

The property investment projects in Discovery Bay, in which the
Group holds a 50% interest, recorded stable performance over the
Current Year. Despite the lingering impact of COVID-19, more new
tenants moved into the new DB Plaza extension, and DB Plaza and
DB North achieved committed occupancy rates of 89% and 93%
respectively, as of 31 March 2022.

The Group retained its anchor tenants at the CDW Building in Tsuen
Wan, and achieved an occupancy rate of 92%, as of 31 March 2022.
Meanwhile, the 8%, shopping mall saw sales and footfall decline
because of the fifth COVID-19 wave's outbreak in the first quarter of
2022 and the implementation of stricter social distancing measures.

The United Daily News Centre in To Kwa Wan, which the Group
acquired in January 2021, achieved 100% occupancy, as of 31 March
2022.In November 2021, a planning permit was secured for changing
the land-use from industrial to residential. Related lease modifications
are in the pipeline.

West Gate Tower, a 24-storey office building in Cheung Sha Wan that
was revitalised in 2021, was well received by the market despite the
challenging backdrop. It achieved a committed occupancy rate of
57%, as of 31 March 2022. Meanwhile, the Wellgan Villa residential
building in Kowloon Tong recorded an occupancy rate of 77% as of
31 March 2022.

HE2002F3A31H URPHENARLUSEE
MEITNFSEBENEEHEY - T AEERE
MEERERAAMNEEEE &7 5E50%
Emo-RR URAHEBERNEZRERTHA
BEMEILE (AEEREFEEEGR AR LR
R BB B A40% K 60%) 15 1 4 2621E
BERREFERABEMN -ZEE —HE2EH
EANHESE I—EAZERAR L
BABEY BEHEXERNIEXTSEEE -
THEBHR0DFEFE=ZFHE -

EER20DF4RB AR RGEEERER
FREEEREE - REZECDR202F381F
HETEDR4AER -

ERE-UXRRE

SETRMEENYEREBREREAFERRE
BE - BENMLUTHKRASEBENEERFE W
SESERIIPCHREELHEAER - #HZE
2022F3H31H - WRES kRS ESH &AM
K5 RIE89% N 93% ° EEE LR = EMIRE WM
FAS0%ER ©

EEXRNRBEEFLAENETEZRFL  HE
20229F3A31H - % KE X 592% - H i [F)
B AR FE—FTEBEFARERE K&
EEBREAOEREREE  SKELEYWES
MIHEBEMNEREH BN TR -

EEM021FIARELNEBRARAE  EF
220223831 H A R R E100% © 2021411
A SEEMEREIFITE B AEN LTI
AEmTENATTE  BIEETHBROEL] -

NRARDE—EESUENSTERBEHEH
DER2021F8F - BEINEIRIBFT MBS -
EmSHZAERERL - 8 F20229F3H31
B ERERES7% - Bt R R - & 2202293
A31H WigERNEFEAEGH R ERES A
R77% o
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MAINLAND CHINA - PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

Tightened financial and development policies in the first half of the
Current Year calmed the market and prompted developers to focus
on project quality. Since late 2021, policies have been gradually
relaxed for developers and home buyers, including the easing of
credit conditions for developers, lower requirements for first-time
home buyers and lower mortgage rates. These measures supported
the steady rebound of sales activities and transaction volumes,
especially in cities such as Shanghai, Hangzhou and Jiaxing, where
purchasing power and demand are firm.

In Jiaxing, Creekside One debuted in July 2021, with all 98 units sold
out on the launch day. The handover and ownership transfer for
the sold units were completed in late October 2021. Mansion One
was launched in October 2021. Ninety-nine percent of the project’s
188 units have been sold as of 31 March 2022, with the handover
and transfer of ownership for the sold units taking place in January
2022. Meanwhile, pre-launch promotion activities for Starlight One,
a deluxe residential project of 392 high-rise apartments and villas,
began in February 2022.

Mansion One, Jiaxing % H X%

hE A -YRER

REFFE ARPRBFRES B MERK
R RBANMETSERE TMEEREE
EZERFTERELE - B201F KK - ALK
FMEZRTREHEERAMEXENREK - B
EHRERBOERGRE REHEREEA
ITHERMEEZEBNER ZEREXRHHE
ABRRSERFOT EEE N RFRIBR
BB MM REEERT  FIEL AR -

SEURZETAR AER2021F7ARE - I
PIEEEH2E0HE9%EEMN - EHEMER
2FI0AETER RN B RERE - KizE Al
REFI0AHE  HE202F3831H BHE
188 A BALH H99% » MEHENHNMAEDS R
002F1TARM BB RZERE - BF - 12 #3921
SEABEMEANENSREFEEE Z2RE
ER0NF2AFABEEHE -

Creekside One, Jiaxing = BT B A &

-
—
-—
—
—
—
-
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Total units 25 {7 #2 {: 188 mid-rise apartments
188 EABREN
Units sold © & & {7: 99%

Total units 25 {7 #4 2{: 98 mid-rise apartments and villas

o8l B ABEM R BIE

Units sold © & & {i: All sold out Z H & H

GFA (sq. ft.) #EEEE (F 5 R): 342,000

GFA (sq. ft.) 22 HE & (¥ 5 R): 210,000

Handover X {4 B f&: January 2022
2022517
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In Hangzhou, development of the premium low-density 295-unit In (L RAMMNTHBBE B TETEEIR B
One project is underway with completion anticipated in 2023 and 295 EEE K% E(EEE A - FBH D BIF 2023
pre-sales activities scheduled in the third quarter of 2022. FRONFE=-FEERRETREHE -

In Shanghai, the Group acquired a residential plot in Songjiang  ££ B F2021F 11 AW N /BTN IE BT
District in November 2021. The site will be developed into EHiif - ZBREEEAEKZREETE - BH—
low-density residences providing a range of apartments and villas.  Z3|AE KR HIE - 2B HIBL B E M - @i
The project is expected to attract the district’s technology industry  Z{EE R A M ARK E/BMETELR - GEW 3=
enterprises and talents because of its prime location and excellent AR EMERAA « EBEIR FHETRE - &5t
connections to multiple highways and the future Shanghai Metro #2023 E ¥ FE 45T o

Line extension. Planning is in progress and construction is expected

to commence in early 2023.

The Group's key residential projects under development in mainland £ BUAFRBERNNEBEHRERFEEBUNT ¢
China are:

Projects GFA (sq. ft.) Status as of 31 March 2022
HHE HMEREER(FER) #BZE202263A3180M0R
Jiaxing, Zhejiang
WIERED
Starlight One 768,000 392 high-rise apartments and villas.
ERE Construction work in progress.

Pre-launch promotion: February 2022

Expected completion: 2023
3NEEEABEMNAIE - BETRETH -
&R HER I ¢ 202242 A

TR BAE BB - 2023%F

Hangzhou, Zhejiang
WL BN T
In One 430,000 245 low-rise apartments and 50 villas.
BEE Foundation work in progress.
Expected pre-sales activities: Third quarter 2022
Expected completion: 2023
245K B A B B AL RSOIE R EE o IFETTIIE TR »
TEHEEHERRM 202685 =F%
TEEE AT A - 20234
Shanghai
tigm
Land plot SJS30003-02-04 in 350,000 252 apartments and 57 villas with a plot ratio of 1:1.
Songjiang District Planning in progress.
#A7T ESJS30003-02-045F it Expected works commencement: Early 2023

252A R B RRS7IERIEE - AR R A1 o
HEB EEHREAF -
TEHAE) T HHY : 2023F 4]

The Group will continue to explore investment opportunities in &£ E G EF PN EIBIEEME - BEBIR
mainland China to expand its business footprint in other cities, EBIERZEHMIET SR UE=AA5 %R
especially in the Yangtze River Delta area. &

EHAXEAREMERAT 21/22F5% 23
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MAINLAND CHINA - PROPERTY INVESTMENT

In Shanghai, HTH (in which the Group has a 50% interest) recorded
encouraging performance. As of 31 March 2022, the two office
towers, HKRI Centres One and Two, achieved a combined occupancy
rate of 100%, and the retail mall's occupancy rate reached 94%.
Despite the volatile pandemic situation, effective pandemic
containment measures and government stimulus supported strong
consumption. During the Current Year, both HTH retail mall turnover
and footfall achieved year-on-year growth. The Group continues to
improve the overall tenant quality and mix in order to achieve better
returns. Since the end of the first quarter of 2022, the pandemic
situation in Shanghai has deteriorated, resulting in a city-wide
lockdown. COVID-19 response plans were formulated and task forces
were formed to prepare for different scenarios and the resumption of
business.

In September 2021, the Group completed the acquisition of 156
office units and the right of use of 62 parking lots at the Jinsha
INCITY commercial property in Hangzhou, which has direct access to
the metro line. The acquisition further expanded the Group’s asset
portfolio and broadened its recurring income base. The property
achieved an occupancy rate of over 92% as of 31 March 2022.

The Group will continue to explore high-quality properties in
mainland China to generate stable income growth.

HKRI Taikoo Hui
WEKXLE

REAM-YRRE

R ESTHEERHENRIES ATHE - &
F200F3A3IB8 ZBEEHMERLE — F
BEERL—ER CERYGHEL  BSHHE
K A% - BERBERE  BERNOHEE
HERBTRIREEEEEEERRN c RAFE -
EENEEBRARBRTHESGEE - £B
BENESERAPERRES  BRIEBEHE
B3R AT » B00FF—FFRUK  £E
BEIEREERIE SR ETHE - EAEHTE
FEEEHE] WA TR/ AEHTRMNIE
T BIREEEMITEE SEREEELLE
5007 &5 °

R2021F9 8 » EEZRKBIMM TSP ENER
#1568 % A B Me2EFEAFE A - %@
EYREBEMMNTOMES  SBEHM- R2HE
Wi —THEAEBENEEMAS  HALHK
W AERE - B Z2022F3831H - ZWENEHE
R HBIEI2% ©

SESEENTRNMYEREYE - BEEM
YA e
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THAILAND - PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

In 2021, subsequent to a COVID-19 lockdown, the Thai government
gradually reopened the country’s borders and relaxed foreign visitor
entry requirements, which included the launch of the Test and
Go scheme in November 2021. Although the scheme was halted
because of the emergence of the Omicron variants in the first
quarter of 2022, it was restarted in February 2022 and restrictions
were further relaxed in May 2022, attracting an increasing number of
visitor arrivals. While Thailand’s property market is still subject to the
pandemic’s trajectory, the Group will monitor the situation to assess
appropriate development and investment opportunities.

JAPAN - PROPERTY INVESTMENT AND
DEVELOPMENT

The Group's five investment properties in Tokyo recorded occupancy
rates ranging from 74% to 100% during the Current Year, prior to
their disposal.

In October 2021, the Group disposed of three investment properties
— Horizon Place Akasaka, Graphio Nishi-Shinjuku and Haluwa Shiba
Koen - at a consideration of JPY19,311.8 million (approximately
HK$1,351.8 million). In February 2022, the Group disposed of its
two other investment properties, Souei Park Harajuku and Veneo
Minami Azabu, at a consideration of JPY3,490.8 million (approximately
HK$237.4 million). The disposals, which were completed on 15
November 2021 and 15 April 2022 respectively, provided a good
opportunity for the Group to realise its investment in the properties
with an attractive return, increase its working capital and enhance its
cashflow.

TRANSPORTATION SERVICES AND
PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

TRANSPORTATION SERVICES

The sea and land transport and tunnel services in Discovery Bay are
operated by the Group’s various subsidiaries, in which the Group
holds a 50% interest. The operations of all transportation services
at Discovery Bay largely recovered to normal levels in the latter
part of 2021, when the pandemic had stabilised. Nonetheless,
the emergence of the pandemic’s fifth wave in the first quarter
of 2022, leading to a substantial number of COVID-19 cases and a
high number of close contacts being required to isolate, resulted
in immense manpower pressures and adversely impacted ferry and
bus ridership, as well as tunnel throughput. Subsequently, temporary
service adjustments were implemented, and additional precautionary
measures were taken to protect customers and staff.

RE-MERR

ZFREFERFTUET KRS R BEIHE - BITR
2021411 A # HTest and GoZE T8l B L EH
FREERMEIBEIRENARER - BEZ
T8I FH2022F % —ZF E 1 RMOmicron& 1@/ &
MENE BER202F28ER  WHs5A #
—THERS - R ELZHERIG - HARE
MYMEMSNIIRENTE  SESRYE
RIGH - UFHEAENBERRIEEKS -

AAR-MRRERER

RAFE ESEERBEURARRNREDERD
ERTAHAEEN T74%Z100% ©

2021108 - £ E L1931 8EE AE (B
1351 8B @B L) MIRELE=IBREME—
Horizon Place Akasaka * Graphio Nishi-Shinjuku
FHaluwa Shiba Koen e 7A2022%28 » &£ & N
34908E B HE (K92374B BB L) HE S INW
T & W3 — Souei Park Harajuku K2 Veneo Minami
Azabu - B E FIHE 5 5I702021F11 H158
K202 4158 ek - BEEERANZEY
¥HIRE  WEFSIUHER  ENEENEE
B URBFERE °

RERGRURER
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Other operational challenges that occurred over the Current Year
included fuel price inflation, rising maintenance costs and skilled
operations staff shortages. The resulting increased financial burden
was partly alleviated by the government’s sixth Anti-epidemic Fund
and the ongoing Special Helping Measures for ferry operations.

Environmental sustainability remains a key pillar of the business’
operations. Since January 2022, four new single-deck buses that
comply with the highest Euro VI emissions standards have been
added to the operating fleet to replace obsolete vehicles. Other
measures in the pipeline include the ordering of more Euro VI-
compliant double-deck buses to further improve carrying capacity
during peak hours, and the upgrading of ferry vessel engines.

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

Despite the pandemic’s resurgence in the first quarter of 2022,
the Group’s property management services in Discovery Bay and
elsewhere in Hong Kong performed satisfactorily during the Current
Year. To safeguard residents’ safety, a number of precautionary
measures were implemented at high-risk venues and facilities.

The property management team at Discovery Bay is committed to
building a greener environment. Since December 2021, Discovery Bay
has participated in the Environmental Protection Department’s Pilot
Scheme on Food Waste Collection. Source-separated food waste is
collected and transformed into energy, and compost as a by-product,
at O-Park1. In addition, a multi-dimensional engagement network has
been established for connecting families in Discovery Bay, particularly
those with kids, by providing residents with greenhouse farmlands
for planting.

The team achieved a 90% satisfaction rate in the customer survey,
and received a number of sustainability accolades during the Current
Year, recognising the Group'’s effort in this area.
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HOTEL OPERATIONS AND LEISURE
BUSINESSES

The Group’s hotel operations and leisure businesses in Hong
Kong are represented by Auberge Hospitality, a leisure brand that
encompasses a collection of an hotel, clubs and leisure venues,
comprising Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong, Discovery Bay Golf
Club, Lantau Yacht Club (“LYC"), Discovery Bay Recreation Club, Club
Siena, DB Ice Rink ("DBIR") and Peony Chinese Restaurant. Adhering to
its brand proposition of “Redefining Your Lifestyle at Discovery Bay”’,
Auberge Hospitality creates marketing synergies for the promotion of
its premium hospitality services and comprehensive leisure facilities.

HOTEL OPERATIONS
HONG KONG

The prolonged travel restrictions across the globe and stringent
local social distancing measures adversely affected international
and domestic travel demand, and the Group’s hospitality businesses
have been hard hit. Nevertheless, due to the continued popularity
of staycations and the government’s Consumption Voucher Scheme,
Auberge Discovery Bay Hong Kong, in which the Group holds a 50%
interest, recorded an average occupancy rate that outperformed the
market during the Current Year. In 2022, on a high vaccination rate in
Hong Kong and the rollout of new COVID-19 therapeutics, it is likely
that the travel industry, globally and locally, will recover gradually.
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MAINLAND CHINA

The successful containment of the pandemic in mainland China
supported strong demand from local businesses and domestic
travellers, though this was partially offset by the pandemic’s
resurgence in the first quarter of 2022. Average occupancy rates at
The Sukhothai Shanghai and The Middle House (the Group holds a
50% interest in both) continued to recover during the Current Year.

THAILAND

Thailand’s economy and tourism industry have over the past two
years been hard hit by the COVID-19 pandemic. Through flexibly
adapting to the pandemic situation, such as by rolling out the
Test and Go quarantine packages, as well as delivering exceptional
services, operating loss of The Sukhothai Bangkok had been reduced
during the Current Year. With travel restrictions gradually being
relaxed in Thailand, increasing visitor arrivals are expected to benefit
the hospitality industry.

The Group's hotel operations across Hong Kong, mainland China and
Thailand strove to provide exceptional service during the pandemic
and these efforts have been widely recognised by the market and
consumers. Please refer to the Awards and Recognition section of
this report for further details.
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LEISURE BUSINESSES

The Current Year has seen new additions to the leisure offerings at
Discovery Bay. DBIR, Hong Kong's newest ice rink with state-of-the-art
facilities, opened in May 2021. Excluding periods of closure due to
pandemic restrictions, DBIR achieved a high usage rate on days it
opened. In December 2021, Peony Chinese restaurant was opened to
further expand the fine-dining offerings at Discovery Bay. Headed by
a chef from a Michelin-starred restaurant, Peony has already earned
good feedback from patrons within a short period of time.

Despite facing periodic closures because of social distancing
restrictions during the Current Year, the Group's leisure businesses
rose to the challenge and took the opportunity to enhance their
facilities and services. For example, Discovery Bay Golf Club finished
upgrading all its courses in 2021 to provide an enhanced customer
experience. As for the LYC, its world-class facilities have been widely
acknowledged since an upgrade was completed in the last financial
year. The LYC marina was awarded Five Gold Anchors by the leading
Marina Industries Association.

With the COVID-19 situation stabilising towards the end of the
Current Year and the gradual relaxation of related restrictions,
demand for the Group's leisure businesses is expected to increase.
The Group holds a 50% interest in all of Discovery Bay's leisure
businesses.
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HEALTHCARE

The Group’s wholly owned subsidiary GenRx Holdings Limited
("GenRx") previously operated a wide range of healthcare services
in Hong Kong and Macau. On 16 February 2022, GenRx entered
into an agreement with EC Healthcare to dispose of all its medical
businesses, comprising Health & Care Dental, Qualigenics Medical,
AmMed Medical Diagnostic Center, and Humphrey & Partners
Medical Services. The disposal enables the Group to further integrate
its business structure and better focus on its core businesses. The sale
was completed on 31 March 2022.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

During the Current Year, the Group elevated its commitment to ESG
issues to the next level while operating with great resilience under
the challenges created by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Aiming to create long-term value and the sustainable development
of the Group's businesses across Hong Kong, mainland China
and Thailand, HKRI has aligned its targets to the United Nations'
Sustainable Development Goals ("UNSDGs") and regional
sustainability goals, such as Hong Kong’s Climate Action Plan 2050,
China’s commitment to reach carbon neutrality before 2060, and the
Thai government’s pledge to reach carbon neutrality by 2050. In the
face of increasingly severe climate threats, we are exploring ways to

develop a climate change reporting and management framework
that aligns with the recommendations by TCFD. Full disclosure of our
sustainability vision, initiatives and performance is contained in the
Group's ESG Report. Interested stakeholders may refer to our online
ESG Report for more details.
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In recognition of the Group's continuous improvements in terms of
ESG reporting and its steadfast commitment to building a sustainable
community, the Group received the “Best ESG Report Grand Award
(Small-cap)” from Alaya Consulting, and was awarded the “15 Years
Plus Caring Company” logo by The Hong Kong Council of Social
Service.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The key to sustainability is operating responsibly and contributing
positively to the environment and the communities we serve. In
addition to the Sustainability Policy, which was established in 2018,
the Environmental Policy and Climate Change Policy were also adopted
at the group level in 2022 and extended to all the Group’s business
units. Environmental targets are also in place to maximise energy and
water efficiency and reduce emissions and waste.

Turning to our property development business, we strictly follow
the voluntary criteria of Building Environmental Assessment Method
("BEAM") Plus to maximise the Group’s sustainable impact. The
Group'’s residential projects in mainland China have adopted the
“Sponge City” concept to embed climate resilience. As for the

hospitality segment, the Group's sustainability-related programmes
continue to implement internal and front-of-house practices to
minimise environmental impact. As part of the efforts to reduce
energy consumption, HKRI's commercial, residential and hospitality
entities across Hong Kong, mainland China and Thailand participated
in the WWF's global Earth Hour 2022 initiative.

ISCOVERT
q;ﬁgsmtf;m

ERAEEEEARLE
Dincovery Bay Senvicen

M e L.

W )

DHacowary Bay |Residentiall

BRERR HEREMRESOFEICERY
AREERMBNBEAG  SEELEE
MREIZRERE e hEBams AR
mE)] - LEREL GRS EF15FPlus
(A RRAEIFER -

RERRERE

AREERNEREAECLEE LARKR
RBEMAREOLRELBEEER - KR
2018F FlECAI B ERBR) 5N RATR
2002F RIS T EEEENCRERER) L(RIR
LK)  MEMAEBEMN - HAITRHIE
FEERREZ URERSEREAKSEE
WABE R E -

EMEZFRES A RO ERBEZERT
BEAM PlusHY2ERI] » KIRE AIIF ERRIR - £
FREAMMEEEEFR  EHETIRSE®R
BZRA - ok e RIRE(LMRE ) - £BIA
JEMAHEREMABEE - BB AN LA
TYEIREES BB HIRENTE - A&
HENRADRERER  SEIHMAERESS
B 2HES [ IR —/NE2022] - EETAEH -
PFEANEERNEE  FERBEEME Y
B2H o

EEAEXEAREEARAIR 21/22 F§



32

Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENwmR DM

COMMUNITY SUPPORT

Echoing the Group-level “HKRI All-In" ESG theme, HKRI continues
to support communities and people in need through volunteer
programmes, donations and sponsorship, focusing on the elderly,
low-income families and the underprivileged. The Group has boosted
its support for vulnerable communities that have faced numerous
difficulties during the pandemic.

We aim to nurture young talents, connect the community and
promote positivity through a number of programmes. The Group
is the founding sponsor of the Hong Kong Arts Festival’'s Digital
Arts Education Platform, and has launched the Discovery Bay Multi-
Recreation Centre Architectural Design Competition to promote
creativity and cultivate young talents.

During the Current Year, the Group's donations and sponsorships
to various charities, schools and welfare organisations totalled
HK$3.8 million, an year-on-year increase of 13%.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As of 31 March 2022, the Group employed a total of 1,533 staff.
The Group values staff training and development and believes
these are crucial to enhance human capital. The Group’s training
and development programmes are tailored to address the needs
of its various operations. A series of new learning programmes
were launched during the Current Year, including the High Power
Leadership Programme, LEGO® SERIOUS PLAY® Creative Problem-
Solving Training, and Dare to Lead in the Next Normal initiative.

The health and well-being of our employees are among our top
priorities. Our Occupational Safety and Health (“OSH") Policy is aligned
with Hong Kong's OSH Ordinance and we align our health and safety
standards to our commitment to the UNSDG 3. During the Current
Year, 7,590 hours of OSH training were provided to employees
across our businesses, an year-on-year increase of 72%. To protect
our employees and to mitigate potential health risks associated with
COVID-19 and new virus variants, appropriate precautionary measures
and contingency mechanisms are in place and are regularly updated
in line with the latest developments. Implemented measures include
frequent pandemic updates for colleagues, vaccination leave, special
work arrangements such as remote office and flexible working
practices, and rapid antigen test (RAT) kits provided to employees.
Online communication platforms were utilised to minimise the virus’
spread.
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The Group fosters a healthier, happier and more productive working
environment through its diverse staff welfare programmes. “The
PRI’DE Wellness Programme” features sporty, entertaining and fun
events that further complement employee benefits to support the
physical and mental health of all the Group’s staff. Activities are
regularly arranged, including family fun days, yoga sessions and
vegetarian diet webinars, which help promote a healthy lifestyle and
work-life balance among employees. During the Current Year, the
Group was named “Mental Health Friendly Supreme Organisation”
by the Department of Health and the Advisory Committee on Mental
Health.

CUSTOMERS

We continue to uphold a safe environment and reliable services for
our customers. To maintain quality consistency in operation, we have
established comprehensive internal policies and mechanisms to
carefully manage our value chain.

A series of precautionary measures have been put in place to
protect our customers during the pandemic. These include regular
disinfection, coating high-risk locations with Nano TiO.,/Ag, and
installing photo-hydro-ionisation air purifiers. To strengthen the
Group's precautions, we have also utilised technology including
disinfection robots.

Understanding customer needs and expectations are key to
providing high-quality products and services. Across the Group's
various business units, regular meetings are arranged with tenants,
hotel residents and passengers to collect feedback for future
improvements. We also conduct annual customer research and
analysis to further update the Group on its customers’ needs.
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SUPPLIERS

The Group maintains a high level of sustainability in its supply chain,
and addresses critical concerns in terms of quality, the environment,
and health. To secure the quality of our supply chain, our suppliers
are chosen through a careful selection process outlined in the
Group's Tender and Procurement Policies. Meanwhile, the Group has
established a new Supplier Code of Conduct to clearly communicate
with suppliers our requirements in regards to business dealings,
labour and human rights, and environmental performance.

We have incorporated sustainability performance in our supplier
assessment criteria and offer incentives to encourage suppliers to
improve their sustainability performance. The Group prefers to use
reliable and non-hazardous products and sustainable products.

HEm

SERNRBUEENSKFABERRRR -
WIER M ERE E - RIE MR B 7 [ H B 52
B BREAEERNE R RARBMEER
RBRF)IANEFEETEHER - R -
SEHIET T HAKEER TR - AR E
HASBEAERBER - STAE RRRAF
THEER -

BAHAIRFEERRAMAREHIHIRE
WiRHF RSB R E I EERRI -
BPTERLERERAERESNERMEA
AEHENNER -

EEAEEBEEMERAT 21/225% 35



36

Board of Directors
25T

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor
BN L

Executive Chairman

HITERE

Mr CHA Mou Zing Victor BA MBA, aged 72, was appointed as Executive
Director and Chairman of the Company in 1989 and November 2020
respectively. He was the Managing Director and the Deputy Chairman
of the Company until his appointment as Chairman. Mr CHA is also a
member of the Corporate Governance Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee and a director of
some subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 40 years' extensive
experience in real estate development and textile manufacturing.
Mr CHA is a non-executive director (“NED") of Mingly Corporation
("Mingly”, a subsidiary of CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust"))
and a director of LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited (“LBJ Regents”). Mingly,
CCM Trust and LBJ Regents are substantial shareholders of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Future
Ordinance (“SFO") and together whose interests in the Company
represent the substantial interests of the Cha Family in the Company.
Mr CHA ceased as an alternate independent non-executive director
("INED") of New World Development Company Limited ("NWD") with
effect from 6 November 2020 (PST) and NWD is listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). He is the
chairman of each of the Hong Kong-Japan Business Co-operation
Committee of Hong Kong Trade Development Council and Hong
Kong Arts Festival Society Limited. Mr CHA is also a governor of the
China-United States Exchange Foundation, a member of the board
of trustees of The Better Hong Kong Foundation and trustee of Sang
Ma Trust Fund (“Sang Ma"). He is a sibling to Ms Madeline WONG and
Mr Johnson CHA.
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Ms WONG CHA May Lung Madeline
TEXERTL

Non-executive Deputy Chairman

FHTRIER

Ms Wong CHA May Lung Madeline, aged 82, was appointed as
Non-executive Deputy Chairman of the Company in November 2020.
She joined the Board in 1989 and was re-designated as Non-executive
Director of the Company in December 2004. Ms WONG is also the
chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee, a member of the
Nomination Committee and a director of some subsidiaries of the
Company. She is the executive chairman of Mingly and also a director
of a number of private companies in Hong Kong and overseas,
including CCM Trust and LBJ Regents. Ms WONG is the chairman
and a trustee of Sang Ma. She is a sibling to Mr Victor CHA and
Mr Johnson CHA.

Mr TANG Moon Wah
WmELE

Managing Director
EERKE

Mr TANG Moon Wah BA (Arch Studies), BArch, aged 68, was appointed
as the Managing Director of the Company in November 2020. He
was appointed as Executive Director of the Company in December
2004 and is also a director of some subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr TANG has been serving in the Group since 1985 and has over 40
years' extensive experience in property development. He is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Architects and has been an
Authorised Person and Registered Architect since 1982 and 1991
respectively.
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Mr CHEUNG Ho Koon
ROEEEE
Executive Director

HITES

Mr CHEUNG Ho Koon BA (Arch Studies), BArch, aged 59, was appointed as
Executive Director of the Company in February 2021. He joined the
Group in 1996 and currently serves as Head of Projects and Country
Head of Thailand, leading the Group's projects team and overseeing
the daily operation and property development in Thailand.
Mr CHEUNG is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Before joining the Group, he worked in various architectural and
property developers and has over 30 years’ extensive experience
in project management on property development. Mr CHEUNG
graduated from the University of Hong Kong in 1989 with an honors
degree both in Bachelor of Architectural Studies and Bachelor of
Architecture. He is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Architects
and has been an Authorised Person since 1991.

Ms NGAN Man Ying
BANZRLL

Executive Director

HITES

Ms NGAN Man Ying BA (Business), FCCA, CPA, aged 56, was appointed
as Executive Director of the Company in February 2021. She
joined the Group in 2018 and currently serves as Head of Group
Finance in leading the Group finance and treasury functions as
well as overseeing the Group's residential property management,
transportation services, information technology, corporate
communication and legal functions. Ms NGAN is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Before joining the Group,
she had held several senior positions in New World group and an
international accounting firm. Ms NGAN has over 34 years’ extensive
experience in finance function and in property development sector.
She holds a Bachelor Degree in Business from the University of
Southern Queensland and is a Certified Public Accountant of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and a
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
of the United Kingdom ("ACCA").
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The Honourable Ronald Joseph
ARCULLI

BEEELLE

Non-executive Director
FHITES

The Honourable Ronald Joseph ARCULLI GBM, CVO, GBS, OBE, JP,
aged 83, joined the Board in 1989 and was re-designated as
Non-executive Director of the Company in June 2005. He is a
senior partner of King & Wood Mallesons. Mr ARCULLI is a NED
of Sino Hotels (Holdings) Limited, Sino Land Company Limited,
Tsim Sha Tsui Properties Limited, HK Electric Investments Manager
Limited (as trustee-manager of HK Electric Investments) and HK
Electric Investments Limited. He ceased as an INED of Hang Lung
Properties Limited with effect from 30 April 2021. Save for HK
Electric Investments Manager Limited, all the aforesaid companies
are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr ARCULLI holds directorships
in other public and private companies in Hong Kong and overseas.
He is now the chairman of FWD Group, an honorary fellow of Hong
Kong Securities and Investment Institute and vice patron and former
directors committee member of The Community Chest of Hong
Kong. Mr ARCULLI is also a board member and the vice-chairman
of the board of The West Kowloon Cultural District Authority and
chairs its executive committee and development committee as well
as being a member of its investment committee and remuneration
committee.
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Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson
ERMELELE

Non-executive Director

FHITES

Mr CHA Mou Daid Johnson 85, MBA, aged 70, joined the Board in 1989
and was re-designated as Non-executive Director of the Company
in December 2004. He is also a director of some subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr CHA has over 40 years’ extensive experience in venture
capital and investment management and currently the chairman
of C.M. Capital Advisors (HK) Limited, non-executive chairman of
Hanison Construction Holdings Limited (“Hanison”) and a NED of
Mingly and Million Hope Industries Holdings Limited (“Million Hope”).
He ceased as a NED of China International Capital Corporation
Limited (“CICCL") with effect from 28 February 2020. Hanison, Million
Hope and CICCL are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr CHA is also
an INED of Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited and a director of a
number of other companies in Hong Kong and overseas including
LBJ Regents. He is a member in non-profit organisations including
Qiu Shi Science & Technologies Foundation and Moral Education
Concern Group. Mr CHA is a sibling to Ms Madeline WONG and
Mr Victor CHA.

Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus
RAKFREEE

Independent Non-executive Director

BUFHITES

Mr CHEUNG Wing Lam Linus B85S JP, aged 74, joined the Board in
January 2006 and was re-designated as Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company in March 2012. He is also the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee
of the Company. Mr CHEUNG is an INED of China Unicom (Hong
Kong) Limited which is listed on the Stock Exchange. He ceased
as the board of directors of Sotheby's with effect from 3 October
2019 due to its privatization and delisted from the New York Stock
Exchange on the same day. Mr CHEUNG was also the chief executive
of Hong Kong Telecommunications Limited from 1994 to 2000,
deputy chairman of PCCW Limited from August 2000 to February
2004 and INED of Taikang Life Insurance Co. Ltd. from 2005 to 2011.
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Mr FAN Hung Ling Henry

Independent Non-executive Director

BYFANTES

Mr FAN Hung Ling Henry BA, LLB, SBS, JP, aged 74, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in November
2017. He is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee, a
member of the Remuneration Committee and the Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company. Mr FAN has over 30 years’
experience in business management. He is currently an INED of
Sun Hung Kai Properties Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange and the managing director of Hong Kong Glory Limited,
a family investment company. Mr FAN also served as a director and
then managing director of CITIC Pacific Limited (now known as CITIC
Limited) from 1990 and 1992 respectively to 2009 and the deputy
chairman of Cathay Pacific Airways Limited from 1997 to 20009.
He has a long record of public services in the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region ("HKSAR") and is currently the chairman of the
Hospital Authority and West Kowloon Cultural District Foundation
Limited, a member of the Chief Executive’s Council of Advisers on
Innovation and Strategic Development, a member of the board of
the Financial Services Development Council and the West Kowloon
Cultural District Authority. Mr FAN was also a non-official member
of the Executive Council of Hong Kong, chairman of the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authority, NED of Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC") and INED of Hong Kong Exchanges
and Clearing Limited ("HKEC"). He is an Attorney-at-Law in the State
of California, U.S.A. and Barrister-at-Law in Hong Kong and England
and Wales.
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Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta
AREZL

Independent Non-executive Director
BYFHITES

Ms HO Pak Ching Loretta FCHH (retired), aged 75, was re-designated as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company with effect
from April 2010. Prior to her re-designation, she was appointed
as Executive Director in 1994 and redesignated as Non-executive
Director in April 2008 upon her retirement from all executive roles
in the Group. Ms HO is also a member of both the Audit Committee
and the Nomination Committee of the Company. She is a retired
member of the Chartered Institute of Housing Asian Pacific Branch
and has over 45 years’ extensive experience in property development,
property investment and management.

Ms Barbara SHIU
MERE L

Independent Non-executive Director

BUFYITES

Ms Barbara SHIU BSc, MBA, aged 66, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in April 2021. She is also a
member of the Audit Committee of the Company. Ms SHIU has over
35 years' experience in financial services and had held several senior
positions in various financial institutions including the Bank of China
group. She was the general manager of Bank of China (Hong Kong)
Limited in charge of the operational risk and compliance department
when she retired in 2014. Ms SHIU is currently a NED of Livi Bank
Limited and Livi Holdings Limited and chairs the risk committees
of both companies. She also has a long record of public services
in the HKSAR and is active in non-profit making organisations.
Ms SHIU was a member of risk management committee of HKEC, the
chairman of Hong Kong Securities Institute, a director of Hong Kong
Deposit Protection Board and Financial Dispute Resolution Centre, a
member of the International Advisory committee of China Securities
Regulatory Commission as well as a member of the Product Advisory
Committee and Investor Education Advisory Committee of SFC. She
obtained a Bachelor honors degree in Science and a Master degree
in Business Administration, both from University of Toronto.
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Mr TANG Kwai Chang
HWEZRE
Independent Non-executive Director

BUFHITES

Mr TANG Kwai Chang FCCA, FCPA, aged 69, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company in September
2014. He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member
of the Nomination Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. Mr TANG was a partner of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) with extensive experience in auditing
and audit risk management, the vice chairman of Deloitte China
and board member of Deloitte Global when he retired in May 2013
He is currently an INED of Bank of Communications (Hong Kong)
Limited, Baowu Resources Company Limited and Baosteel Resources
International Company Limited (subsidiaries of China Baowu Steel
Group Corporation Limited), Tsit Wing International Holdings Limited
(“Tsit Wing”) and Foxconn Interconnect Technology Limited (which
carries on business in Hong Kong as FIT Hon Teng Limited (“FIT")).
Both Tsit Wing and FIT are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr TANG
is a fellow member of both ACCA and HKICPA. He is also currently a
member of the disciplinary panel of the HKICPA and a convenor of
Financial Reporting Review Panel of the Financial Reporting Council.
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Directors’ Report
EEERE

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of HKR International Limited (the
“Company”) announces the audited final results of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are
set out in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements on pages
233 to 247.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

Results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 106.

The Board has recommended the declaration of a final dividend of
HK5 cents per share for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: HK5
cents) to the shareholders whose names appear on the registers
of members of the Company on 2 September 2022. The proposed
final dividend will be paid on 19 September 2022 following approval
at 2022 annual general meeting of the Company to be held on 24
August 2022 (the “2022 AGM"). The proposed final dividend together
with the interim dividend of HK3 cents per share for the six months
ended 30 September 2021 makes up a total dividend of HK8 cents
per share for the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: HK9 cents).

CLOSURE OF REGISTERS OF MEMBERS

The main and branch registers of members of the Company will be
closed from 19 to 24 August 2022 (both days inclusive) and from 31
August to 2 September 2022 (both days inclusive) for the 2022 AGM
and the final dividend respectively. During the periods, no transfer
of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and
vote at the 2022 AGM, and entitled for the proposed final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2022, all properly completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
for registration with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-
1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 18 August and 30 August
2022 respectively. The notice of the 2022 AGM will be published on
the websites of the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and despatched to the shareholders
of the Company in due course.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the Group’s business and analysis of the Group’s
performance using financial key performance indicators during the
year, a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing by
the Group and an indication of the likely future development of the
Group's business are provided in the sections of this annual report
headed “Chairman’s Statement” (on pages 8 to 15), “Management
Discussion and Analysis” (on pages 16 to 35), “Directors’ Report”
(on pages 44 to 65), “Financial Highlights” (on page 89), “Financial
Review” (on pages 90 to 95), “Five-year Financial Summary” (on page
252) and in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. For
review of the development, performance or position of the Group's
business, the Group’s environmental policies and performance,
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group and understanding of the Group's
key relationships with its employees, customers and suppliers and
others that have a significant impact on the Group, please see
sections of this annual report headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” (on pages 16 to 35), “Directors’ Report” (on pages 44 to 65)
and “Corporate Governance Report” (on pages 66 to 88) as well as
the ESG Report of the Group which is published online at the same
time of this annual report.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Company has
complied with the requirements of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") and the applicable companies
laws. Details of the Company’s compliance with the code provisions
set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in the Listing
Rules are provided in the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages
66 to 88.

The Group has set up proper procedures to ensure adherence
to the relevant laws and regulations which have a significant
impact on the Group in conduct of its business, including but not
limited to the Residential Properties (First-hand Sales) Ordinance,
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Competition Ordinance, Buildings Ordinance, Hotel and Guesthouse
Accommodation Ordinance, Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance,
Minimum Wage Ordinance, Employment Ordinance, Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance, Regulations on Administration of
Development and Operation of Urban Real Estate, Regulations
on Administration of Qualification of Real Estate Development
Enterprises and Regulatory Measures on the Sale of Commercial
Houses. Any new enactment of or changes in the relevant laws and
regulations would be communicated to the relevant departments
and staff to ensure compliance. Reminders on compliance would
also be sent out where necessary. During the year under review,
there were no recorded cases of non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations regarding the environment, labour standards,
occupational health and safety, anti-corruption or data privacy in
Hong Kong and overseas.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's businesses, financial conditions, results of operations and
growth prospects may be affected by risks and uncertainties directly
or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. The risk factors
set out below are those that could result in the Group businesses,
financial conditions, results of operations or growth prospects
differing materially from expected or historical results. Such factors
are by no means exhaustive or comprehensive, and there may be
other risks in addition to those shown below which are not known to
the Group or which may not be material now but could turn out to
be very material in the future. In addition, this annual report does not
constitute a recommendation or advice to invest in the securities of
the Company and investors are advised to make their own judgment
or consult their own investment advisors before making any
investment in the securities of the Company.

A) PROLONGED COVID-19 PANDEMIC

The global economy has continued to be adversely affected by the
prolonged impact brought by COVID-19. Governments all over the
world, including places of businesses at which the Group operates,
have continued to impose different level of restrictions to contain
the spread of the disease. The COVID-19 pandemic and related
restrictions triggered by it have posed certain impact on the Group's
operations and financial performance. During the Year, with the
rollout of vaccination programme around the globe, the pandemic
situation has been improving. The number of cases was on a
declining trend and some restrictions were being lifted.
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However, while the pandemic situation in Hong Kong has been
relatively under control in the first three quarters, the 5th wave of
pandemic hit the city hard in the last quarter, resulting in a surge in
number of cases and the government imposing the most stringent
measures in the past two years. This has led to a complete standstill
of economy recovery in Hong Kong. At the same time, Shanghai,
where HKRI Taikoo Hui, our flagship project in mainland China is
located, experienced similar situation and massive lockdown was
imposed, bringing a halt to all daily business activities. This sudden
turn of events could hardly be predicted, and the prolonged
COVID-19 pandemic affected the global economic situation,
employment rate, local/overseas travel pattern, spending sentiment
and market liquidity, causing tangible impact on normal business
operation and increasing operating costs. The long-term adverse
impact of the pandemic to the Group’s business remains uncertain.
To mitigate the risks, the Group will continue to closely monitor
the pandemic development and react timely and proactively to the
impact of the same on its operations and performance, including
but not limited to the implementation of further cost control
measures and launching more creative initiatives to enhance its
competitiveness. In addition, the Company will continue to use
its best endeavours to protect the well-being of its employees,
including regular disinfection in the workplace, continuous provision
of anti-pandemic supplies and reminders of healthy living, increasing
utilisation of virtual meetings and adopting appropriate flexible
working arrangements while ensuring its operations is maintained at
normal level.

B) RISKS PERTAINING TO PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT
AND INVESTMENT

Property development and investment are the Group's core
businesses, primarily in Hong Kong, mainland China and Thailand.
There exist a number of factors which could affect the property
market in these regions, including among other things, changes
in the economic, political and legal environment, as well as social
issues like the recent large-scale outbreak of pandemic disease
which causes certain delay in the completion of projects and might
result in cost overruns. These inherent risks may affect the Group's
investment strategy, business model and the overall performance
of the Group’s financial results and positions. To mitigate the risks,
the Group actively assesses overall economic, social, political, legal,
and property market developments as well as their changes in these
regions and continue to review and evaluate its investment strategy
to ensure the Group responds to the market changes promptly
and appropriately. The Group will also stay alert to market needs
and continuously upkeep the quality of its investment properties,
and build up a diversified and high-quality tenant-mix in order to
preserve its competitiveness. For each potential project, detailed
feasibility and stress test with regard to all aspects will be carried out
before making any commitment and will also share such risk with
potential joint venture partner, if considered appropriate.
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C) RISKS PERTAINING TO OPERATIONS OF THE
GROUP

The Group's operations are subject to a number of risk factors
distinctive to the operation of property development and investment,
hospitality, leisure and transportation businesses. For instance, default
on the part of contractors or sub-contractors, buyers and tenants; or
inadequacies or failures of internal processes and systems; or other
external factors such as the outbreak of pandemic disease, rising
construction cost, increasing competition and seasonality. In addition,
accidents which may happen despite policies and procedures are set
up for their prevention, can lead to financial loss, litigation, damage
of reputation and may cause certain degree of negative impact on
the results of the operations. To mitigate the relevant risks, the Group
regularly reviews its existing policies and procedures to ensure their
effectiveness and adequacy, imposes straight guidelines on carefully
selecting and engaging vendors, closely monitors the project time
frame and status, keeps on assessing the market condition and
changes in order to react with appropriate business strategies, such
as try to increase the local market shares in its hotel operation by
launching attractive package and themed campaigns as well as
continuously improves its service quality and facilities to ensure its
competitiveness. The Group has also arranged adequate insurance
coverage on business interruption or disaster that may result in loss
of income.

D) FINANCIAL RISKS

The major financial instruments of the Group include equity
instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost, trade
receivables, amounts due from associates, loans to joint ventures,
amounts due from joint ventures, bank balances and cash, other
financial assets, trade payables, deposits received and other
financial liabilities, bank and other loans and other liabilities. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. Details of these financial instruments and the policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out in note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 216 to 232.
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E) HUMAN RESOURCES RISKS

The Group's success is dependent upon its ability to attract, train,
retain and motivate highly skilled and qualified staff members
in every aspect. The loss of key personnel, or the inability to find
additional qualified personnel, could materially and adversely affect
the Group's prospects and results of operations. To mitigate such
uncertainty, succession planning is adopted to identify successors
for key management positions and continuously provide coaching
and training, both in-house and external, for talent development. The
Group also regularly reviews its compensation and benefit packages
to ensure such packages are in line with the market as well as creates
a bonding culture to strengthen the sense of belongings of staff
members.

F) CYBER-ATTACKS RISKS

Corporate cyber-attacks have increased in frequency, scale and
severity in recent years. Cyber-attacks may cause loss of data,
leakage of confidential information including personal information
of customers and employees, equipment failure and also disruptions
to the Group's or its partners’ operation for a significant period of
time. The adverse impact of cyber-attacks may include reputation
damage, loss of investors’ confidence, loss of revenue from business
interruption and resulting claims, all of which could be substantial.
To mitigate the risk of cyber-attacks on the Group, external cyber
security consultant has been engaged to conduct cyber security
assessment and penetration tests on a regular basis. Information
technology orientation sessions and disaster recovery drills are
regularly conducted. Firewall, email filtering and web content
filtering have been adopted and anti-virus programs on servers and
computers have been installed. In addition, regular user-education on
cyber security risks is maintained through internal communication. All
these measures could prevent the attacks from hackers and reduce
cyber security risks.
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G) COMPLIANCE RISKS

Whilst the Group has a diversified portfolio of business operations
across Hong Kong, mainland China and other key cities in Asia, there
may be a risk associated with the failure to anticipate the trend of
regulatory changes on compliance with the relevant requirements
of the local laws or regulations. To mitigate the risks, the Group
continually monitors changes in relevant local laws and regulations,
actively assesses the effect of relevant developments and seeks
for legal advice whenever necessary to ensure that the relevant
requirements are properly complied with in an effective manner.

Risk management is closely linked to the Group’s internal control
framework. Key controls for mitigating high risks identified in the
risk management process are subject to independent review by the
Internal Audit Department. During the year under review, the Audit
Committee, on behalf of the Board, has reviewed the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems. Details
of the aforesaid review of the effectiveness are disclosed in the
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 66 to 88.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 34 to
the consolidated financial statements on page 202.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year ended 31 March 2022 and as
at the date of this annual report are those set out on pages 36 to 43
of this annual report. During the year, Mr Johnson CHA completed
his term of office as a member of the finance committee and of the
council of The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology on
30 March 2022.

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association (the
"Articles”) and the Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”) of
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, Ms Madeline WONG, Mr TANG
Moon Wah, Mr Ronald ARCULLI and Mr Linus CHEUNG will retire by
rotation at the 2022 AGM. All the retiring Directors are eligible, for
re-election and except Mr Ronald ARCULLI, all other retiring Directors
have offered themselves for re-election. Mr Ronald ARCULLI shall
retire from office as Non-executive Director of the Company with
effect from conclusion of the 2022 AGM and will not offer himself for
re-election. Other remaining Directors will continue in office.
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None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at the 2022
AGM has a service contract which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation) and all Directors are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the AGMs of the Company in accordance
with the Articles. The rotation clause sets up a mechanism to ensure
that all Directors shall retire at least once every three years.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors (“INEDs") of the
Company has confirmed his/her independence pursuant to rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all INEDs of the
Company meet the independence guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules and are independent accordingly.

Assisted by heads of functional units, the Executive Directors ("EDs")
of the Company have the direct responsibilities for the business and
operations of the Group and hence the EDs of the Company are
regarded as the Company’s senior management. Biographical details
of the Directors are set out on pages 36 to 43. Details of the Directors’
emoluments are also provided under note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements on pages 168 to 170.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND DIRECTORS
AND OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Articles provides that every Director is entitled to be indemnified
out of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities
which he/she may sustain or incur in carrying out his/her duties or
otherwise in relation thereto. Directors and Officers Liability Insurance
Policy is in place to protect the Directors against potential costs and
liabilities arising from claims brought against the Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and their respective associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code") set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules and adopted by
the Company were as follows:
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A) LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OF THE
COMPANY OF HK$0.25 EACH

Number of ordinary share

Name of director Capacity Personal interests
EEEH =80} BARR
Victor CHA Beneficial owner and beneficiary 1,254,278
B of discretionary trusts
ERBBARBBEREIREA
Johnson CHA Beneficiary of discretionary trusts -
BRE BEEEXEA
Madeline WONG Founder and/or beneficiary of -
TEXE discretionary trusts
BB EFLAI A R/ EA
Ronald ARCULLI Beneficiary of a trust 265,619
EER FErEXEA
Loretta HO Beneficial owner 94,160
I8 B ERBEBA
TANG Moon Wah Beneficial owner 148,720

HimE

EafEAA

A) KA T ERKRMEE2E TR %
ZEHRE

Approximate
percentage of

ZEREE issued share capital
Other interests Total HEBITRA
HinpEs Mg ZBAE DL
791,896,895' 793,151,173 53.40
790,469,647 790,469,647 5322
789,684,882" 789,684,882 53.17

- 265,619 0.02

- 94,160 001

- 148,720 001

The shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited (“CCM Trust") and LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited

("LBJ Regents”) are the corporate trustees and the relevant Directors are among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.
‘ ZERMBRE T TRBISEFE R BB ACCM Trust (Cayman) Limited ([CCM Trust ]) & LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited ([LBJ Regents ]) 2 % B 2 3E A
BE MEBEFERHBERREA -

Director is among the members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries.

635,627,031 shares belonged to certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents are the corporate trustees and the

’ 635,627,031l e 1D B A T A RIEIB 27 M B ACCM Trust X LBJ Regents ZEB R A E > MZEEBAMBEZLEA °

The Director is, under two separate discretionary trusts of which CCM Trust and LBJ Regents are the corporate trustees, the founder and member of the

classes of discretionary beneficiaries thereof. Such trusts are deemed to be interested in 154,057,851 shares in aggregate.

’ ZEERHB A RCM Trust LB Regents ) EBMFZFTEAMPF L METRAHBEENEZARETNBEZEA - ZEEARAAREA K

154,057,851 I i {0 2 1 2% ©

B) SHARE OPTIONS

Directors have been granted share options of the Company, details of
which are set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Schemes”
below.

Save as disclosed above and for certain Directors holding
non-beneficial interests in the share capital of some of the
subsidiaries of the Company as the nominee shareholders, as at 31
March 2022, none of the Directors or their respective associates had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporations (within
the meaning of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
contained in the Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company’s former share option scheme (the “2011 Scheme”) was
adopted by the Company on 8 September 2011 and was terminated
on 27 August 2021. Share options granted prior to the termination
continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the 2011
Scheme. The Company adopted a new share option scheme on
25 August 2021 (the “2021 Scheme”) and the listing status of the
shares granted or to be granted under this scheme was granted by
the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange on 27 August 2021.
Particulars of the 2021 Scheme as required to be disclosed under the
Listing Rules are set out below:

A) PURPOSE

To provide the participants who have been granted share options to
subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company with the opportunity to
acquire proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage the
participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company
and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as
a whole.

B) PARTICIPANTS

All Directors, full-time employees and any consultants (employed on
a contract basis) of the Company and its subsidiaries are eligible to
participate in the 2021 Scheme.

C) MAXIMUM NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE FOR
ISSUE

A maximum number of 148,530,180 shares of the Company may be
issued upon exercise of all share options granted or to be granted
under the 2021 Scheme.

D) MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH PARTICIPANT

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the share options granted and to be granted to
each participant (including both exercised and unexercised share
options) under the 2021 Scheme or any other share option scheme
(if any) adopted by the Company in any 12-month period must not
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue unless otherwise
approved by the shareholders of the Company.
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Where any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an
INED of the Company, or any of their respective associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules), would result in the shares of the Company
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all share options already
granted and to be granted to such person in any 12-month period
up to and including the date of the grant:

- representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue; and

- having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of grant in excess of
HKS5.0 million,

such grant of share options shall be subject to prior approval of the
shareholders of the Company who are not connected persons of the
Company as defined in the Listing Rules.

E) PERIOD WITHIN WHICH THE SHARES MUST BE
TAKEN UP UNDER A SHARE OPTION

A share option must be exercised within 10 years from the date
on which it is granted or such shorter period as the Board (or the
relevant committee thereof) may specify at the time of grant.

F) MINIMUM PERIOD AND REQUIREMENT, IF ANY,
FOR WHICH A SHARE OPTION MUST BE HELD BEFORE
IT CAN BE EXERCISED

At the time of the grant of a share option, the Board (or the relevant
committee thereof) must specify the minimum period(s), if any, for
which a share option must be held before it can be exercised.

G) PERIOD OPEN FOR ACCEPTANCE OF A SHARE
OPTION AND AMOUNT PAYABLE UPON ACCEPTANCE

The offer of the grant of a share option (of which the date of grant
must be a business day of the Stock Exchange) must be accepted
within 14 days from the date on which the offer letter is delivered
to the participant and a consideration of HKS1 must be paid upon
acceptance.
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H) BASIS OF DETERMINING THE SUBSCRIPTION
PRICE OF A SHARE OPTION

The subscription price of a share option shall be no less than the
higher of:

- the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant;

- the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days of the Stock Exchange
immediately preceding the date of grant; and

- the nominal value of a share of the Company on the date of
grant.

1) REMAINING LIFE

The 2021 Scheme has a life of 10 years and will expire on 24 August
2031 unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of
the 2021 Scheme.

DETAILS OF SHARE OPTIONS GRANTED
AND AVAILABLE FOR GRANT

The total number of shares in the Company available for grant of
share options under the 2021 Scheme is 148,530,180 shares which
represents 10% of the issued share capital of the Company at the
date of adoption of the 2021 Scheme (i.e. 25 August 2021). During
the year, 39,940,000 share options were granted but no share option
was exercised, cancelled or lapsed in accordance with the terms of
the 2021 Scheme during the financial year ended 31 March 2022.
In addition, during the year, 9,130,000 share options, which granted
under the 2011 Scheme were lapsed and no share option was
granted, exercised or cancelled in accordance with the terms of the
2011 Scheme.

Details of the movement of share options during the year and the
outstanding share options as at 31 March 2022 under the 2021
Scheme and 2011 Scheme, respectively were as follows:
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A) SHARE OPTIONS UNDER THE 2021 SCHEME

Name or Category of

participant
SREREZIER
Victor CHA

TANG Moon Wah
B m

CHEUNG Ho Koon
REE

NGAN Man Ying
EACER

Madeline WONG
TEXE

Ronald ARCULLI
BER

Johnson CHA
BHE

Linus CHEUNG
R IK TR

Henry FAN

Loretta HO
kD=

Barbara SHIU
ARTE

TANG Kwai Chang

HEY

Employees
(==
Total 425t

Date of grant*’
BB

24 November 2021
2021411 A24H

24 November 2021
2021511 A24H

24 November 2021
2021511 A248

24 November 2021
2021511 248

24 November 2021
2021411 A 248

24 November 2021
2021411 A24H

24 November 2021
2021411 A24H

24 November 2021
2021411 A24H

24 November 2021
2021411 A248

24 November 2021
2021411 A248

24 November 2021
2021511 A248

24 November 2021
2021511 A24H

24 November 2021
202111 248

Exercise price

per share

HK$

BRTEE

(&)

3.028

3.028

3.028

3.028

3.028

3.028

3.028

3.028

3.028

3.028

3.028

3.028

3.028

¢ 2 B B R | 722021411 A 240 22026511 A23 B BAR RATE ©

The share options vested immediately on the date of grant.

’ B BRI B HRRNAS 53 88 -

¢ ARB ROV EERR L B2 WHERERI0SET
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Number of share option

Balance as at
1 April 2021
20215
4AR1B &8

Share options granted are exercisable during the period from 24 November 2021 to 23 November 2026.

B AR E

Granted
during

the year®
FRF L

9,500,000

6,000,000

3,000,000

3,000,000

3,500,000

2,400,000

2,400,000

1,200,000

1,200,000

1,200,000

600,000

1,200,000

4,740,000

39,940,000

The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before the date of grant was HK$3.05 per share.

Balance as at
31 March 2022
R20225
3318 &

9,500,000

6,000,000

3,000,000

3,000,000

3,500,000

2,400,000

2,400,000

1,200,000

1,200,000

1,200,000

600,000

1,200,000

4,740,000

39,940,000



B) SHARE OPTIONS UNDER THE 2011 SCHEME B) HBE2011FtEFHKRMDERE

Number of share option
Exercise price RGHREHE

per share Balance as at Lapsed Balance as at
Name or Category of HK$ 1 April 2021 during 31 March 2022
participant BRITERE #2021E the year #2022
SHENZHE Date of grant” BiaHe (B7) 4R1BER ERAN 3A3BER
Victor CHA 28 February 2017 201728288 3845 3,190,000 - 3,190,000
B 12 March 2018 201838128 4373 5,500,000 5,500,000
TANG Moon Wah 28 February 2017 201728288 3845 2,200,000 - 2,200,000
S 12 March 2018 2018F3A 128 4373 3,300,000 3,300,000
CHEUNG Ho Koon 12 March 2018 2018F3A 128 4373 440,000 - 440,000
R
Madeline WONG 28 February 2017 201728288 3845 1,210,000 - 1,210,000
IE%E 12 March 2018 201838128 4373 1,760,000 1,760,000
Ronald ARCULLI 28 February 2017 201728280 3845 1,210,000 - 1,210,000
Bl 12 March 2018 201838128 4373 1,760,000 1,760,000
Johnson CHA 28 February 2017 20172R28H 3845 1,210,000 - 1,210,000
EE 12 March 2018 2018838128 4373 1,760,000 1,760,000
Linus CHEUNG 28 February 2017 201728288 3845 550,000 - 550,000
RKF 12 March 2018 201838128 4373 880,000 880,000
Loretta HO 28 February 2017 201728288 3845 770,000 - 770,000
fmg 12 March 2018 2018F3A128 4373 880,000 880,000
TANG Kwai Chang 28 February 2017 201728288 3845 220,000 - 220,000
HEY 12 March 2018 2018F3A128 4373 880,000 880,000
Ex-directors’ 28 February 2017 201728288 3845 6,600,000 3,190,000 3410,000
FIEES 12 March 2018 201838128 4373 9,680,000 5,500,000 4,180,000
Employees 12 March 2018 201838128 4373 880,000 440,000 440,000
E8
Total &3t 44,880,000 9,130,000 35,750,000

Share options granted on 28 February 2017 are exercisable during the period from 28 February 2017 to 27 February 2027.
Share options granted on 12 March 2018 are exercisable during the period from 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028.

! 7201752 A28 B B 2 B0 BRHE AT 12017482 F 28 B £ 2027 2 A27 A IR R AT1E -

#2018F3 A 128 F 2 B 15 BitE AT R 2018F3 A 128 £20284F3 A 11 H HARE R1THE o

The share options vested immediately on the respective dates of grant.

¢ Bt BARE RS B R F BAEDRS 3R o

Balance share options as at 31 March 2022 were held by two Directors resigned with effect from 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2021 respectively.
’ 202293 A31H 2 IR EAE A SR & £ BIR2018F3 A31 8 R2021F4B 1 BBEZ ESHA ©
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Details of the value of the share option granted during the financial
year ended 31 March 2022 and the accounting policy adopted for
the share options are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 202 to 204.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Option Schemes” above,
at no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the interests of the Directors
in businesses, which competed or were likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group as required to
be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules are as follows:

a) Mr Ronald ARCULLI is an INED of Hang Lung Properties
Limited (“HLP") (ceased with effect from 30 April 2021) and also a
non-executive director of Sino Hotels (Holdings) Limited ("SHH"),
Sino Land Company Limited (“SLC") and Tsim Sha Tsui Properties
Limited (“TSTP"). The businesses of HLP, SHH, SLC and TSTP involve at
least some of property investment, property development, property
management and hotel management and ownership. HLP, SHH, SLC
and TSTP are all listed on the Stock Exchange.

b) Mr Johnson CHA is the non-executive chairman of Hanison
Construction Holdings Limited (“Hanison”) whose group’s businesses
consist of property investment, property development, property
management and healthcare services. Hanison is listed on the Stock
Exchange.

Save for the INEDs of the Company and save as disclosed above,
none of the Directors was interested in any business apart from the
Group's businesses which competed or was likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the
year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2022, the following persons (other than the Directors)
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO:
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LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OF THE COMPANY RADNTEREE2E TR

OF HK$0.25 EACH B
Approximate
percentage of
issued share
Number of capital
Name of shareholder Capacity ordinary share {HE2#TREAZ
BRERERE Eg0) EERHE BABEs T
CCM Trust (Cayman) Limited Corporate trustee 715,617,969 48.17
EEXTEA
LBJ Regents (PTC) Limited Corporate trustee 101,084,280" 6.81
EEXTEA
Mingly Corporation Interest of controlled corporations 144,606,568 9.73
BEHEBEZERBR QA RYEEE
OEl Kang Eric Interest of controlled corporations/ 76,222,400 513
=M Interest held jointly with another
__person
Bk 2 /R AR
Z W
Claudio Holdings Limited Interest of controlled corporations 74,560,800" 5.02

RN A

These share interests comprise 571,011,401 shares held directly by CCM Trust and 144,606,568 shares held indirectly through wholly-owned subsidiaries
of Mingly Corporation (“Mingly”), which CCM Trust is interested in 87.5% equity interest. CCM Trust holds the above share interests as corporate trustee
of certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of discretionary beneficiaries comprise the late Dr CHA Chi Ming’s issue.
" ZERD R BIECCM Trust B & 35H8 2571011401 BN REBENEBERBER DA ([HBN]) 2 2 EWE R RFEEZRH 2144,606,5680%
Btn - MCCM TrustRIBER & 1187.5% M HE 2 #E 2 © CCM TrustbUEBIRFEA S AE T TR BETHA LR H#EE MRS ERZBE
X ARHEEREBERE L 2% -

The shares are held by LBJ Regents as corporate trustee of certain but not identical discretionary trusts of which members of the classes of discretionary
beneficiaries comprise the late Dr CHA Chi Ming's issue.

" ZERAD T LB Regents SUEBI R FEA S D AE T TRBBERESE  MAEEAZHEIaACEEHEARBL 2R -

The shares are held indirectly by Mingly through its wholly-owned subsidiaries.
" FZERNBENEBE2EWNBLARBEERS -

" As at 12 May 2021 as disclosed to the Stock Exchange, 4,936,800 shares are held jointly by OEl Kang Eric with another person and 71,285,600 shares are
held by corporations (including Claudio Holdings Limited) controlled by OEIl Kang Eric.

" 1220215 A 128 REE AT 2 5 + 4,936,8000% B 1 A = Ml E2 b A L RI4F A - 071,285,6008% A% 15 8 1 5 M2 51 2 7% B (8 #EClaudio Holdings
Limited) ¥ 5 ©

As at 14 May 2021 as disclosed to the Stock Exchange, the shares are held by, through corporations controlled by, Claudio Holdings Limited.
" B2021F5 A14B REERFT 2 5 % 5 B9 B Claudio Holdings Limitedi® i@ E {2 | 2 A @5 4 -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, no other interests or & F X EE SN - H20228F3A31H » BLEN K
short positions in the shares of the Company were recorded in the 2 FIARD 7 H s SR B s8N A R AR %
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of  FEHIEHIE336IGBFE 2 A -

the SFO.

DEBT SECURITIES BHES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company has issued HK$300 million in 72022238318 » &N A & & 3 1T 4~ & 58 4300
a principal amount of unlisted notes due May 2031. Details of the B EBETHR2031ESASIH Y IE ETERE B
debt securities are disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial B4 Z S E R F1978 2 4 0 W= M 5530
statements on page 197. N EE -
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CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions as disclosed under paragraphs
(@) and (b) of note 46 to the consolidated financial statements
on page 248 constitute connected transaction(s) or continuing
connected transaction(s) under the Listing Rules but are exempt
from shareholders’ approval and disclosure and other requirements
under rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules. Save for the aforesaid
transactions, the other related party transactions shown in note 46 to
the consolidated financial statements do not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions under the Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS, TRANSACTIONS AND
ARRANGEMENTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed above, no contract, transactions or arrangements
of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director or controlling shareholder had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
REQUIREMENTS UNDER RULE 13.21 OF
CHAPTER 13 OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the continuing obligations set out in rule 13.21
of Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules, the following are the details of the
loan agreements with covenants relating to specific performance
on the controlling shareholders of the Company as at the date of
this annual report pursuant to rule 13.18 thereof. There exists no
reporting obligation by the Company under rules 13.17 and 13.19 of
the Listing Rules accordingly:

a)  The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into
on 4 August 2020 (the “Loan Agreement I") for a term and revolving
loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of HKS$3,350 million
with final maturity date falling five years from the date of the Loan
Agreement |.
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b)  The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into
on 9 October 2020 (the “Loan Agreement II") for a term and revolving
loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$1,000 million
with final maturity date falling five years from the date of the Loan
Agreement .

c¢)  The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered
into on 6 September 2021 (the “Loan Agreement III") for a term and
revolving loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$600
million with final maturity date falling five years from the date of the
Loan Agreement Il

d)  The Company is the borrower of a loan agreement entered into
on 29 April 2022 (the "Loan Agreement IV") for a term and revolving
loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of HK$2,400 million
with final maturity date falling five years from the date of the Loan
Agreement IV.

Under the Loan Agreement |, Loan Agreement Il, Loan Agreement IlI
and Loan Agreement IV (collectively, the “Loan Agreements”), among
others, an event of default is triggered when the existing largest
shareholder of the Company (together with his associate(s)) holding
the largest shareholding (direct or indirect) in the Company on the
date of the respective Loan Agreements ceases to be the Company’s
largest shareholder at any time during the term of the respective
Loan Agreements unless the situation can be remedied within a
prescribed timeframe pursuant to the respective Loan Agreements.

In the Company’s case, 816,702,249 shares (representing
approximately 54.98% of the Company'’s issued share capital as at
the date of this annual report) are owned by corporate trustees of
certain, but not identical, discretionary trusts of which members of
the classes of discretionary beneficiaries include Mr Victor CHA, the
Chairman of the Company, and his siblings, are together treated
as the existing largest shareholder collectively holding the largest
shareholding in the Company. This has been the continuing status
since the signing of each of the Loan Agreements.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
REQUIREMENTS UNDER RULES 13.20
AND 13.22 OF CHAPTER 13 OF THE
LISTING RULES

In accordance with the requirements of rules 13.20 and 13.22 of
Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules, the following were the details of
financial assistances and guarantees given for facilities granted to
affiliated companies of the Company as at 31 March 2022 pursuant
to rules 13.13 and 13.16 thereof:
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a) As at 31 March 2022, the Group advanced to Gainwick Limited
(“Gainwick”), a joint venture formed by the Group (owned as to 40%)
and Hysan Development Company Limited (“Hysan”) (owned as to
60%) for the purpose of a residential property development in Tai
Po, New Territories in a form of unsecured shareholders’ loan with no
fixed terms of repayment in a total amount HK$844 million (which
increased to HK$892 million as at 25 May 2022), in which HK$80
million as working capital loan at an interest rate of 2% per annum
over 1-month Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate ("HIBOR") and the
rest is interest free.

The Company also provides guarantee up to HK$2,000 million (the
"Guarantee”) in favour of a syndicate of financial institutions in Hong
Kong as a security for Gainwick’s obligation under the banking
facilities granted to Gainwick by the financial institutions with the
maturity date on 26 May 2022 for a principal amount of HKS$5,000
million (the “Banking Facilities”, in which the Company provided the
guarantee up to 40% of the facility amount). The interest rate for the
Banking Facilities is a sum of 0.65% per annum and HIBOR of relevant
interest period (one, two to three months or subject to availability
six months at the selection of Gainwick and mutually agreed with
the financial institutions). As at 31 March 2022, the guarantee given
by the Company in respect of the Banking Facilities amounted
to HKS$1,616 million. On 26 May 2022, the Banking Facilities were
extended for an additional 18 months with one of the original
lenders (i.e. the new expiry date is 26 November 2023) and the
interest rate was adjusted to the sum of 0.79% per annum and the
applicable HIBOR. On the same day before extension of the Banking
Facilities, Gainwick has also repaid HKS$1,500 million to the original
lenders of the Banking Facilities with an additional financial assistance
from the Company and Hysan in proportion to their respective
effective shareholding interests in Gainwick in a form of interest-free,
unsecured with no fixed terms of repayment shareholders’ loan in
a sum of HKS$1,500 million (i.e. the Company’s portion is HK$600
million) which results in the total shareholder loan from the Company
to Gainwick increased to HK$1,492 million as at 26 May 2022. Details
of the same were disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 26 May 2022.
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b) As at 31 March 2022, the Group advanced to Dazhongli
Properties Limited and its subsidiaries (“Dazhongli group”) an
aggregate amount of HK$4,752 million. Dazhongli group is engaged
in the operation of investment properties and hotel properties in
Jing’an District, Shanghai, the People’s Republic of China in which the
Group has 50% interest. The advances were provided by the Group
in the form of equity and loans in proportion to its shareholding
interest therein, for the purpose of financing the development
expenditure of Dazhongli group. Out of the advances, HK$311
million are unsecured, interest bearing at 1.71% per annum and
repayable in December 2022. Pursuant to the undertaking of bank
loans, Dazhongli group is refraining from settling the loans from
shareholders until the settlement of all bank loans. The remaining of
the advances are unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed
terms of repayment.

o) As at 31 March 2022, the Group also advanced to and
guarantees given for other several affiliated companies an aggregate
amount of HKS$1,250 million. The Group has interests ranging from
31% to 50% in these affiliated companies.

As at 31 March 2022, the aggregate amount of advances provided
to and guarantees given for these affiliated companies by the
Group amounted to HKS$8,462 million representing 19.5% of the
consolidated total assets of the Group of HK$43,408 million as at 31
March 2022.

The financial information of these affiliated companies as at 31 March
2022 are set out in notes 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 180 to 185.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract for the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of any business of the Company was entered
into or existed during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was less than 30% of the total value of the Group's
turnover.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers were less than 30% of the total value of the Group’s
purchases.

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or shareholders of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than
5% of the Company'’s issued share capital) had any interest in the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately HKS$1.2 million (2021: approximately
HKS$0.6 million).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
although there is no restriction against such rights under the laws of
the Cayman Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to information available to the Company, the percentage
of the Company’s shares which are in the hands of the public
exceeds 25% of the Company'’s total number of issued shares.

REVIEW OF THE ANNUAL REPORT BY
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Group's annual report for the year ended 31 March 2022 has
been reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Company established
in compliance with rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the relevant
provisions of the CG Code.
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AUDITOR 3 4

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC") was appointed as the auditor of the LB KE G M EBKA ([E ZRUKE]D B
Company at the AGM of the Company held on 20 August 2020 to fill  2020F8 H20H B|ITH AR AR R F & L &
the vacancy arising from the retirement of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu ~ ER AR B Z AN - NEHEH -BERT S
at the conclusion of the said AGM of the Company. PwC was further & BBTTR Bl AR R BIR R F & & RS REME
re-appointed as the auditor of the Company at the annual general ~ AEEVZEHR o & LK ER20215F8 25 £ 1THY)
meeting held on 25 August 2021. RERAF KRG FEEE AN BIZEEN -

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March ~ BlZE2022F3A31H L FE ZHFEMBHRERE H
2022 have been audited by PwC. A resolution will be submitted to & ERIKEHFZ - N R AIHR2022KRFE &
the 2022 AGM to re-appoint PwC as auditor. RERER - BEESRUKE BZEEAED -

On behalf of the Board
REESE

CHA Mou Zing Victor

Executive Chairman
B

BITERE

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
B 2022664298
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
AND FUNCTIONS

HKR International Limited (the “Company”) is committed to good
corporate governance which it believes to be core to the success
of its businesses and operations. References in this report to the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") as set out in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing
Rules”) refer to the CG Code as applicable for the year under review.
Corporate Governance Report for the financial year 2022/2023 and
onward will be based on new CG Code which has been amended
with effect from 1 January 2022 and apply for financial year
commencing on or after 1 January 2022.

The corporate governance functions are undertaken by the Board
of Directors of the Company (the “Board”), through the Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company as delegated by the Board,
as prescribed by code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code which are
included in the terms of references of the Board and the Corporate
Governance Committee.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company fully complied
with the code provisions of the CG Code save for a deviation of E.1.2
(Chairman of the Board'’s attendance of the annual general meeting
(“AGM")). Details and reasons for the deviation are set out below in
the paragraph headed “Attendances of General Meetings, Board and
Board Committee Meetings”.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
BOARD COMPOSITION

As at 31 March 2022, the Board comprised twelve Directors of which
four are Executive Directors (“EDs") and eight are Non-executive
Directors (“NEDs") of whom five and hence, with more than one-third
of the Board, are Independent Non-executive Directors (“INEDs").
Each Director possesses skills and experience appropriate to the
business of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and the
particulars of Directors are duly set out in the section headed “Board
of Directors” on pages 36 to 43 of 2021/2022 annual report.

Save for Mr Victor CHA, Mr Johnson CHA and Ms Madeline WONG

who are siblings, all other Directors have no family relationship with
each other.
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BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board has the responsibility for strategic leadership, control
and providing guidance to management to ensure the Company's
objectives are achieved.

Upon appointment to the Board, every Director is given
comprehensive and formal induction documentation of the business
operations of the Group and information for his/her understanding
and awareness of his/her responsibilities as Director under the
Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory and statutory requirements
together, if required, with brief meetings with senior executives and
department heads of the Group.

Each Director ensures that he/she can give sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group and has informed the Company
in a timely manner for any change, the number and nature of offices
held in public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments. Details of Directors’ other appointments are shown
in the section headed “Board of Directors” on pages 36 to 43 of
2021/2022 annual report.

A list of the Directors, their roles and functions and, in particular
whether they are INEDs, is maintained on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange and is updated as and when
required.

BOARD PROCESS

The dates of the regular Board meetings in a particular year are
scheduled ahead to give all Directors adequate time to plan their
schedules to attend meetings. There are four regular Board meetings
in a year which are held on a quarterly basis and ad hoc Board
meetings will also be held as and when required. For the year ended
31 March 2022, five Board meetings were held and attendance
records of the Board meetings held during the year are set out in the
below paragraph headed “Attendances of General Meetings, Board
and Board Committee Meetings”.

At least 14 days formal notice would be given before each regular
Board meeting and reasonable advance notice would also be given
for other Board meetings. All Directors are consulted as to whether
they wish to include any matters in the agenda and the Chairman of
the Board would review and approve the agenda before the agenda
for each Board meeting is issued.
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Agendas and accompanying Board papers are sent to all Directors/
Board Committees members at least three days (or such other period
as agreed) before meetings. With the assistance of the EDs, the
Chairman of the Board seeks to ensure that all Directors are properly
briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and receive adequate
documents and information about the Group in a timely manner. The
Chairman of the Board, or in his absence, the Deputy Chairman or
the Managing Director, leads meetings and ensures that all key and
appropriate issues are discussed by the Directors in a timely manner.
Directors are provided sufficient time for discussion on issues in
the meetings and encouraged to express their viewpoints on the
Board's affairs and voice their concerns, if any. The Chairman directs
discussions in the meetings in reaching a consensus and consolidates
discussions with conclusions. Minutes of Board/Board Committees
meetings record matters considered and decisions reached. Draft and
final signed minutes of Board/Board Committees meetings are sent
to all Directors for their comment and records respectively. Director
is entitled to seek independent professional advice, at the Company’s
expenses, if he/she considers necessary in order to perform his/her
duties.

The Chairman of the Board meets at least once annually with the
INEDs without the presence of EDs and NEDs. In March 2022, the
Chairman of the Board met the INEDs without the presence of EDs
and NEDs and all five INEDs attended the same.

Where necessary, INEDs meet privately to discuss matters which are
their specific responsibilities. During the year, no such meeting was
required to be held.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The CG Code requires that the roles of chairman and chief executive
officer should be separated and not be performed by the same
individual to ensure there is a clear division of responsibilities
between the Board and the executives who run the business.

The role of Chairman and Managing Director have been taken up by
two different individuals. Mr Victor CHA is the Chairman and Mr TANG
Moon Wah is the Managing Director of the Company. The respective
roles and responsibilities of Chairman and Managing Director are
clearly separated and set out in writing.
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The Chairman provides leadership to, and oversees the functioning
of, the Board to ensure it acts in the best interests of the Group. With
the support of the Company Secretary and Corporate Governance
Committee, the Chairman also takes primary responsibility to
establish good corporate governance practices and procedures of
the Company. The Managing Director, assisted by other EDs and
executive management team, implements the strategies approved
by the Board.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (INCLUDING
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS)

NEDs of the Company are appointed with a specific term of three
years which is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election of
Directors under the Articles of Association of the Company (the
"Articles”). Details of the mechanism are set out in below paragraph
headed “"Appointments, Re-election and Removal”.

The roles and responsibilities of NEDs are clearly set out in writing.
NEDs are not involved in the day-to-day management of the Group's
businesses but participate in Board/Board Committee meetings
where they bring independent views and judgment on issues
of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key
appointments and standards of conduct.

INEDs, in particular, will oversee the management and the Company
implementing the rules, procedures and plans established and help
ensure that the interests of the shareholders as a whole are taken
into account by the Board. Each of the INEDs has provided to the
Company an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to
rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers that all of
them continue to be independent with reference to the terms of
guidelines set out in the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

The Articles stipulate that at each AGM, one-third of the Directors
for the time being, or if their number is not three or a multiple of
three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years and
any Director appointed by the Directors shall hold office only until
the next following general meeting of the Company (in the case
of filling a casual vacancy) or until the next following AGM (in the
case of a new appointment to the Board) and be eligible to offer for
re-election. Re-election of each eligible Director is subject to approval
by shareholders at the general meeting of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Directors are provided with continuous updates on latest changes
or material development in laws, the Listing Rules, corporate
governance practices relating to the duties and responsibilities
of Directors and are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development seminars to update their knowledge for
discharging directors’ responsibilities.

The Directors, who are in office during the year under review and
remain at the date of this annual report, have participated in the
following various continuous professional development activities in
order to develop and refresh their skills and knowledge. Each Director
has provided his/her training record for the year under review to the
Company with particulars set out as follows:

Name of director =4
Victor CHA BB
TANG Moon Wah B m 5
CHEUNG Ho Koon RIGE
NGAN Man Ying BN 3R
Ronald ARCULLI ERESE
Johnson CHA EiRE
Madeline WONG TEXRE
Linus CHEUNG R K FR
Henry FAN BB
Loretta HO (ERi=N=)
Barbara SHIU AR
TANG Kwai Chang HEZ
Notes:

A. Reading/viewing materials/articles/videos in relation to director responsibilities,

as well as the updates, developments and refreshments on regulatory requirements,
environmental, social and governance (“ESG"), banking, business ethnic, risk management

and governance.

B. Attending briefing/workshops/lectures/seminars/conferences in relation to the
operations of the Company, updated statutory and regulatory requirements, business
ethnic, as well as developments on board, financial reporting, financial technology,
regulatory technology, legal, risk management, cyber security, banking, real estate

market, tax, ESG, global business and economic environments.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board has delegated and set out levels of authority and
expressed terms of reference for the Board Committees and reserves
the rights to oversee and decide all other non-delegated matters, in
particular, major acquisitions or disposals and connected transactions.
The Board also delegates certain management and administration
functions to the management as it considers appropriate from time
to time, with directions as to the powers of management, including
circumstances where management shall report to and obtain prior
approval from the Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has set up the Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee, Nomination Committee, Corporate Governance
Committee and other committees, namely Finance Committee,
Investment/Divestment Committee, Buy-back, Reissue and Transfer
of Shares Committee, Inside Information Committee and ESG
Committee. The Board may also on a need basis set up special
committees with clear terms of reference to deal with specific
transactions or matters of the Company.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee of the Company was established
on 26 March 2012 and its terms of reference follow closely the
requirements of the CG Code. The full text of the terms of reference
of the Nomination Committee is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee require, inter
alia, that the Nomination Committee comprises not less than three
members with a majority of INEDs and the Chairman must be either
an INED or the Chairman of the Board. The Nomination Committee
currently comprises five members, namely Mr Henry FAN, Mr Victor
CHA, Ms Madeline WONG, Ms Loretta HO and Mr TANG Kwai Chang
with Mr Henry FAN acting as the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.
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The principal role and function of the Nomination Committee is to
identify and recommend to the Board suitably qualified persons to
become members of the Board, to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board on a regular basis, to maintain (i) a policy
concerning diversity of Board members (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
and make recommendation, if required, to the Board for achieving
diversity of the Board; and (ii) a policy concerning nomination
of Director (the "Director Nomination Policy”). The Nomination
Committee is entitled to seek independent professional advice, at the
Company's expenses, if it considers necessary in order to perform its
duties.

The Board Diversity Policy was adopted by the Board in March 2013
and updated in March 2022. Pursuant to the policy, the Nomination
Committee will review the structure, size and composition of the
Board and discuss and agree annually measurable objectives,
targets, timeline and plans, if any, based on rigorous analysis
and benchmarking data for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend them, to the Board for adoption. The Nomination
Committee also monitors the progress and its policy implementation
for annual reporting in the corporate governance report. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of services. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The
policy will be reviewed by the Nomination Committee on an annual
basis and when required to ensure effectiveness.

The Director Nomination Policy was adopted by the Board in
November 2018. Pursuant to the policy, the Nomination Committee
will discuss and consider the nomination of candidates from
various sources for new Directors, examine the qualification of
these candidates, and then recommend such candidates to the
Board, which have the final authority on determining the selection
of such candidate to be appointed as a Director. The major criteria
considered by the Nomination Committee are, inter alia, candidates’
educational backgrounds, experience and expertise in their chosen
industries, their proposed commitment to the Company and the
goal, if any, of diversity of the Board. Regarding the nomination of
INEDs, the Nomination Committee will also particularly consider the
independence of such candidates. The policy will be reviewed by the
Nomination Committee on an annual basis and when required to
ensure effectiveness.
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During the year, the Nomination Committee in the meeting held
in March 2022 has (a) reviewed the retirement of Directors and
recommended to the Board the re-election of Mr TANG Moon Wah,
Ms Madeline WONG, Mr Ronald ARCULLI (who subsequently decided
not to offer himself for re-election) and Mr Linus CHEUNG at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company to be held in August 2022; (b)
reviewed, assessed and considered all INEDs are independent, in
particular for Mr Linus CHEUNG who has served the Board as INED for
more than nine years with the factors considered and the conclusion
to be set out in the documents to shareholder accompanying the
proposed resolution for the AGM to be held in August 2022 for
the re-election of Mr CHEUNG as INED; (c) reviewed, assessed and
considered the adequacy and effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy and Director Nomination Policy and make recommendation
to the Board for the amendments of the Board Diversity Policy;
(d) reviewed the benchmarking data and recommended, with the
approval of the Board to set a target with the number of female
members to be not less than 25% of the Board; and (e) reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board, in particular on gender
diversity, during the financial year of 2021/2022 and considered
that the current diversity of the Board, particularly with four female
directors, representing over 30% of the Board, which exceeds the
target set is appropriate and it was not necessary to set out any
timeline or plan for enhancing the diversity of the Board for the
financial year of 2022/2023. The records of the meeting held of the
Nomination Committee during the year are set out in the below
paragraph headed “Attendances of General Meetings, Board and
Board Committee Meetings”.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was established
on 2 December 2004 and its terms of reference follow closely the
requirements of the CG Code. The full text of the terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee require, inter
alia, that the Remuneration Committee comprises not less than three
members with a majority of INEDs. The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises three members, namely Mr Linus CHEUNG,
Mr Henry FAN and Mr Victor CHA with Mr Linus CHEUNG acting as
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
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The principal role and function of the Remuneration Committee
is to exercise the powers of the Board to review and determine
the remuneration and packages of individual EDs and senior
management, if any, including salaries, bonuses, benefits in kind,
share options and other plans. Such factors as remuneration paid for
comparable positions, time commitment and responsibilities of the
EDs and senior management as well as the Company’s remuneration
policy will be considered. The Remuneration Committee is entitled to
seek independent professional advice, at the Company’s expenses, if
it considers necessary in order to perform its duties.

During the year, no Remuneration Committee meeting was held but
the Remuneration Committee reviewed and approved by means
of electronic circulation the proposals of (a) salary review for the
financial year 2021/2022, including EDs; (b) employment extension
for an ED; (c) special bonus to certain EDs due to the outstanding
performance on project development; (d) performance bonus of the
Company for financial year 2021/2022; (e) bonus payment for EDs for
the financial year 2021/2022; (f) grant of share options to Directors
and employees; and (g) salary review for the financial year 2022/2023,
including EDs. The records of circulated electronic communication of
the Remuneration Committee during the year are duly set out in the
below paragraph headed “Attendances of General Meetings, Board
and Board Committee Meetings".

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee of the Company was established on 17 July
1998 and its terms of reference follow closely the requirements of
the CG Code. The full text of the terms of reference of the Audit
Committee is available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee require, inter alia,
that the Audit Committee comprises not less than three members
who are NEDs and a majority of them must be INEDs of the
Company. The Audit Committee currently comprises four members,
namely Mr TANG Kwai Chang, Mr Linus CHEUNG, Ms Loretta HO
and Ms Barbara SHIU with Mr TANG Kwai Chang leading the Audit
Committee as the chairman.
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The principal role and function of the Audit Committee is to assist
the Board in meeting its responsibilities for ensuring an effective
system of risk management and internal controls and compliance, as
well as meeting its external financial reporting objectives. The Audit
Committee is entitled to seek independent professional advice, at the
Company's expenses, if it considers necessary in order to perform its
duties.

During the year, three Audit Committee meetings were held, of
which two meetings were held with the Independent Auditor
together with senior management and has (a) reviewed and
received the audit strategy memorandums for the audit of the
financial statements of the Group for the years ended 31 March
2021 and 31 March 2022; (b) reviewed and received the report of
risk management review for the year ended 31 March 2021; (c)
considered the Independent Auditor’s projected audit and non-audit
services fees; (d) reviewed the independence of the Independent
Auditor, the nature and scope of the audit; and (e) reviewed
and discussed the interim and final financial statements and the
Independent Auditor’s review and report for the Board’s approval.
During two of these three meetings, the Audit Committee also met
with the head of the Internal Audit Department of the Company to
receive their work plan and, review and discuss on their findings and
rectification actions taken by the business units. The records of the
meeting held of the Audit Committee during the year are set out
in the below paragraph headed “Attendances of General Meetings,
Board and Board Committee Meetings”.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance Committee was established on 12
September 2018 for the purpose to enhance and ensure the
Company maintains a high standard of the corporate governance. Its
terms of reference follow closely the requirements of the CG Code.
The full text of the terms of reference of the Corporate Governance
Committee is available on the website of the Company.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee
requires, inter alia, comprising of not less than three members with
majority of them must be NEDs (including INEDs) of the Company.
The Corporate Governance Committee currently comprises four
members, namely Ms Madeline WONG, Mr Victor CHA, Mr Henry
FAN and Mr TANG Kwai Chang with Ms Madeline WONG leading the
Corporate Governance Committee as the chairman.
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The principal role and function of the Corporate Governance
Committee is to assist the Board and the Chairman in developing,
reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance to ensure their the compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements. The Corporate Governance Committee is
entitled to seek independent professional advice, at the Company’s
expenses, if it considers necessary in order to perform its duties.

During the year, the Corporate Governance Committee held a
meeting in March 2022 and through an electronic communication
have (a) reviewed the corporate governance report to be
incorporated in the annual report of 2020/2021; (b) received and
reviewed the training records of all Directors for the financial year
2020/2021; (c) reviewed all the key Company's policies and practices,
including the code of conduct and terms of reference of officers
and various Board committees; (d) review gap analysis conducted
by independent consultant on the corporate governance practice of
the Company against the new corporate governance requirements
under the Listing Rules effective on 1 January 2022 and made
recommendations, with the approval of the Board for a number
of enhanced corporate governance practices and arrangements,
including but not limited to the adoption of the Company Culture
Policy, Anti-fraud Policy, Whistleblowing Policy and the revision of
the Shareholders” Communication Policy, with full text of all these
policies are available on the website of the Company. The records
of the meetings held of the Corporate Governance Committee and
circulated electronic communication during the year are set out in
the below paragraph headed "Attendances of General Meetings,
Board and Board Committee Meetings”.

ATTENDANCES OF GENERAL MEETINGS,
BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEE
MEETINGS

Directors’ attendances in the general meetings and the meetings of
the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee held during the
year under review are set out below:
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Audit
Board Committee
meeting meeting
Ezg ENZRE
Name of director fE3:2 85 EE ]
Victor CHA™ BER 5/5 -
TANG Moon Wah eipE 5/5 -
CHEUNG Ho Koon BT 5/5 -
NGAN Man Ying BYR 5/5 -
Ronald ARCULLI BB 5/5 -
Jonhson CHA ahE 45 -
Madeline WONG®* TEXE" 5/5 -
Linus CHEUNG" FAR" 5/5 33
Henry FAN®" EERT 5/5 -
Loretta HO* mna* 5/5 33
Barbara SHIU® BEF 5/5 33
TANG Kwai Chang*®* Hey 5/5 33
Notes:
* members of Audit Committee
‘ members of Remuneration Committee
@ members of Nomination Committee

members of Corporate Governance Committee

Due to other business engagements, Mr Victor CHA, the Chairman
of the Board could not attend the AGM of the Company held on 25
August 2021 and Mr TANG Moon Wah, the Managing Director of
the Company chaired the AGM. Mr CHEUNG Ho Koon and Ms NGAN
Man Ying (EDs), Mr Ronald ARCULLI (NED), Mr Linus CHEUNG (INED,
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and member of the
Audit Committee), Ms Barbara SHIU (INED and member of the Audit
Committee) and Mr TANG Kwai Chang (INED, chairman of the Audit
Committee and member of the Nomination Committee and the
Corporate Governance Committee) were also present at the AGM
and available to answer questions from shareholders.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge they are responsible for the preparation
of accounts for financial year which is required to give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group, its
results and the cash flows for the Group. For preparation of the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022,
the Directors selected appropriate accounting policies and applied
them consistently, made judgments and estimations that are prudent
and reasonable, and prepared accounts on a going concern basis.
The statement of the Company’s Independent Auditor about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 is contained in the
Independent Auditor’s report of 2021/2022 annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has an overall responsibility for evaluating and providing
direction to the Company on the nature and extent of the risks that
shall be taken in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and
ensuring that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate
and effective systems of risk management and internal controls,
which include financial, operational and compliance controls.

The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems are to provide a clear governance structure, policies and
procedures, as well as a reporting mechanism to facilitate the Group
to manage its risks across business operations. Key policies and
procedures have been developed, implemented and communicated
to staff as well as regularly reviewed to ensure there are continued
relevant and effective risk management and internal control systems
and for continuous improvement which includes (a) setting core
values and beliefs which form the basis of the Group’s overall risk
philosophy and appetite; (b) having an organisational structure in
place with defined lines of responsibility and delegation of authority
which hold individuals accountable for their risk management and
internal control responsibilities and provides necessary information
flow for risk analysis and management decision-making on an
on-going basis; (c) imposing budgetary and management accounting
controls to efficiently allocate resources and providing timely
financial and operational performance indicators to manage business
activities and risks; (d) ensuring effective financial reporting control to
record complete, accurate and timely accounting and management
information; and (e) having structural internal audit function to
perform independent appraisal of business units and corporate
functions on an on-going and cyclical basis.

The Board has delegated to the Audit Committee responsibility
for providing oversight in respect of risk management and
internal control activities. The Audit Committee discusses the risk
management and internal control systems with management for
the year under review to ensure that management has performed
its duty to have an effective risk management and internal control
systems. Discussion covers areas, inter alia, the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programme and budget
(collectively “Resources”) of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting functions.
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To assist the Board and the Audit Committee in overseeing the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group, the
Internal Audit Department is responsible for performing independent
reviews on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's systems of
internal controls and risk management and reporting audit findings
to the Audit Committee and the Board regularly. An Internal Audit
Charter, which was adopted in 2008, formulates the processes and
procedures of internal audit function for strengthening of the control
framework. The Audit Committee also separately consults with the
Internal Audit Department in respect of the adequacy of Resources of
the Company’s internal audit function.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The successful management of risks is essential for the long-term
growth and sustainability of the Group’s business. To ensure
risk management of the Group is integrated into the day-to-day
operation of the Group and is continuously carried out at all levels
of the Group, the Company has established a risk governance and
management framework and governance structure which consists
of the Board, the Audit Committee, risk management steering
group and business lines to facilitate a systematic approach to the
management of risks within the Group.

The following diagram illustrates the Group's risk governance and
management framework:
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Board of Directors

evaluate and provide direction to the Company on the nature and
extent of the risks that shall be taken in achieving the Company's
strategic objectives

ensure that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate and
effective systems of risk management and internal controls

Audit Committee

oversee management in design, implementation and monitoring of the
risk management and internal control systems

review, at least annually, the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group with the support of Internal Audit Department
to ascertain whether management has fulfilled its responsibilities in
establishing and maintaining effective systems

review risk assessment results, including changes in the nature and
extent of significant risks since the last review and the Group's ability to
respond to changes in its business and the external environment
consider major investigation findings on risk management and internal
control matters and management'’s response to these findings

identify any significant risks that should be the attention of the Board
review and consider enhancement to the risk management and
internal control systems as proposed by the risk management steering
group and/or the Internal Audit Department

Risk Management Steering Group

establish and maintain risk management infrastructure and recommend
change as appropriate

conduct, at least annually, risk identification and assessment on
group-wide basis

escalate risk and control issues on a timely manner as appropriate
ensure business line conduct risk assessment and control
self-assessment within their business units/departments on a regular
basis

provide assurance on the effectiveness of the risk management and
control systems of the Group to the Audit Committee and the Board

Business Lines

manage risks within their business units/departments

identify and evaluate risks potentially impact the achievement of
business objectives within their business units/departments

mitigate and monitor risks identified on day-to-day operation

conduct risk assessment and control self-assessment on regular basis

Internal Audit Department

perform audits to evaluate the proper functioning of the risk
management and internal control systems

report findings to the Audit Committee and provide the Committee
with an independent and objective assurance on the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group
propose any enhancement to the risk management and internal
control systems for consideration by the Audit Committee and the risk
management steering group
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The Company has also formulated and adopted Risk Management
Policy in providing directions in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks. At least on an annual basis, the risk management
steering group, which comprises of the heads of all business units
and corporate functions, collects and collates risk information from
business lines, identifies risks (including ESG-related risks), on a
group-wide basis, that would adversely affect the achievement of
the Group's objectives, and assesses and prioritises the identified
risks according to a set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans are
established and risk owners are also assigned to closely monitor
those risks which are considered to be significant on an on-going
basis and implement the mitigation plans. The identified risks
which are considered to be significant to the Group, including their
changes in nature and extent since the last review, and the relevant
mitigation plans for the year under review have been presented and
accepted by the Audit Committee and the Board in April and June
2022 respectively.

The Internal Audit Department acts as an independent assessor as
another line of defence on risk management system. It conducts
independent review and assesses, at least on an annual basis, if all
the key risks are properly identified and evaluated in accordance
with the Risk Management Policy and whether the existing risk
controls are operating effectively. A control self-assessment process
was also established which requires risk owners to assess, through
questionnaire, the adequacy and effectiveness of risk controls over
the areas under their responsibilities. The process and its results were
reviewed by the Internal Audit Department and form part of the
Audit Committee’s annual assessment of control effectiveness.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

In addition to the independent assessment on the risk management
system, during the year, the Internal Audit Department also carried
out reviews on the (a) operation of Discovery Bay Golf Club; (b)
operation of DB Ice Rink; (c) tendering process of Information
Technology Department; (d) operation of Brand Management
Department; (e) voting mechanism and arrangement in AGM of the
Company; and (f) other business units with audit follow-up. With
the implementation of follow-up measures after the reviews, the
effectiveness in areas with irregularities has gradually improved.
Findings on the reviews, control weaknesses, if any, and the relevant
recommendations have been presented to and accepted by the
Audit Committee and the Board in November 2021 and June 2022.
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The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Board, through
the works of the Audit Committee, risk management steering
group and the Internal Audit Department, has conducted an annual
review on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 and
considers that the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems for the year were effective and adequate. Management of
the Group has also provided confirmation to the Audit Committee
and the Board on the effectiveness of such systems for the year
under review.

HANDLING OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group complies with requirements of Securities and Futures
Ordinance ("SFO") and the Listing Rules. A Disclosure of Inside
Information Policy has established by the Company to set out the
procedures on reporting the likely inside information to ensure
that potential price sensitive or inside information of the Group can
be promptly identified, assessed and escalated for disseminating
to the public. The Company discloses inside information to the
public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the information falls
within any of the “Safe Harbours” as provided in the SFO. Before the
information is fully disclosed to the public, the Company ensures
the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Company believes
that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained
or that confidentiality may have been breached, the Company will
immediately disclose the information to the public. The Company is
committed to ensure that information contained in announcements
are not false or misleading as to any material fact, or false or
misleading through the omission of any material fact in view of
presenting information in a clear and balanced way, which requires
equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company strives to maintain a stable dividend to shareholders
and has adopted a dividend policy (the “Policy”). Pursuant to the
Policy, the declaration or recommendation of dividends is subject
to the sole discretion of the Board. The Board shall consider the
following factors before declaring or recommending dividends:

the Company'’s actual and expected financial performance;
shareholders’ interests;

the retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of the Group;

the level of the Group's debts to equity ratio, return on equity
and the relevant financial covenants;

any restriction on payment of dividends that may by imposed
by the Group's lenders;

the Group's expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plan;

general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's
motion control business or financial performance and position
of the Company;

taxation considerations;
statutory and regulatory restrictions; and
any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The Board will continually review the Policy and reserve the right
in its sole absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify
the Policy at any time, and the Policy shall in no way constitute a
legally binding commitment by the Company in respect of its future
dividend and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare dividend
at any time or from time to time.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE ESG REPORTING
GUIDE

The Group has complied with the ESG Reporting Guide of the Stock
Exchange and has released its standalone ESG Report for the year
ended 31 March 2022 online at the same time with the publication of
2021/2022 annual report, which captures in detail the Group's ESG-
related initiatives, policies and performance in Hong Kong, mainland
China and Thailand throughout the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration (save for directors’ fees which are subject
to shareholders’ approval at general meeting) is determined with
reference to prevailing market situation, their respective duties and
responsibilities and the Group’s remuneration policy. Under the terms
of reference of the Remuneration Committee, the Remuneration
Committee should make recommendation to the Board on the
remuneration policy and it has the delegated responsibilities to
determine the remuneration of the EDs. In general, the EDs under
the remuneration policy are entitled to (i) basic salary which will be
reviewed on an annual basis by making reference to remuneration
survey conducted by independent external consultant on companies
operating similar businesses; (ii) discretionary bonus which are
subject to the ED’s and the Company’s performance; and (iii)
contribution to retirement schemes and other fringe benefits.

The Executive Chairman, who is a member of the Remuneration
Committee, is involved in recommending proposals on the
remuneration of other EDs for due consideration and approval by the
Remuneration Committee. However, he abstains from voting when
his remuneration is reviewed and considered by the Remuneration
Committee. No Director will participate in the discussion and review
of his/her own remuneration under the remuneration policy.
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The remuneration of NEDs is in the form of annual director’s fee.
To ensure that NEDs are appropriately remunerated for their time
and responsibilities devoted to the Company, the Remuneration
Committee will take periodic reviews and consider the factors
including fees paid by comparable companies, time commitment,
responsibilities in the Company and the prevailing market situation,
and make recommendation for the approval of the Board pursuant to
the authority given by the shareholders at general meeting from time
to time. Currently, a sum of HK$100,000 per annum being the basic
fee for acting as a NED, additional fee of HK$100,000 per annum will
be paid to each member, who is NED, of each of the Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company and additional fee of HK$150,000 per
annum will be paid to each member, who is NED, of the Audit
Committee. An additional fee of HK$50,000 will also be paid to each
INED having a seat in any independent board committee which is
required to be set up from time to time under the Listing Rules.

All Directors are also eligible to be granted of share options under
the Company’s approved share option schemes. Each grant to
Directors is subject to the approvals of the Remuneration Committee,
INEDs and the Board having regard to their respective role and
responsibilities as well as the prevailing market situation.

Remuneration details of the Directors (on individual name basis)
for the year ended 31 March 2022 are disclosed in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements on pages 168 to 170 of 2021/2022
annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION AND
AUDITOR RELATED MATTERS

PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC") is the Independent Auditor of the
Company. The remuneration for audit services provided by PwC to
the Group for the year under review amounted to approximately
HKS$8.5 million. In addition to the audit fee, the Company had
appointed PwC for the interim results review and the other non-audit
advisory services, remuneration of which amounted to approximately
HK$2.8 million for the year under review.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules (including amendments as effected from time to
time) as its own code of conduct to regulate securities transactions
by Directors (the “Model Code”"). All Directors, who in office during
the financial year ended 31 March 2022 and remain at the date of
this annual report, have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the
Company, that they have complied with the required standard set
out in the Model Code during the year from 1 April 2021 to 31 March
2022 (both days inclusive). The Model Code has been extended to
and has become equally applicable to dealings in the securities
of the Company by members of senior management and relevant
employees.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is an employee of the
Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affair.
During the year ended 31 March 2022, she has taken not less than 15
hours of relevant professional training in accordance with rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules and will continue to comply with such requirement
for the year ending 31 March 2023 and report regularly.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to article 72 of the Articles, extraordinary general meetings
shall also be convened by the written requisition of any two
shareholders of the Company representing not less than 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company at the time of requisition.
Shareholders wishing to do so must serve a duly executed written
requisition to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at 23/F, China Merchants Tower, Shun Tak Centre, 168-
200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong (the “Principal Place of
Business”) specifying the object(s) of the meeting. If the Directors
do not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition
proceed to duly convene the meeting, such shareholders may
convene a physical general meeting at only one location, provided
that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by those shareholders as a result of
the failure of the Directors to convene the general meeting shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.
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In addition, any shareholder acting on his/her own or together with
other persons whose shareholding interests in the Company in
aggregate representing not less than 5% of the issued share capital of
the Company (other than the person to be proposed) may nominate
a person to stand for election as Director at the general meeting in
accordance with article 120 of the Articles. Any shareholder wishing
to do so must serve (a) a written notice of intention to propose
such person for election as Director; (b) a notice executed by that
person of his/her willingness to be elected; and (c) the information
of that person as required to be disclosed under rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules to the Principal Place of Business between the period
commencing from the date after the despatch of the notice of the
general meeting appointed for such election and ending on (and
excluding) the date that is seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting. The Company shall issue an announcement and/
or a supplementary circular, if applicable, to inform the shareholders
the biographical details of the candidate proposed if a valid notice to
propose a person to stand for election as Director is received.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company is committed to promoting and maintaining effective
communication with the shareholders and other stakeholders. A
Shareholders” Communication Policy has been adopted by the Board
which set out the Company’s policy for maintaining an on-going
dialogue with shareholders and investment community. The policy is
subject to regular review by the Corporate Governance Committee
to ensure its effectiveness. The Company’s AGM, for which at least
20 clear business days’ prior notice is given, is one of the principal
channels of communication with its shareholders. Shareholders have
the opportunity to communicate face to face with the Directors
if they have any questions on the Company’s performance and
operations. In addition to the AGM, extensive information on
the Company’s activities in respect of its financial, business and
operations is provided by way of announcements, annual and interim
reports and circulars which are sent to shareholders and/or are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
Investor/analysis briefing, media interviews, marketing activities
for investors etc will also be available from time to time in order to
facilitate communications between the Company, shareholders and
the investment community.
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Shareholders may also send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary. The Company
Secretary is responsible for forwarding communications relating
to matters within the Board’s direct responsibilities to the Board
and communications relating to ordinary business matters, such as
suggestions, inquiries and customers complaints, to the relevant
executive officers of the Company under the direction of the
Chairman of the Board and/or Managing Director of the Company.
While other investors and stakeholders may send their enquiries to
the Company'’s investor relation officer. The contact details of both
Company Secretary and investor relations officer of the Company are
set out in the Shareholders” Communication Policy, the full text of
which is available on the website of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 25 August
2021, a special resolution was passed by the shareholders of the
Company approving certain amendments to the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association ("M&A") to (i) consolidate
all the previous amendments to the M&A,; (ii) allow general meetings
to be held physically and/or electronically; (iii) set out other related
powers of the Board and the chairman of the meeting, including
making arrangements for attendance at general meetings as well
as ensuring the security and orderly conduct of meetings; (iv)
make other amendments for house-keeping purposes in line with
the proposed amendments in (ii) and (iii) above; (v) make other
amendments for house-keeping purposes to better align the M&A
with the provisions of the Listing Rules and the applicable laws of the
Cayman Islands; and (vi) make other miscellaneous amendments to
update or clarify provisions where it is considered desirable. Details
of the amendments were set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 23 June 2021 and circular dated 21 July 2021. The amended
M&A is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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Financial Highlights

B E

2022 2021
For the year ended 31 March BIE3A3MHLFE HK$'M HK$'M
Results E4 ER- )P BEAET
Revenue from continuing operations REEEEBRA 4,167.9 3,809.5
Profit attributable to owners KABHEA NFEMR ST
of the Company 1,097.3 897.3
Basic earnings per share arising from BERKIIEEEBEEDN
continuing and discontinued FRERZF GEW)
operations (HK cents) 73.9 60.4
2022 2021
At 31 March M3H31H HK$'M HKS'M
Financial Position B # AR R BEBT BEAETT
Total assets BEERE 43,407.5 38,145.0
Total liabilities BB 15,461.2 11,540.3
Equity attributable to owners of the RAEHER AL ER
Company 25,026.9 23,683.9
Net asset value per share (HKS$) BREEFEGET) 16.8 15.9
NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE (HKS)
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OVERALL RESULTS
RESULTS HIGHLIGHTS

The Group's revenue and underlying net profit excluding net
unrealised gains on fair value of investment properties for the FY2022
amounted to HK$4,167.9 million and HK$960.4 million, representing
increases of 9.4% and 10.6% as compared to HK$3,809.5 million
(restated) and HK$868.6 million for the preceding year respectively.

The Group's profit attributable to owners of the Company was
HKS$1,097.3 million, increased by 22.3% as compared to the preceding
year (2021: HK$897.3 million).

With the Group's disposal of all the medical businesses, the
segment results of healthcare of HK$27.5 million was reclassified as
discontinued operation and the Group's profit attributable to owners
of the Company from continuing operations was HK$1,069.8 million,
increased by 20.6% as compared to that for the preceding year.

Basic earnings per share of the Group from both continuing and
discontinued operations, and from continuing operations were
HK73.9 cents (2021: HK60.4 cents) and HK72.0 cents (2021: HK59.7
cents). Both increased by 22.3% and 20.6% respectively.

SEGMENT RESULT ANALYSIS
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

During the year, the Group recognised a segment revenue of
HKS$2,963.2 million (2021: HK$2,784.9 million) and net profit of
HK$450.1 million (2021: HK$735.8 million) from property sales and
other services rendered in Hong Kong and mainland China. Main
contributor included recorded sales of Poggibonsi and IL PICCO
in Hong Kong and Mansion One, Creekside One and Elite House
in mainland China. For the preceding year, the main contributor
included those sales of Oasis One and Elite House in mainland China.
As of 31 March 2022, the Group has HK$119.4 million contracted but
unrecognised property sales.
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PROPERTY INVESTMENT

The Group recorded segment revenue of HK$500.3 million (2021:
HKS$502.7 million) and segment profit of HK$920.7 million (2021:
HK$539.2 million). The sharp increase of segment profit was
attributable to: (i) the recognition of realised disposal gains upon the
completion of disposals of three Japan investment properties during
the year; (ii) the increase in the Group’s share of its result of HTH from
HKS$226.9 million to HK$276.4 million; and (iii) enhancement of the
Group's properties portfolio in mainland China and Hong Kong by
the newly acquired office premises, Jinsha INCITY in Hangzhou and
the newly renovated West Gate Tower, both contributed immediate
rental income.

TRANSPORTATION SERVICES AND PROPERTY
MANAGEMENT

Property management services continued to provide a stable
contribution to both revenue and net profit of the Group despite
the pandemic. With the stabilization of the COVID-19 pandemic
and gradual relaxation of social distancing measures, transportation
services in Discovery Bay were seeing rebound on average daily
ridership and revenues of the ferry and majority of the bus services
routes were reverting back to normal, pre-COVID-19 levels. The
segment recorded revenue of HK$224.1 million (2021: HK$206.6
million) and profit of HK$37.5 million (2021: HKS62.3 million). As
compared to that of the preceding year, the segment profit had
declined by 39.8% as a result of escalating fuel costs and lapse
of certain subsidies from the Hong Kong Government under the
Anti-epidemic Fund.

HOTEL OPERATIONS

The segment recorded revenue of HK$218.4 million (2021: HK$124.4
million) and loss of HK$31.3 million (2021: HK$82.4 million). The hotel
operation was one of the hardest hit segments of the Group as The
Sukhothai Bangkok’s operating performance had been impacted by
decrease in occupancy as a result of lockdown measures arising from
the COVID-19 pandemic for the most of the year. However, Auberge
Discovery Bay Hong Kong, which had been successful in delivering
above-the-market performance in occupancy and room rates with its
unique attractiveness for staycation, helped to reduce the overall loss
for the segment.
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LEISURE BUSINESSES

The segment including mainly Discovery Bay Recreation Club,
Club Siena, Discovery Bay Golf Club, LYC, DBIR and Peony Chinese
Restaurant. The segment recorded revenue of HK$261.9 million
(2021: HKS190.9 million) and loss of HKS5.7 million (2021: profit of
HKS$10.6 million) for the year. During the year, growth in membership
and occupancy of LYC and the increase in transfer of Discovery Bay
Golf Club’s debentures drove up the segment revenue. Segment
result however decreased by HK$16.3 million as a result of impact
of pandemic and certain business units are still at early stage of
operations since commencement of business.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES
NET DEBT AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As of 31 March 2022, the Group had total bank balances and cash
of HK$2,717.7 million (2021: HK$3,060.9 million) and a net debt of
HK$7,937.7 million (2021: HKS 4,623.9 million) after deducting total
bank borrowings and other loans of HK$10,655.4 million (2021:
HK$7,684.8 million).

As of 31 March 2022, about 43% of the Group's bank balance and
cash were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, 26% in Renminbi, 2%
in US dollars, 26% in Japanese yen and the remaining were mainly in
Singapore dollars and Thai baht.

As of 31 March 2022, the Group's debt portfolio comprised of
primarily bilateral and syndicated bank loans to finance its general
working capital and the development projects. The unlisted notes of
HK$300 million was issued under Medium Term Note programme in
May 2021.

The maturity profile of bank borrowings and other loans were 22.4%
(2021: 10.1%) falling within one year, 30.4% (2021: 1.4%) falling
between one and two years, 44.4% (2021: 88.5%) falling between two
and five years and 2.8% (2021: nil) falling over five years.

As of 31 March 2022, all bank borrowing and other loans were at
floating rate bases whereas the unlisted notes were in fixed coupon
rate. About 97% of the Group’s total bank borrowings and other loans
were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and the remaining were in
Japanese yen.
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SHAREHOLDERS' FUND AND GEARING

As of 31 March 2022, the shareholders’ funds of the Group increased
by HKS$1,343.0 million to HK$25,026.9 million (2021: HK$23,683.9
million).

The Group's gearing ratio was 31.7% (2021: 19.5%) as calculated by
the Group's consolidated net borrowings to the shareholders’ funds
as of 31 March 2022.

AVAILABILITY OF FACILITIES

Total available loan facilities as of 31 March 2022 were HK$14,638.6
million (2021: HK$10,461.0 million), of which 86.3% were committed.

As of 31 March 2022, the unutilised credit facilities were
approximately HK$3,956.2 million (2021: HK$2,772.4 million). The
Group closely monitors its liquidity requirements and arranges
financing for its development projects and operations as and when
appropriate.

During the year, the average financing cost was at 1.1% per annum
as compared to 1.4% per annum in the last corresponding period.

With the unutilised loan facilities, cash on hand and expected cash
flows from operations, the Group has sufficient financial resources
to fund its current commitments and future potential investment
opportunities ahead.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has centralised treasury functions and adopted a
conservative approach for its treasury management. The Group
closely reviews and monitors its foreign currency exposure. To
manage foreign currency exposure in certain overseas investments,
the Group maintains certain naturally hedged positions and will
make any swap or future arrangements as appropriate. The Group's
banking facilities are principally on floating rate basis and interest
rate swaps will be employed to manage interest rate risk for its short-
to medium-term borrowings when appropriate and necessary.

The use of derivative financial instruments is strictly controlled and
are primarily used for management of interest rate and currency
exposures. It is the policy of the Group to restrict the use of financial
derivatives for speculative purpose.
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MAJOR ACQUISITIONS, PROJECTS AND
DISPOSALS

In April 2021, the Group completed an acquisition of 18 shops and
residential units at Hollywood Road and Upper Lascar Row in Sheung
Wan at a consideration of HK$375.3 million.

In June 2021, the Group completed the acquisition of a plot of land
in Lin'an District, Hangzhou at a consideration of HK$557.0 million.

In May and August 2021, the Group paid the land premium of
Discovery Bay Master Plan 7.0E development in the total amount of
HK$5,240.2 million.

During September to December 2021, total instalment payment of
RMB409.6 million was made for an acquisition of office units and the
right of use of parking lots of a retail cum office building namely,
Jinsha INCITY located at Qiantang District, Hangzhou. The remaining
consideration of RMB4.0 million is expected to be settled by third
quarter of 2022.

In January 2022, the Group has paid the total consideration of
HK$1,023.0 million for the acquisition of a land lot at Songjiang
District, Shanghai.

In October 2021 and February 2022, the Group disposed of five
investment properties in Japan at the total consideration of
HKS$1,459.4 million. Sales of three investment properties were
completed in November 2021 and those of remaining two
investment properties were also completed in April 2022.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As of 31 March 2022, no bank loans of the Group were secured by
investment properties (2021: HK$306.6 million).

In addition, the loans to a joint venture by the Group amounting
to approximately HK$854.5 million (2021: HK$803.9 million) were
subordinated to banks to secure a banking facility granted to the
joint venture for financing the development in Tai Po.
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FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

The Group had financial guarantee contracts relating to a corporate
guarantee on the Group's proportionate share to the extent of
HKS$107.1 million (2021: HK$103.2 million) as of 31 March 2022 given
to a bank in respect of a banking facility granted to an investee
company.

The Company provided a corporate guarantee of proportionate share
to banks for securing a banking facility granted to a joint venture
to finance the development in Tai Po. The bank loan balance of
proportionate share of 40% is HK$1,616.1 million (2021: HK$1,052.5
million) as of 31 March 2022.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have other significant
financial guarantee contracts as of 31 March 2022.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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To the Shareholders of HKR International Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
WHAT WE HAVE AUDITED

The consolidated financial statements of HKR International Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out
on pages 106 to 251, comprise:

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2022;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

OUR OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA”")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

Valuation of investment properties held by the Group and its
joint venture

Recoverability of properties held for/under development for
sale
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Key Audit Matter

BRETEE

Valuation of investment properties held by the Group
and its joint venture

BEERASENAFHENKREYFH1EE

Refer to notes 4, 16 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 March 2022, the investment properties held by
the Group were stated at fair value of HK$14,303.1 million
with a net realised and unrealised gain of HK$447.9 million
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
The Group also has significant investment properties held
by its joint venture.

Independent external valuers were engaged to determine
the fair value of the investment properties held by the
Group and its joint venture.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNEFNAEEFRETEE

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of investment
properties included:

We understood management’s controls and processes
for determining the valuation of investment properties
and assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and the
judgements involved in determining the fair value;

We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuers;

We obtained the valuation reports and met the
independent external valuers to discuss the valuation
methodologies and key assumptions;
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Key Audit Matter
BRETTEE

Valuation of investment properties held by the Group
and its joint venture (Continued)

BEERASENAFHEHREYFN1LE (&)

Fair value of investment properties was generally derived
by using the income capitalisation approach and where
appropriate, the direct comparison approach. Income
capitalisation approach was based on the capitalisation of
the rental income and reversionary income potential by
adopting appropriate capitalisation rates and prevailing
market rents. Direct comparison approach assumed sale of
property interest in its existing state based on comparable
market transactions, as available in the relevant market.

We focus on this area because the fair values of investment
properties are subject to significant judgements and
estimation uncertainty.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNEFNAEEFRETEE

We involved our in-house valuation experts
and assessed the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies and the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the valuation of investment properties,
based on our knowledge of the property industry, research
evidence of capitalisation rates, prevailing market rents and
comparable market transactions for similar properties, where
applicable; and

We tested, on a sample basis, the data used in the
valuation of investment properties, including rental rates
from existing tenancies by agreeing them to the underlying
agreements with the tenants.

Based on the procedures performed, we found the
methodologies used in preparing the valuations were
appropriate and the key assumptions were supportable in
light of available evidence.

BZAZREBAMAREEER  REXMYFHE
TERAORB BEAECXOMRBE RODBSEEMA
EEENEOALRMER S (WER) - fFEAERE
WEETENEEE R T Z2RENAEN &

BN ELAEERNBARE  BFER
BHRENHES R  UEHEBRFHRETRZ -

ERNBEHATHENERF HMAER EXER[ERE
REOEEE  BXERRBIATBBERES °

EHALEREMERAR 21/22F8% 99



Independent Auditor’s Report
B M % BT R

Key Audit Matter
HRETEE

Recoverability of properties held for/under development
for sale

R ERFRE/ZREFYFER Y E M
Refer to notes 4 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying values of the Group’s
properties held for/under development for sale amounted
to HK$4,592.0 million and HK$4,596.8 million respectively.

Management assessed the recoverability of the properties
held by the Group based on estimates of the net realisable
values of the underlying properties. These involved the
estimation of selling prices of the properties based on
current market prices of properties of comparable locations
and conditions, the construction costs to complete based
on the existing development plans and the costs necessary
to make the sales, where applicable.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNEFNAEEFRETEE

Our procedures in relation to the recoverability of properties
held for/under development for sale included:

We understood and evaluated management’s internal
controls and processes in determining the net realisable
values of the properties and assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and the judgement involved in
determining the net realisable values;

We evaluated and tested the operating effectiveness
of key controls around the property development cycle
with particular focus on, but not limited to, controls over
cost budgeting for estimated costs to completion, where
applicable;
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Key Audit Matter
BRETTEE

Recoverability of properties held for/under development
for sale (Continued)

RUEEFRE/REFYER 7K 1 (&)

If the estimated net realisable values of the underlying
properties were significantly different from their carrying
values as a result of changes of market conditions and/or
significant variation in the budgeted development costs,
material write down for the properties held for/under
development for sale may result. Accordingly, the existence
of estimation uncertainty warrants specific audit focus and
attention on this area.
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNEFNAEEFRETEE

We evaluated management’s assessment on
the recoverability of the properties, and assessed the
reasonableness of key assumptions and estimates in
management’s assessment including:

(i) For the estimated selling prices, we compared, on a
sample basis, to the current market prices of properties of
comparable locations and conditions; and

(i)  For the estimated costs to completion and costs
necessary to make the sales, we assessed the reasonableness
of the costs necessary to make the sales and the latest
budgets of total construction costs and tested, on a sample
basis, the construction costs to committed contracts and
other supporting information.

Based on the procedures performed, we found the
key assumptions in the recoverability assessment were
supportable in light of available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Ho Chiu Ping, Dennis.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
EOERKESTTMEHAAR
Certified Public Accountants

L ES 4]

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
B - 2022664298

HEBZZBGBBENTET - HAIHEE MWL
EFRHARGEAVBRRNBIAZRER
MR R =T ER - WAIERBEMRE TR
MBELFR - BIFERZRIAFLAHARES
LETE SEBRFLNBERT  MRAER
HERMRETBARXRFTHRENNEERREB
BEENARHNG  RIIRETEERS A
BZER

HEARBYZERMHENETFHEEEAZM
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
melEER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z=202243A310 IEFE

2022
HK$'M
ER- )P
Notes
Bt 5%

Continuing operations BREREER
Revenue A 5 4,167.9
Cost of sales HE KA (2,675.9)
Gross profit EF 1,492.0
Other income E kA 6 229.1
Other gains and losses HE Uz g 7 (45.0)
Selling, administrative and other HE - THRREMZEERX

operating expenses (667.3)
Change in fair value and gains on BREMEAFEEHREEZ

disposals of investment properties U =

Realised gains on disposals HERBER WS 16 384.6

Unrealised gains REH W 16 63.3
Finance costs Eﬁf&gﬁﬁ 8 (123.3)
Share of results of associates pak sy AW/NCIE (0.2)
Share of results of joint ventures SIEEENFIEE 343.4
Profit before taxation & T BT oa A 9 1,676.6
Taxation 18 10 (483.9)
Profit for the year from continuing FHE I 2 G ARF E R A

operations 1,192.7
Discontinued operation ERIEREEL
Profit for the year from discontinued BRI A T AN SR )

operation 12 26.8
Profit for the year REZE G F 1,219.5
Profit for the year attributable to owners  ZN'A & G A B 1k A5 & % Fl

of the Company

From continuing operations KEABEREET 1,069.8

From discontinued operation KEE KR IEEEER 12 27.5
Profit for the year attributable to owners  ZNA &1 A A B 15 A5 £ % Fl

of the Company 11 1,097.3
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to JEIE RS B ANE S m T/

non-controlling interests (E18)

From continuing operations REFELEES 122.9

From discontinued operation REBKRIEEEER 12 (0.7)
Profit for the year attributable to FE 120 A% 25 (G AN 0 A

non-controlling interests 122.2
Earnings per share from continuing REBELEEBERAT

operations 15

Basic (HK cents) B (BAL) 72.0

Diluted (HK cents) #5E OB) 72.0
Earnings per share from discontinued REERIEKREEBTRAT

operation 15

Basic (HK cents) B (L) 1.9

Diluted (HK cents) s (B 1.9
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2021
HKS'M
BEET
(restated)
(E5)

3,809.5
(2,043.1)

1,766.4
279.8
83.7

(658.2)

35
20.0
(87.6)

©.n
220.6

1,628.1
(510.8)

887.4
9.9

897.3

2299
1.4

2313

59.7
59.7

0.7
0.7



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income
meEzEkEMEZEBER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #(Z=2022%3831R [EF[E

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income/(expense):
Items that will not be reclassified
to profit or loss
Investments in equity instruments
measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income:
Fair value changes during the year
Deferred tax arising from fair value
changes

Items that may be subsequently reclassified

to profit or loss

Exchange differences arising from foreign
joint ventures

Exchange differences arising from
translation of other foreign operations

Release of exchange reserve upon
deregistration of foreign subsidiaries

Other comprehensive income for the year,
net of tax

Total comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income attributable to
owners of the Company arises from:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operation

A
H A2 i/ (%)

BT EEHHEEA%Z AR
AT EE AR R
HEZRATARE

FRAFER

AT ERBE L7 FEHE

HEXCEN 7 E R 2R

BIINRERBELEZENEH

BEHMBEINRTELEZER
=8

RN IEPNGIE € Bl sgdiis
BEE 3 o

»

RERE 2 ERRETE

ToEAEER AR
EN/NCTEZ 2PN
FEIER 25

ARBERAREZERSAER
x’E :

FRBREER
ERIEEEER

2022 2021
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEBT
1,219.5 1,128.6
(8.0) (3.5)
- (0.7)
(8.0) (4.2)
310.0 563.7
44.4 411.6
(0.3) (77.8)
354.1 897.5
346.1 893.3
1,565.6 2,021.9
1,443.4 1,790.6
122.2 231.3
1,565.6 2,021.9
1,417.9 1,777.0
255 13.6
1,443.4 1,790.6
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e M BARR R

At31 March 2022 7202293 A31H

Non-current assets

Investment properties

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Interests in associates

Interests in joint ventures

Properties held for development
for sale

Equity instruments measured
at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Investments in debt instruments
measured at amortised cost

Other assets

Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Inventories

Properties held for sale

Properties under development
for sale

Trade receivables

Deposits, prepayments and other
receivables

Amounts due from associates

Amounts due from joint ventures

Investments in debt instruments
measured at amortised cost

Taxation recoverable

Bank balances and cash

Assets classified as held for sale
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FRBEE

LIS
EN T
ERBEE
8D 2
ABAT 2R
HREFERDE

BEAFEFAREMER
Wit 82 BATA

BRAFEFABRZ
SREAE

R AT B 2 BT
TAKE

Hi&E

B IBEEE

MENEE

&
FIEHEME
HEEERTYE

FEUWE 5B

me - T REREM
JiE U 3k T8

JE UL B N B FRIB
fEU A &R EIFRIA
REB K AT E B
TEAKE

A 3R 6] 7 I8
RITHBRIRE

DERRFKIELEZEE

Notes

B =

16
17
18
20

24

21

21
22
33

23

24
25
26(a)

19, 26(b)
26(c)

26(a), 36(c)

27

2022
HK$'M
BEBERT

14,303.1
2,741.8
85.5

10,222.2

4,592.0

44.2

528.0

73.0
702.0
57.6

33,349.4

325
877.8

4,596.8
63.9

1,252.4
4.1
205.3

34.3
85.8
2,717.7

9,870.6
187.5

10,058.1

2021
HK$'M
BEAT

15,075.2
2,768.0
103.0

9,643.0

9324

526

5273

85.1
3357
113.9

29,636.2

443
2,205.1

21316
79.5

733.9
4.1
193.3

26.8
293
3,060.9

8,508.8

8,508.8



2022 2021

Notes HK$'M HKS'M
B 5 BEAT BEBTT
Current liabilities REBARE
Trade payables, provision and ENESER  BER
accrued charges FEEtE R 28 1,081.3 1,032.2
Deposits received and other financial B Wik4 R EM &
liabilities =K 159.9 151.7
Contract liabilities aHAR 29 138.8 300.2
Bank and other loans due within —FRBEZRITREAM
one year B® 30 2,390.8 776.8
Lease liabilities HEAE 31 7.1 18.9
Other liabilities due within one year —FRINPHEMEE 32 - 295.0
Taxation payable e 18 320.7 4633
4,098.6 3,038.1
Net current assets MBEEFE 5,959.5 5,470.7
Total assets less current liabilities REERTEEE 39,308.9 35,106.9
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Contract liabilities EHNEaE 29 63.8 303
Bank and other loans due after —FRB B2 RITREAM
one year B 30 8,264.6 6,908.0
Lease liabilities HE&E 37 52.6 57.9
Other liabilities due after one year —FiRIBHsEMEE 32 2,479.1 1,037.0
Deferred tax liabilities R IARE 33 502.5 469.0
11,362.6 8,502.2
27,946.3 26,604.7
Capital and reserves BEAR K
Share capital N 34 371.3 3713
Reserves s 24,655.6 233126
Equity attributable to owners of the KAEHER ABELERS
Company 25,026.9 23,6839
Non-controlling interests FE 12 AR 4 2 2,919.4 2,920.8
27,946.3 26,604.7

The consolidated financial statements on pages 106 to 251 were 1068 £ F251B FiH 44 B R KX S 1K2022
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 FeHoR EZEE=oHt ERIFEFZE - Y H T

June 2022 and are signed on its behalf by: NEERKREE :
TANG Moon Wah NGAN Man Ying
Managing Director Executive Director
B 2 B %
EFsE HiTEE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # E20224F3H31R It FE

Cash (used in)/generated from
operations
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid
Overseas tax paid

Net cash (used in)/from operating
activities
Investing activities

Repayment of loan from a joint
venture

Cash distribution from a joint venture
Proceeds from disposal of property,

plant and equipment

Net cash inflow on disposal of
subsidiaries

Redemption of investments in
debt instruments measured at
amortised cost

Proceeds from disposal of financial

assets at fair value through profit

or loss
Interest received
Proceeds from disposal of
investment properties
Loans to joint ventures
Additions of investment properties
Additions of property,
plant and equipment
Addition of investments in debt
instruments measured at
amortised cost
Addition of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss

Net cash from/(used in) investing
activities

112 HKR International Limited Annual Report 21/22

L& (R /MERE

ENEEMNER

B EIMIIA
LEXK (A /MERE
R

REERSY

BELNAIERER

KEARZRARNEEDIK
HEYME BERREZ
AT 1S 508
HEMBARIZEAZRA
R
BOREHERAGEZ
EHLARE

HERAFEFABRZ
TREEZ SRR

EEEl)S)
HEREMEZRERA

EXTAERTA
NEREME
NEWE  BELRME

NERBHERAGEZ
BEHLAKRE

AERRFEFARREZ

TREE
KBRS (TR RS
AR

2022
Notes HK$'M
B 5 BEAET

36(a) (4,668.7)
(194.3)
(386.8)

(5,249.8)

93.5
60.0

14.0

37 283.4
28.1
29.2
22.7

16 1,470.5
(66.5)

(584.4)

(188.6)

(31.6)

(28.5)

1,101.8

2021
HK$'M
BEAT

1,441.5
(37.6)
(444.3)

959.6

79.5
110.1

0.8

30.0

20.1
17.2

1471
(107.1)

(444.3)

(276.2)

(31.0)

(48.6)

(502.4)



Financing activities

New bank and other loans raised

Advance from a non-controlling
shareholder

Club debentures issued

Repayment of bank and other loans

Interest paid

Dividends paid

Repayment of lease liabilities

Repayment of shareholder loan to a
non-controlling shareholder

Dividend paid to a non-controlling
shareholder

Net cash from/(used in) financing
activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the
year

BE LB
#I8 IR1T R E A B 5K
FEERRBR 2R
BTG MES
BERTREMER
BERNFE
Bk A S

BEMEARE
T 428 i e SR B 38 R

5
H A

E A JF 42 AR A SRR A+ AR

MERDAS (FAA)RS
HER

BekReFEEBERZ
CRLA) /B hF 2R

FU2REMAEFEEEB

EE2D Y E
FRZASRRLSMEER

Notes

B =E

36(b)

36(c)

2022 2021

HKS$'M HKS'M
BEAT BEBTT
8,770.0 49134
1,572.0 =
3.2 24
(5,734.6) (4,520.7)
(120.7) (119.1)
(118.8) (163.4)
(22.2) (23.7)
(463.2) (195.7)
(124.1)
3,761.6 (106.8)
(386.4) 3504
3,060.9 2,511.4
43.2 199.1
2,717.7 3,060.9
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # E20224F3H31R It FE

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

HKR International Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability and
its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
Corporate Information section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) are principally engaged
in the development, management and provision of essential and
recreational services for residential housing and leisure projects in
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island, other property development, property
investment and hotel operations. The Group’s associates and joint
ventures are principally engaged in property development and
property investment.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company.

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT ARE
MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE CURRENT YEAR

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
for the first time in the current year:

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
Phase 2

Amendments to HKAS 39,
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 16

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments to HKFRS 16
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The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group'’s financial position and
performance and on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.

The Interest Rate Benchmark Reform amendments to HKFRSs were
issued by HKICPA in two phases. The Phase 1 amendments deal
with pre-replacement issues (issues affecting financial reporting
in the period before the replacement of an existing interest rate
benchmark). The Phase 1 amendments provide temporary exceptions
to specific hedge accounting requirements, to avoid entities having
to discontinue hedging relationships solely due to the uncertainty
arising from the reform of interest rate benchmarks. These
amendments apply to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 April 2020, and were addressed in Amendments to HKFRS 7, HKFRS
9 and HKAS 39 “Interest Rate Benchmark Reform”, which the Group
adopted during the year ended 31 March 2021.

The Phase 2 amendments address issues that might affect financial
reporting during the reform of interest rate benchmarks, including
the effects of changes to contractual cash flows or hedging
relationships arising from the replacement of an interest rate
benchmark with an alternative benchmark rate (replacement issues).
The Phase 2 amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 April 2021 and are to be applied retrospectively.
Restatement of prior periods is not required.

The Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 amendments include
the following practical expedients:

A practical expedient to require contractual changes, or
changes to cash flows that are directly required by the reform of
interest rate benchmarks, to be treated as changes to a floating rate,
equivalent to a movement in a market rate of interest.

Permit changes required by reform of interest rate benchmarks
to be made to hedge designation and hedge documentation without
the hedging relationship being discontinued.

Provide temporary relief to entities from having to meet the
separately identifiable requirement when an alternative nearly
risk-free interest rate instrument is designated as a hedge of a risk
component.

RAFERBRETREVHRELERL EY
SEZHBRRRKRREZEHEE M BERRAA
B HEBKENEARE -

ERCMAT MEBREHRE ST HBREE
Bl 2 F| R EEREIEET - B —EERISFTRIER
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There is no transition to alternative benchmark rates entered by
the Group. The Group has certain bank and other loans that are
interest-bearing at the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR").
Details are set out in Note 30 to consolidated financial statements.

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets

HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current

Amendments to HKAS 1 and

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Amendments to HKAS 12

Transaction
Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements

Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for Common

(Revised) Control Combinations
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements
(2020) — Classification by the Borrower

of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

The Group anticipates that the application of above new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

116 HKR International Limited Annual Report 21/22

SEYEREERREENK KEFE T
BERTEAERSFFEORITREMER - 57F
BFERN AR A P MR M FE30

EEMEERERZHITREBTE
B B 35 R 2R

SEWRIZRIER AT ERMAE AR EBZH

FIRBERTBEAM RS LR
BB E ER ol 3=%9
FE175%

BB EER
35 (BRI A)
BBV HmEERE

PSRRI

¢l

?x,\%éﬁiﬁﬁ NG

105 R BB EET % ANRIEZE
B g5 285k (I 5T A) Euﬂ%iﬁ@iﬁ

BB ERZE 1] MBS IERBBEC
(BETA&) o}

BRI ENEIHR STHEZEE
BB 1R 2R
BESERE2R
(BFTA)

BB LRI ZE85R AN ER
(BET &)

BB ERE12S HBE-XSFELE
(BFTA) EENBEAEBZ

BEGTERFISE WX BEERE-Z

SEHEN), BT A AT A AR 28
Al B FT 1S 5K
BB EwEER fﬂ“/\%’]

175 (BT A)

95;‘%@%%&%%7% ZEAN-EBITED
(BETA) /9 AR AR
FE U BEBUBREZER
20184 220204 A HA
2 FEBUE
S5T85BS HENES 2B NS
(&455]) =R 32
BEAMEBLASEESE HEBEHRRIB-EX
(2020) AE B SR BER 2
SKAE 2 6 R E B
BER®NE
SEEFEALLRFIIREETEEMBRE
EE,JJH TEHEE AV BRRELETERY
486

o

1



3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for mortgage instalment receivables,
investment properties and financial instruments that are measured
at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 “Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 “Leases”, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in HKAS 36
“Impairment of Assets”.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs is to be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the
results of the valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either

directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Group.
Control is achieved when the Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.
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When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an
investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are
sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group's voting rights
in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the
size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or
other parties;

rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the
Group has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including
voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
are attributed to owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERERE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY NOT CONSTITUTING
A BUSINESS

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to investment properties which
are subsequently measured under fair value model, and financial
assets and financial liabilities at the respective fair values, the
remaining balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the
other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair
values at the date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise
to goodwill or bargain purchase gain.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of
control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures
are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting. The financial statements of associates
and joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the associates and joint ventures
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of
an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that
associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
interest in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the investment.
Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group's consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or
joint venture that are not related to the Group.

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good and service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERERE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred
to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for
impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right
to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations
(including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligations,
the Group allocates the transaction price to each performance
obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at contract
inception. It represents the price at which the Group would sell a
promised good or service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone
selling price is not directly observable, the Group estimates it using
appropriate techniques such that the transaction price ultimately
allocated to any performance obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring the promised goods or services to the customer.
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Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value
of the goods or services transferred to the customer to date relative
to the remaining goods or services promised under the contract, that
best depict the Group's performance in transferring control of goods
or services.

As a practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration in
an amount that corresponds directly with the value of the Group's
performance completed to date, the Group recognises revenue in
the amount to which the Group has the right to invoice.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if
the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides
the customer or the Group with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing component. A significant
financing component may exist regardless of whether the promise
of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of the
associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group applies
the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price for any
significant financing component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer
of the associated goods or services in which the Group adjusts for
the promised amount of consideration for a significant financing
component, the Group applies a discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. The relevant interest expenses
during the period between the advance payments were received and
the transfer of the associated goods and services are accounted for
on the same basis as other borrowing costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERERE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs that the
Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer that it would not
have incurred if the contract had not been obtained.

The Group recognises such costs (sales commissions) as an asset
if it expects to recover these costs. The asset so recognised is
subsequently amortised to profit or loss on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or services
to which the assets relate.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would otherwise
have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one year.

LEASES
The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative standalone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of buildings and office equipment that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is
located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred
to produce inventories.

Except for those that are recognised as investment properties and
measured under fair value model, right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the
lease term are depreciated from commencement date to the end
of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the
definition of investment property as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position. Right-of-use assets that
meet the definition of investment property are presented within
“investment properties”.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liabilities at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.
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The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement
date;

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope
and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liabilities based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by
making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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The Group as lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term except for investment properties measured under fair value
model. Variable lease payments for operating leases that depend
on an index or a rate are estimated and included in the total lease
payments to be recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as income when they arise.

Rental income which are derived from the Group's ordinary course of
business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components,
the Group applies HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customer”
to allocate consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated from lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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FOREIGN CURRENCIES

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in a foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group’s interests in associates or joint ventures.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during that period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the retained
interest becomes a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation, attributable to
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

128 HKR International Limited Annual Report 21/22

S

HESERNEEERPEHRERET  UZEE
e ERUINEE (INE)ET IR G TIIER S
B BITERER - NS MEHKR - LA
HIEzEEBEENE B ZRITEREHNRE -
BAFESEEBIRINEDE 2 IEEMKIAR TR
BETAFEEBRITERENRE - LINEFE
PRAFEZIEBEE R TENRE -

REEKHRBELRENRESRHEMELZE
R%%ﬁ@ﬁé%iﬁﬂ?%"%@ﬁﬁﬁ@m MR SR
TR INR T At B 5T 8RS RTRE 3 A& (F
&t%&%%%ﬂ‘%&éﬁ%éﬁz—*ﬁ D) < B IR
BZENEZMERI RFEXEBY TN EM
2HAEARER  IREEXHLILERER
fERR B ERRZIREREREEHN DA

Bz e

MENGEMBREAME KEXBKLEER
BEORERENRATEXRELEE 2
FIE (BNETT) - WA KRRXIAR THRBAAF

HEXRBE  RIFEMHRNERERERNKE - M
RUEEBERT - AIEERARSERRITZER -

FEAERZ (B NEM2ERE
Rz (EXHEBET) P REf -

TR

REERENEB (AL EERBENRIINRE Z M
Biesm IS RREERERBRIEHB ZHER
AIEGIRZEE  IHFEARIEHTZALER
PEskigt 2 N AR AT HE MR E X
R-HEEREE)  MERNRBAHEAARZE
BREMNERRFZELEZEEWNENR OB

Bz e



In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised
in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals
of associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share
of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or
loss.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time
as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
For properties under development, the Group ceases to capitalise
borrowing costs as soon as the properties are ready for the Group's
intended sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general
borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

TAXATION

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on the tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when
they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than freehold land and construction
in progress as described below). Property, plant and equipment are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost, less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured at cost less
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management and,
for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with
the Group's accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the
same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold
land and the building elements in proportion to the relative fair
values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for
as an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties under the fair
value model. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.
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If a property becomes an investment property because its use
has changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any
difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of that
item (including the relevant leasehold land at the date of transfer
is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
asset revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the
property, the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly
to accumulated profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets, other
than freehold land and construction in progress, less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method.

Hotel properties
Freehold land
Buildings, commercial and

3 - 40 years
No depreciation
5 — 50 years, or over the lease term

leisure facilities if shorter
Leasehold improvements 5 years, or over the lease term
if shorter
Furniture, fixtures and 3 -7 years
equipment
Plant, machinery and 515 years
equipment
Ferries, launches and motor 3 - 20 years

vehicles

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation (including properties under construction for such
purpose).

Investment properties also include leased properties which are being
recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the Group under
operating leases.
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Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude
any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they
arise.

Construction cost incurred for investment properties under
construction are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the
investment properties under construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no
future economic benefits are expected from its disposals.

If there is a transfer from investment property carried at fair value
to owner-occupied property evidenced by the commencement
of owner occupation, the property’s deemed cost for subsequent
accounting shall be its fair value at the date of change in use.

The Group transfers a property from properties held for/under
development for sale to investment property when there is a
change in use to hold the property to earn rentals or/and for capital
appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business,
which is evidenced by the observable actions taken to support the
change in use. Any difference between the fair value of the property
at the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount is recognised
in profit or loss.

IMPAIRMENT ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there
is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss (if any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and
intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that they may
be impaired.
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The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that
corporate assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a
cash-generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of
a group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR
SALE

Properties held for/under development for sale are carried at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on
a specific identification basis including allocation of the related
development expenditure incurred and where appropriate,
borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for the properties less estimated cost to
completion and costs necessary to make the sales.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to properties
held for sale upon completion. Properties under development for
sale included in the current assets are expected to be realised in, or is
intended for sale in the Group’s normal operating cycle.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties held for sale are completed properties and are classified
under current assets. Properties held for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost relating to the development of
properties, comprising lands and development costs, are included in
properties under development for sale until such time when they are
completed. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
less all anticipated costs to be incurred in marketing and selling.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
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PROVISIONS

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")), are added to
or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI"):

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual cash
flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in
a business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations”

applies.
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(i) Financial assets at amortised cost and debt instruments
designated as at FVTOCI

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and
debt instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI.
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the subsequent
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss
will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to accumulated profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included
in the “other income” line item in profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at

amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “other gains and losses” line item.
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Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL") model on financial assets (including investments in debt
instruments measured at amortised cost, trade receivables, loan to
a joint venture, loan to an investee, other receivables, amounts due
from associates, amounts due from joint ventures, bank balances)
and other item (financial guarantee contracts) which are subject
to impairment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are done
based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors with
significant balances and/or collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor; and

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (i) the borrower has
a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in
the near term and (iii) adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash
flow obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to have
low credit risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of
“investment grade” as per globally understood definitions.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing impairment. In
assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit
risk since initial recognition of financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will
default on the contract.
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The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event
of default occurs when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

(i)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the following events:

(@)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

(b)  a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not

otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial recognition. For a lease
receivable, the cash flows used for determining the ECL is consistent
with the cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the
expected losses is the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any
other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective
interest rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply a discount
rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if,
and to the extent that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting
the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.
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Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where
evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be available,
the financial instruments are grouped on the following basis:

Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group's trade and
other receivables, are each assessed as a separate group. Loans to
associates and joint ventures are assessed for ECL on an individual
basis);

Past-due status;
Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of
the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are recognised
at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount initially recognised less,
where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised over
the guarantee period.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises
reversal of impairment or impairment loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables, where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts
it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to accumulated profits.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification of debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities, except for derivative financial liabilities, are

subsequently measured at amortised costs, using the effective
interest method.
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Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including bank and other loans, trade payables,
deposits received, advances from non-controlling shareholders,
advances from joint ventures and club debentures are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
Club debentures were issued to members at the principal amount
and is recognised initially at fair value. The difference between the
initial fair value and the principal amount is recognised as deferred
income. Deferred income is recognised to profit or loss over the
terms of debentures.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee
contracts are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with HKFRS 9; and

the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes/
state-managed retirement benefits schemes/the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair
value of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit
or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in share options reserve will be transferred to share premium. When
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to accumulated profits.
Regarding to the share options of the subsidiary, when share
options are exercised after the vesting date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve of a subsidiary will be transferred
to share of net assets of subsidiaries within non-controlling interests.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS/SUBSIDIES

Grants/subsidies from the government are recognised at their fair
values where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant/subsidies
will be received and the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them. Government grants/subsidies relating to costs
are deferred and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate. Government grants/subsidies relating to the purchase
of property, plant and equipment are deducted from the cost of the
property, plant and equipment.

DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognised as
a liability in the financial statements in the financial period when the
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders/directors,
where appropriate.
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ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale when
their carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a
sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is
considered highly probable. They are measured at the lower of
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying
amount is to be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. Investment properties classified
as assets held for sale are stated at fair value at the end of the
reporting period.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that has been
disposed of and that represents a separate major line of business.
The results of discontinued operations are presented separately in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The Group has considered the existing and potential impacts arising
from the COVID-19 when preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Assumptions and estimate are based on circumstances
and conditions available when the consolidated financial statements
were prepared and in particular, assumed that the current market
condition as a result of the COVID-19 is not a long-term norm. Given
the severity, duration and economic consequences of the COVID-19
are uncertain, actual results may differ significantly from those
assumptions and estimates. The Group will remain alert and cautious
on the ongoing development of COVID-19 that may cause further
volatility and uncertainty in the global financial market, economy and
business environment, and will take necessary measures to address
the impact arising therefrom.
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The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The followings are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimation, that the directors of the Company have made
in the process of applying the Group'’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the directors of the Company have reviewed the investment property
portfolio of the Group and concluded that none of the investment
properties are held under a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the investment properties over time. Therefore, the directors of the
Company have determined that the “sale” presumption that the
carrying amounts of investment properties measured using the fair
value model are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. The
Group has not recognised any deferred taxes on changes in fair value
of investment properties to the extent in which the disposal of those
investment properties are not subject to income taxes.

The directors of the Company also determined the investment
properties held by a joint venture whose business objective is to
consume substantively all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore,
the directors of the Company have determined that the “sale”
presumption set out in HKAS 12 is rebutted.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Management had made the following estimations that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated
financial statements and a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.
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Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties are carried in the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2022 at their fair value of
HKS$14,303.1 million (2021: HK$15,075.2 million) (Note 16). The
fair value was based on valuation of these properties conducted
by independent firms of professional valuers (the “Valuers”). In
determining the fair values of the Group’s investment properties,
the Valuers applied a market value basis which involves, inter-alia,
significant unobservable inputs and significant judgements,
representing appropriate market rent, capitalisation rates and
adjusted market price that has taken into account of property-specific
adjustments including location and timing of referenced transactions.
In determining the fair values of the Group’s investment properties
under construction, the Valuers applied a market value basis which
involves, inter-alia, significant unobservable inputs and significant
judgements, representing appropriate market rent, capitalisation
rates, estimated construction costs to be incurred and developer's
profit. The management of the Company has reviewed the valuation
techniques and inputs for fair value measurements.

As at 31 March 2022, the fair value of the investment properties
held by a joint venture amounted to HK$25,277.3 million (2021:
HK$24,057.0 million) (Note 20) and the Group's share of the value of
the investment properties amounted to HK$12,638.7 million (2021:
HK$12,028.5 million). The valuation of such investment properties
was conducted by an independent firm of professional valuers
(the “Valuer”). In determining the fair value of the joint venture's
investment properties, the Valuer applied a market value basis which
involves, inter-alia, significant unobservable inputs and significant
judgements, representing appropriate rentals and capitalisation rates.
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Properties held for/under development for sale

Management reviews the recoverability of the Group’s properties
held for/under development for sale amounting to HK$9,188.8 million
(2021: HK$3,064.0 million) (Note 24) with reference to current market
environment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of the assets may exceed its net realisable
value. Write-down for estimated irrecoverable amounts is recognised
in profit or loss when the net realisable value is below cost. The
estimates of net realisable value are based on the evidence available
at the time the estimates are made of the amount the properties
held for/under development for sale that are expected to realise.
Actual realised amount may differ from estimates or changes in facts
and circumstances may result in downward revision of estimated net
realisable value of these properties held for/under development for
sale and additional write-down may be required.

Interests in joint ventures

The Group determines whether interests in joint ventures are
impaired by regularly review whether there are any indicators of
impairment of the investments by reference to the requirements
under HKAS 28 (2011) “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures”
and HKAS 36. For investments where impairment indicators exist,
management estimated the recoverable amounts of the investments,
being higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.

The measurement of ECL of the loans to joint ventures is measured
as either 12m ECL or lifetime ECL, depending on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
through the management’s critical assessment on the recoverable
amounts based on cash flows from underlying assets, the actual
and expected changes in business performance and general market
default rate. If a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has
occurred since initial recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime ECL.
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

The Group amended its basis for segment reporting to align it with
the operating division that is used internally by the chief operating
decision maker for reviewing segment performance. A new “leisure
businesses” segment is created to include all services provided by
Discovery Bay Recreation Club, Club Siena, Discovery Bay Golf Club,
Lantau Yacht Club (those were previously included as “services
provided”) and DB Ice Rink (that was previously included as “property
investment”) and the previous “services provided” segment is
renamed as “transportation services and property management”. The
comparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2021 have been
restated on the new operating segment classification to enhance
year-to-year comparison.

The Group is organised into five operating divisions: property
development, property investment, transportation services and
property management, hotel operations and leisure businesses. Each
of the operating divisions represents an operating and reportable
segment.

The segment information reported as below does not include the
financial information of "Healthcare” operating segment as it has
become a discontinued operation described in Note 12. Accordingly,
the comparative figures of the segment information for the year
ended 31 March 2021 are re-presented.
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(i) DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE (i) WADHE
Continuing operations HEKEXER

For the year ended 31 March 2022

BR02F3A31ALFE
Transportation
services and
Property Property property Hotel Leisure

development investment ~ management operations businesses Total

RBRBR
ES E3IE NEEE BEEH UNCESS a3t
HK$'M HKS'M HK$'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M

BEER BEER BEER BEER BEER BEER

Types of goods or services: ERSREES:
Sales of properties HENE 2,937.9 - - - - 2,937.9
Hotel revenue BIERA - - - 2184 - 2184
Other services rendered RAEE A IR 213 313 2233 - 261.7 537.6
Revenue from contracts with PERIZEE A ON

customers 2,959.2 313 2233 2184 261.7 3,693.9
Rental income BEWA 40 469.0 0.8 - 0.2 4740
Consolidated revenue, asreported AN » 2R 2,963.2 500.3 2241 2184 2619 4,167.9
Geographical markets: WEmS:
Hong Kong B 1,119.6 455.0 224.1 188.6 2619 2,249.2
Mainland China T At 1,8313 9.0 - - - 1,840.3
Japan A& - 363 - - - 363
South East Asia HED 123 - - 298 - 42,1
Total @t 2,963.2 500.3 224.1 218.4 2619 4,167.9
Timing of revenue recognition: W ABER IR :
A point in time REABES 2,937.9 - 208.0 96.0 2114 3,453.3
Overtime 3515 213 313 153 1224 503 240.6
Total @t 2,959.2 313 2233 2184 261.7 3,693.9
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Types of goods or services:

Sales of properties

Hotel revenue

Other services rendered

Revenue from contracts with
customers

Rental income

Consolidated revenue, as reported

Geographical markets:
Hong Kong

Mainland China

Japan

South East Asia

Total

Timing of revenue recognition:
A point in time

Qver time

Total

EmIRHER
HENR
BERA
REALRE

REZPAHZUA

BRARRER
RAEE R
B

st

Property
development

ME%E
HKSM
BEAT

2,766.1

133

27194
55

2,7849

15587
11832

430
2,7849

2,766.1
133

27794

Property
investment

VESE
HKS'M
BEET

294
294

4733
502.7

4460

56.7

502.7

294
294

For the year ended 31 March 2021
HEMFIANALEE

Transportation
services and
property Hotel
management operations
RERB R
NEEE BEZE
HKS'M HKS'M
BEAT BEAT
- 1244
206.6 -
206.6 1244
2066 1244
2066 1041
- 203
2066 1244
1910 588
156 656
206.6 1244

Leisure
businesses

UEY
HKSM
BEET

1909

1909

1909

1909

1909

1034
875

1909

Total

h
HKSM
BEET

2,766.1
1244
440.2

33307
4788

3,809.5

2,5063
11832
5.7
633

3,8095
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(i) PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS FOR CONTRACTS
WITH CUSTOMERS

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT

Revenue from sales of residential properties is recognised at a point
in time when the completed property is transferred to customers,
being at the point that the customer obtains the control of the
completed property and the Group has present right to payment and
collection of the consideration is probable.

The Group receives 5% to 70% of the contract value as deposits
from customers when they sign the sale and purchase agreement.
However, depending on market conditions, the Group may offer
customers a discount compared to the listed sales price, provided
that the customers agree to pay the balance of the consideration
early while construction is still ongoing. Such advance payment
schemes result in contract liabilities being recognised throughout
the property construction period for the full amount of the contract
price.

The Group considers the advance payment schemes contain
significant financing component and accordingly the amount of
consideration is adjusted for the effects of the time value of money
taking into consideration the credit characteristics of the Group.
As this accrual increases the amount of the contract liability during
the period of construction, it increases the amount of revenue
recognised when control of the completed property is transferred to
the customer.

The Group applies the practical expedient of expensing all
incremental costs to obtain a contract if these costs would otherwise
have been fully amortised to profit or loss within one year.

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

Revenue from property management represents charge-out
collections, which consist of payments in respect of the operation
of the properties which are payable by the tenants, are recognised
over time using output method when the services and facilities
are provided. The Group applied the practical expedient in HKFRS
by recognising revenue in the amount to which the Group has
right to invoice, since the Group is entitled to bill a fixed amount
in advance for each month according to the terms of the relevant
agreements. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the aggregate amount
of the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.
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TRANSPORTATIONS

Revenue from provision of various transportation services in
Discovery Bay, including ferry, land transport and tunnel operations,
is recognised when the related services are provided.

CLUBS OPERATIONS

Revenue from using the club facilities in Discovery Bay by customers
is recognised over time during the period in which the customers are
entitled to use the facilities.

Revenue from sales of food and beverage and various services
provided in the clubs in Discovery Bay is generally recognised at
point in time when the good and service are provided.

HOTEL OPERATIONS

Hotel revenue from the room rental is recognised over time during
the period of stay for the hotel guests using output method. Revenue
from sales of food and beverage and other ancillary services provided
is generally recognised at point in time when the goods and services
are provided.

(iii) TRANSACTION PRICE ALLOCATED TO THE
REMAINING PERFORMANCE OBLIGATION FOR
PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT CONTRACT WITH
CUSTOMERS

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2022
and 31 March 2021 and the expected timing of recognising revenue
are as follows:

Within one year —F N

These amounts disclosed above do not include transaction price
allocated to performance obligations which have been satisfied but
not yet recognised due to variable consideration constraint.
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M2022%E3 8318 R2021E3A3B DR ERT
BHEECREKIIDOREK) IXZER K
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Sales of properties

HEME
2022 2021
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBERT BEBTT
119.4 767.8
EXABERZZECENBEREAZRERG
EERERABRZOEERODETNRSE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERERE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

OPERATING SEGMENTS EESE
Segment information 2 EEH

NTRRBEERAZRDHFOMAFESE

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

operating and reportable segments for the year:

PR UNSES &

Continuing operations BEKEEL
Transportation
services and
Property Property property Hotel Leisure
development investment management operations businesses Total
RERHER
NERR NERE NEER i3 ES @it
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BEET BEET BEET BEET BERT BEET
For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z2022F3831R 1t
£E
Revenue A
Segment revenue - sales toextemal S -8 - B
custorners derived by the Group, RARGERAAY
an associate and joint ventures NEEEZHER 3,130.9 2,455.1 241 2184 2619 6,290.4
Brcluding revenue of an associateand — HBBERARAE
joint ventures RAZHA (167.7) (1,954.8) - - - (2,1225)
Consolidated revenue, as reported SAWA MER 2,963.2 500.3 24,1 2184 2619 4,1679
Results 4|
Segment resuls - totel realised results P BEE-£E - B
of the Group, associates and joint NARAERFEY
ventures (note 2 BERZELS
(Kizta) 4583 11953 315 (313) (5.) 1,654.1
Excluding realised results of associates £/ BEE
and joint ventures not shared by RARAERAY
the Group BEEREG (82) (274.6) - - - (2828)
Results attributable to the Group SEELEE 450.1 920.7 375 (313) (57) 13713
Unallocated other expenses AAEEBRY (14.1)
Unallocated corporate expenses AAEAFER (1944)
Finance costs and corporate level HBERRLFED
exchange differences JERER (90.1)
Net unrealised gains on fair value REMELTERY
change of investment properties LARERNETE
(note b) (Bf3th) 63.0
Net unrealised gains on fair value change - EBIFERA 2 A A1
of investrnent properties attributable  RA Y EHER
to the Group's interest in a joint NYEEY .
venture, net of deferred tax AEBNETE
MBS E 510
Profit for the year REE g 11927
Non-controlling shareholders'share of  FFERRIRR 2 A%
profit for the year Bt (1229)
Profit for the year attributable to owners KA T EE ARG
of the Company RERRT 1,069.8
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Transportation

services and
Property Property property Hotel Leisure
development investment management operations businesses Total
RERBR
ESE nERE nEER BE£% WGEY fact
HKS'M HKSM HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M

BEET BEET BEAT BERT BEAT BEAT

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HZ202143A318 1

R

Revenue WA
Segment revenue - sales to external -~ FHMA-EE  BE

customers derived by the Group, ARAIRAEDAH

an associate and joint ventures B 7IHER 30156 21708 266 1244 1909 57083
Excluding revenue of an associate and  SABRBEE AR RAE

joint ventures NAZBA (2307) (1,668.1) - - - (1,8988)
Consolidated revenue, asreported A MA » IE R 27849 5027 2066 1244 1909 38005
Results E |
Segment results - total realised results D EEE - £ B - B &

of the Group, associates and joint ~~ ARIRAERFL

ventures (note o) BERFELT

(Rizka) 7298 7659 623 (824) 106 14862

Excluding realised results of associates  SAFJE& B A 1G B &

and joint ventures not shared by~~~ AAIRAEAEL

the Group BEREE 60 (2267) = = = (2207)
Results attributable to the Group £ EIEEEE 7358 5392 623 (824) 106 12655
Unallocated other income FAEEMMA 915
Unallocated corporate expenses AARARER (184.6)
Finance costs and corporate level FRERRARER

exchange differences JERER (704)

Net unrealised gains on fair value RENELNTEED

change of investment properties LRERNRTFE

(note b) (Fit3tb) 207
Netunrealised losses on fair value £ EEEAE A aR

change of investment properties Txﬁmﬁffémz

attributable to the Group's interest AT EEE)

inajoint venture, net of deferred ~~ KEFEBEFE -

fax NRELHE (54)
Profit for the year REEGF 11173
Non-controlling shareholders'share of JEEIRRR A 1EAE

profit for the year Rl (2299)
Profit for the year attributable to KRAEE ARG

owners of the Company REERT 874
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERERE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

Notes:

(a) The segment results of the Group include the entire results of associates and joint
ventures, excluding the net unrealised gains or losses on fair value change of investment
properties net of deferred tax arising from change in fair value.

(b) The net unrealised gains on fair value change of investment properties for the
year ended 31 March 2022 of HK$63.0 million (2021: HK$20.7 million) represented the
unrealised gains on fair value change of investment properties of HK$63.3 million (2021:
HK$20.0 million) net of deferred tax charge arising from change in fair value of HK$0.3
million (2021: deferred tax credit of HK$0.7 million).

Segment profit/(loss) represents the profit earned by/(loss from) each
segment without allocation of unallocated other income/(expenses),
unallocated corporate expenses, finance costs and corporate level
exchange differences, net unrealised gains on fair value change
of investment properties and net unrealised gains/(losses) on fair
value change of investment properties attributable to the Group's
interest in a joint venture, net of deferred tax. This is the performance
measurement reported to the chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

All of the segment revenue reported above is from external
customers.

No analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by operating and
reportable segments is disclosed as they are not reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker nor otherwise regularly provided to
the chief operating decision maker for review.
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Other segment information

i
i
[
T
M
55

Continuing operations

Transportation
services and
Property Property property Hotel Leisure  Unallocated
development investment  management operations businesses amounts Total
ZBRER
ES VESE NEER EEXH fEZE  A0E2E it
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M

AE#R AERT AE#R AE#R AE#R AE#R AE#R
Fortheyearended 31 March 2022  BZ2002%E3831BLLEE

Amounts included in the measureof T ENFERMAE/LE:
segment profit or loss:

Revenue fiom inter-segment sales* NEEZBERA - (16) 82) - 3.1) - (129)
Depreciation of property, plant and 0% BERRELNE

equipment 250 159 16.6 61.5 62.7 18 195.5
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEINE 42 - 08 - 05 33 88
Impairment loss on loans to joint ventures 3 FAL A E 2B EER - - - - - 07 0.7

Impairment loss on investmentsin debt ~ REHRAHE 2 ERTE
instruments measured at amortised REZREEE

cost - - - - - 8.6 8.6
Impairment loss on other assets AtEEHESE - - - 02 - - 02
Impairment loss on property, plant,and 1%+ BE Rk G2 HEBE

equipment - - 11 - - - 11
Net gain on financial assets at VIPL — RAFEFABE 2 £ REE

hEFE - - - - - (1) (11)
Net gain on mortgage instalment BUIRIES B W FE

receivables (14.5) - - - - - (14.5)

Net oss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries  HENBR R Z B/ (UE)
it 8.4 (24) - - - - 6.0
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, ~ HEWE « BERZEL

plant and equipment () BESE (0.4) - (03) (1.9 17 - (0.9)
Interest income LN (314) (0.1) - - - (17.2) (48.7)
Finance costs HHER 10 3 13 - 06 1173 1233
Income tax charge(credi) %L (Eg) 3557 82,0 (26) 15 126 287 4839
Shae of results of associates MEBENREE 0.2 - - - - - 0.2
Share of results of ot ventures AMEAELREE (118) (2746) - - - (57.0) (3434)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

Transportation
services and
Property Property property Hotel Leisure Unallocated
development investment management operations businesses amounts Total
REMHR
NEER VESE NEER BEZK fRxE  AAMEE st
HKSM HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKSM
REET  BERT  AERR  AEAR  RERR  AEER  ARER
For the year ended 31 March 2021 ERBRYBLER
Amountsindluded inthe measwreof ~ HHEAWERMBEILE:
segment profit or loss:
Revenue from inter-segment sales* AHEZHERA - (19 (69) (03) (29 - (116)
Depreciation of property, plant and nE BERRELNE
equipment 234 182 140 716 376 83 1731
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEE NE 39 - 08 - 05 34 86

Impairment loss reversed on loans tojoint BAEEHFAERAZH(E
ventures EE - 03) - - - - 03)
Impairment loss on investmentsin debt B AT EZERTE

instruments measured at amortised cost % 2 BB - - - - - 02 02

Net loss on financial assets at FVTPL BATE AR 2REE
HERE - - - - - 29 29

Net (gain)loss on disposal of property, ~ HENE - BERZEL

plant and equipment (hs)/BBES 03) 23 - - 06 - 26
Interest income FIEWA (334) - - 02) - (163) (499)
Finance costs B%ER 18 3 14 - 06 806 876
Incorne tax charge/(credit) HERXL (£%) 4195 116 07 (07) 26 05 5108
Share of results of associates MEBERAEE 0] - - - - - 0
Share of results of joint ventures MERELAEE 07 (1267) - - - 54 [2206)
@ Inter-segment sales are entered into in accordance with the relevant agreements, ~ * NEEZHEDNRBREZSERH 2 BEBHZE (WHE)

T RHERD2RATHELEREEXNE (BTER
HERME) EE -

if any, governing those transactions, in which the pricing was determined with reference
to prevailing market price or actual cost incurred, as appropriate.
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Revenue from major products and services FTEEMRBRBEZBA

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue from its major M TNAEETEERERGEZWADT
products and services:

2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
BEET BEATT
Continuing operations BESEEK

Sales of properties HEYE 2,937.9 2,766.1
Rental income HelA 474.0 4788
Hotel revenue B JE WA 218.4 1244
Other services rendered R E i AR 7 537.6 440.2
4,167.9 3,809.5

Geographical information i EE R

For each of the years ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021, the & Z2022%F3 8318 &2021%E3A31B I REE
Group's operations are located in Hong Kong, mainland China, Japan &£ B 27 #& M AES  PEAH BARAKREE
and South East Asia. g8 °

The Group's revenue from external customers based on the location SEER BN RZE (UWE  INE RBIIEH
of properties and goods delivered or services rendered, and location R ZFifEM AEE BT WAMS © UMD
of properties in the case of rental income, and information about its e BEE) ZIRA R BB EIREEHIE
non-current assets by geographical location of the assets are detailed (I BE|D ZIERBEEER ZHBHT :
below:

Revenue from Non-current
external customers assets (note a)
REMBPEFZEWA FEREEE (KizEa)
2022 2021 2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M HK$'M HKS'M
BEAET BEET BEAET ER-:m
Continuing operations BHEREER
Hong Kong BB 2,249.2 2,506.3 19,410.0 15,904.0
Mainland China [ A D 1,840.3 1,183.2 4,643.8 3,511.8
Japan =] 36.3 56.7 50.3 1,125.1
South East Asia (note b) R (fiFEDb) 42.1 63.3 1,744.0 1,789.9
4,167.9 3,809.3 25,848.1 22,330.8
Notes: MEaE -

(a) Non-current assets excluded those related to financial instruments and deferred (@) ERHEETBREEUTARBEERIBEAE ©
tax assets.

(b) Revenue from respective country within “South East Asia” contributed less than (b) KE[HEEGD | EARBERZWMADREBIKAZ10% ©
10% of the Group's revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

FHRETEREFZESR

REAMEFE  REEREFZWALRE
B AU A Z210% °

6 HWA

Information about major customers

The revenue from individual customer contributed less than 10% of
the total revenue of the Group for both years.

6 OTHERINCOME

2022 2021
HKS'M HKS'M
BHERBTT BEATT

Continuing operations HEREEK
Bank and other interest income IRIT R EAMF B YA 48.7 499
Other income (note) E g A (BIFE) 180.4 2299
229.1 279.8

Note: sk Ha A B IE S ERF R RERZ BT B R ao4.2
BEBIT(2021F : 14398 8H8 L) r TERBRIEIF

2 RNERES - AR FRR R B R BUEZ Kt

Included in other income are government grants and subsidies of HK$94.2 million
(2021: HK$143.9 million) recognised by the Group during the year, which are mainly
contributed by the Employment Support Scheme, Anti-epidemic Fund, 5-year Special

Helping Measures and other government subsidies that compensate the Group for staff

R NAHERECEE B ITRAREMH

costs and other expenses incurred.

22 = =]
7 OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7 HtlisEREE
2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
BEET AEATT
Continuing operations FEKEER
Other (losses)/gains include the following: Hiu (B8 /M E T &E :
Net loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENBARZEEFE (6.0) =
Net gain on deregistration of subsidiaries BEEEM M B AR 2 Wk F 58 0.3 77.2
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain HNEDE H, (B518) /s 558 (39.2) 11.9
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant  HE W% - BiFE & &2 Wt/
and equipment (B518) %8 0.9 (2.6)
Impairment loss on other assets HMhEEZBEEE (0.2) =
Impairment loss on property, plant and W% BERZEZREEE
equipment (7.1) =
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets at FVTPL BATEFAERZEREE L
W/ (BR) #5 1.1 (2.9)
Net gain on mortgage instalment receivables JEUIZ 18 9 BR 2k 2 W35 7 F 58 14.5 -
(35.7) 83.6
Impairment losses under ECL model, FEHREEEEEA T 2 RERSE
net of reversal, include the following: (O EEE) BE TSI
Impairment loss (recognised)/reversed on (BR)/BOERTFTARLERRAZ
loans to joint ventures REEE (0.7) 0.3
Impairment loss on investments in debt REHEKAFECEBIA
instruments measured at amortised cost &7 mEER (8.6) (0.2)
(45.0) 83.7
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8 FINANCE COSTS 8 HIKEH

2022 2021
HKS$'M HKS'M
BERT BEAT
Continuing operations HERSEER
Interests on TAEIEZHE
Bank and other loans RITREME K 120.7 95.3
Advances from non-controlling FEIE AR AR R B
shareholders 35.1 19.8
Lease liabilities HEAE 2.1 23
Bank and other loans arrangement fees RITRHEMERLTHER 21.0 238
178.9 141.2
Less: Amounts included in the qualifying W ETAGEBEREE 2R (H3T)
assets (note) (55.6) (53.6)
123.3 87.6

Note: To the extent funds are borrowed generally and used for the purpose of financing izt : YR —REELELRESTHEEFERE/ZESTY
certain properties held for/under development for sale, assets under construction and L AR EERARNEYEME  AUBTAEERERNE
investment properties under construction, the capitalisation rate used to determine ZIEBRASTENER R ETH1.48% (20214 : 165%) ©
the amounts of borrowing costs eligible for the capitalisation is 1.48% (2021: 1.65%) per

annum.
9 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9 KBEBANEF
2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
ER-Y:F ER-:m
Continuing operations BEREEK
Profit before taxation has been arrived at Br & AR A B 08/ (GTA) 5
after charging/(crediting): KIF -
Auditor's remuneration % BT BN
Audit services TR 7.9 7.6
Non-audit services FERET RS 2.8 2.0
Cost of properties sold EHEMER R 2,004.8 1,467.4
Salaries, wages, bonus and other benefits I& #H& B LEMET 543.7 535.7
Retirement benefits schemes contribution BRARREFIEH B FR 22.4 19.8
Staff costs incurred (including directors’ EEABIRA(BHEEEMNE)
remuneration) 566.1 555.5
Gross rental income under operating leases & HE N2 HE W A 4258 :
on:
Investment properties "EYE (460.5) (466.5)
Other properties Hnz (13.5) (12.3)
Less: Outgoings o X 48.1 450
(425.9) (433.8)
Depreciation of property, plant and Wk BERZREINE
equipment 195.5 173.1
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZE 8.8 86
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

10 TAXATION

Continuing operations HEREEK

Hong Kong Profits Tax calculated at 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable
profit for the year

Overseas tax calculated at rates prevailing in

BEMEH

respective jurisdictions ZBHNBIR
Land appreciation tax (‘LAT") T IR E N
Deferred taxation for the year NEERELERIE

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions for both years.

According to the requirements of the Provisional Regulations of the
PRC on LAT effective from 1 January 1994 and amended on 8 January
2011, and the Implementation Rules on the Provisional Regulations
of the PRC on LAT effective from 27 January 1995, all gains arising
from the sale or transfer of real estate in the PRC with effect from 1
January 1994 are subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from
30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds
from the sale of properties less deductible expenditures including
payments made for acquisition of land use rights, costs and expenses
for the development of the land or for construction of new buildings
and supporting facilities, or the assessed value for old buildings and
structures, tax payable relating to transfer of the real estate and other
deductible items prescribed by the Ministry of Finance.
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16.5% (20214F : 165%) 5T E 2

AR AAERERZREFE

2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
BEERT BEAT
85.0 1354
143.7 2242
172.0 2427
400.7 602.3
83.2 (91.5)
483.9 5108

RIFFREAREFBE([FE]) CEMSHER
HEWIEH  HEMBARRZMEEE 2
R AI5% o

REZMEFEERMRAEREE ZRIBRE
RAREER ZBRITHEE -

RIE 819941 A1 8 #£ £ 3% B 201141888
KEAERT 2 B o 3 E AT R0 R §19956F
TA2ZZE AR Z AR B ERETIENE
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O 2 6 B R R a ZE T (B 4 (B 4 £ i 1
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The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before ARFEHEAES HHEGEBERNBRERIGEF Z

taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows: HERWAT :
2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
ER- )P AEETT
Continuing operations BEREEK
Profit before taxation M 2 B % A 1,676.6 1,628.1
Less: Share of results of associates A ’Vﬁﬁﬁﬁ%@ﬂ%iﬁ 0.2 0.1
Share of results of joint ventures TMEEENRESE (343.4) (220.6)
1,333.4 1,407.6
Tax charge at the domestic income tax rate ¥ AN TSR K 16.5%1 & 2
of 16.5% ‘ngﬁ H 220.0 232.2
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BARBMMBA 2 B 52
purpose (114.6) (52.6)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax N A] I B S 2 B TS 2 &
purpose 62.1 59.1
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERHEBEB G TE 26.8 24.7
Utilisation of tax losses previously not FRBERERHIBEE
recognised (6.0) (2.0)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMAEERZLZEZHER
operating in other jurisdictions MEARZEE 67.2 50.9
Tax effect of deductible temporary AR KR TR =82 /%
differences not recognised TE 1.6 04
Effect of LAT in the PRC P4 IR ER 129.0 1821
Withholding tax on undistributed earnings ~ BIMNB A TR D IREF| 2
of foreign subsidiaries A 94.2 25.6
Others H b 3.6 (9.6)
Taxation 18 483.9 510.8
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e B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

11 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

11 AR HEEAEBLEREE

ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE & Al

COMPANY

FROM CONTINUING AND DISCONTINUED REFEKLERORIEREER
OPERATIONS

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company comprises: RNARIEAANEBEANFERSFETE

(@) Net unrealised gains/(losses) on change
in fair value of investment properties
during the year
— The Group

Deferred tax (charge)/credit
Attributable to non-controlling
interests

- Joint venture, net of deferred tax

(b)  Profits excluding net unrealised gains
on fair value of investment properties
From continuing operations
From discontinued operation

Net accumulated gains on change in
fair value of investment properties,
net of deferred tax recognised
in profit or loss in prior years for
properties disposed of during the year

Sub-total

Less: Net accumulated gains on change in
fair value of investment properties,
net of deferred tax recognised
in profit or loss in prior years for
properties disposed of during the year

Profit for the year attributable to owners of
the Company
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2022 2021
HK$'M HKS$'M
BHEBAET BEAETT
@ FAREWEAFEEZZ
REB W/ (B1E) F5E
- 5F 63.3 20.0
RERTE (S H) /iR (0.3) 0.7
FE 470 A% e A B A
16.9 134
79.9 34.1
— &R MBRIELERIE 57.0 (5.4)
136.9 28.7
b) HBRIEEMWEAFERER
U 257 58 2 St A
REBERKEER 932.9 858.7
REBR I EETR 27.5 99
960.4 868.6
FANBLHEVERBAFE
HEEZBRZREME
NEEEE 2 Rtz
HEER IR IEER A
187.3 742
1,147.7 9428
INEF 1,284.6 971.5
B EFABLEYMERBEEE
EESERZREMHE
NEEEE 2 Rtz
SFEE  MBREER IS
(187.3) (74.2)
RRARVEB ANEARFEEGF
1,097.3 897.3



12 DISCONTINUED OPERATION

The Group had operated a comprehensive healthcare service network
in Hong Kong and Macau. The operation was disposed during the
year ended 31 March 2022. Details of the disposal transaction are set
out in Note 37(d).

The consolidated profit for the year from the discontinued operation
is set out below. The comparative figures in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss have been re-presented to show
Healthcare operating segment as discontinued operation.

Revenue WA

Cost of sales $H 5 B AR

Gross profit E A

Other income E U A

Other gains and losses E bl Rk EE

Selling, administrative and other operating

expenses

Finance costs B ER
Profit before taxation B Bt A1 g A
Taxation 7518

Profit for the year IF R T

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company KRARITEB A
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR A 2R

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the discontinued operation
generated to the Group net operating cash inflows of HK$8.1 million
(2021: HKS42.7 million), received HK$62.7 million (2021: paid HKS$10.5
million) in respect of investment activities and paid HK$12.9 million
(2021: HK$13.9 million) in respect of financing activities.

12 BRIEEEER

EERE>EMNEERERE  BEBLES
FOBPF - ZEBKEREE2022F3A8318EFE
HE - HER S ZFIBEH MM FE37(d) °

KEERUIEREXBOAFEES EME 1
T -HEEBRRTHLBHFCENZY] - U
BRBERREEZEIHRDRUIERERK -

HE  TRREMEEM

IO AE R E A/ (BE)

2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
BEER BEAETT
146.3 132.8
(128.3) (115.9)
18.0 16.9
0.2 16.4
42.2 (0.4)
(33.0) (19.6)
(0.5) (0.7)
26.9 12.6
(0.1) (1.3)
26.8 1.3
27.5 9.9
(0.7) 14
26.8 1.3

HE2WNE3A3BLEFE  BERIEEEEKA
SEERELR SR AFESIBEB T (2021
F:/EEBT)  RE/EEHWKE27E B
T (20214F : XA105B BB T) RE@&IE
G M129B BB T (20214 - 139BBAETT) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERERE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

13 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 13 EEMERTBESHE
AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ ECE
REMUNERATION

(a) DETAILS OF DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION ARE (a) EEMESFHERBUT :
AS FOLLOWS:

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the twelve (2021: B I ERT124 (20214F : 138) BE S A 2 B

thirteen) directors were as follows: LW :
For the year ended 31 March 2022 B ZE2022F3A31HLLFE
Executive Directors (note ) Non-executive Directors (note b) Independent Non-executive Directors (note ¢
#GES (i) HAGES (Wib) BUAAES (M

Cha Cheung Ngan Tang  Ronald Cha WongCha  Cheung Fan Tang Ho
Mou Zing Ho Man Moon  Joseph  MouDaid ~ Maylung ~ Winglam  HungLing Kwai  PakChing  Barbara
Victor Koon Ying Wah ~ Arculli  Johnson  Madeline Linus ey Chang Loretta Shiu Total
BiA  RRE BN WRE BEE EBE IERE O RAR MR BRW WRE REN 4
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKSM HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BT FERT EEAT REMn  REMT EEMT  EEMn REMn  REMT RN EEMn  REMm  REMR

Fees 3 - - - - 0 01 03 04 04 04 04 02 23
Other emoluments Efle
Salies and other FERELER
berefts 10 38 3 62 - - - - - - - - u7
Performance related S (itd)
incentive payment
foted) 50 35 25 6 - - - - - - - - 30
FquitySettd HEREENRR
saetwedpyments  BEEZAR 45 14 1 28 1 11 16 06 06 06 06 03 166
Refement benefs RAERELER
schemes contribution - 02 0.2 - - - - - - - - - 04
Totalemoluments Hegg 05 89 78 150 12 12 19 1 10 10 10 05 810
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For the year ended 31 March 2021

Executve Directors (note 3]

HZE20215F38318IEEE

Non-executive Directors (note b)

Independent Non-esecuive Directrs note ¢}

4E% (i) gz (i) i HEY
(ha (e Cheung (hung Ngan Tang Ronald (ha  WongCha  Cheung fn Tang Ho
MouSing ~ MouZing Ho SmTin Man boon Josgoh ~ MouDad ~ Maylng ~ Winglam  Hungling fwai PakChing
Payson Victor foon  Abraham ing Wah Al Johmson— Madelne Linus Henry (hang Lorett Totel
g g REE BMB BNE ERE BERE AEE TEEE O RKkR 0 MR HRY MEE g
(note ) (oteg)  (oteh)  (noteg)
() (W) (W) (Wiko)
HESM HESM HRSM HESM HKSM HESM HESM HeSM HKSM HKOM HKOW HKO HKOM HKSM
BEAn REET BEEn  REAT  REAT  ABEn  mEET  RERT  RERn  REET  REET  REET  BERT  REEn
Fess e - g - - - - 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19
Otteremoluments—~ Ef4
Sisandotter  ESRER
benefits &l 35 102 06 29 06 55 - - - - 53
Pefomancerelated 712
incentve payment (k)
(note ) 60 10 - 10 - 68 - - - - - 18
Degatapayment  KEFE
(notee) (Hite) 0 - - - - - - - - 00
Totdemoluments M2 6% 25 312 06 39 0 123 01 01 0 04 03 04 04 800
Notes: MeE :
(a) For Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services (a) PR TESME IEABRESHALNTRE

in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the Group.

(b) The Non-executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services as Directors of the Company.

(o) The Independent Non-executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were

mainly for their services as Directors of the Company.
(d) The performance related incentive payment was determined with reference to
the operating results of the Group and comparable market statistics of the Group, and

individual performance of the directors.

(e) The ex-gratia payment was given to the Executive Director to recognise his long
service and contribution to the Group.

) Mr Cha Mou Sing Payson passed away on 6 November 2020 (PST).

(9) Mr Cheung Ho Koon and Ms Ngan Man Ying were appointed as Executive
Directors of the Company with effect from 1 February 2021.

(h) Mr Chung Sam Tin Abraham resigned as Executive Director of the Company with
effect from 1 April 2021.

EERERERORY

b) LEXRATHIATEETHEEIEZRABRSEEARF
BEEMMRT

© ERATHBIUIATEEFHEIERWNETREIAR
RAIBERRS -

d) BEREDZDEEEZEEEERALRTSEE
IRERERRRET

@ HEREEANTEFEXNFEARTREEEZ
RERE R EB

() BB EN2020511 A6 B (KFFZERR) Bt o

@ REBEERBXERZTBE2021F2AREERER
ARRMITESE -

(h) EORLAEB021F4ATBEFRTARARNITES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERERE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
the directors as an inducement to join. No directors waived any
emoluments during both years.

(b) EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the five highest paid individuals
of the Group included four (2021: five) Executive Directors, whose
emoluments are disclosed above. The emoluments of the remaining
one employee (2021: one newly appointed Executive Director) are as

follows:
Salaries and other benefits Fe REMBERN
Retirement benefits schemes contribution RIRGE A2 K

The emoluments of the aforesaid employee (2021: Executive Director)
were within the following bands:

RRER SEYEAESIIIESRERS
MAKEZME - KMFERN - MEESHECL
A

(b) EEME

HE202F3A31BIEFE SERAR&S H M
ATEEME (20219F : AZ)BMITEE  HE
MR EXHEE - T —BEE (2021F : — &
FZAERITESR) WEHBOT :

2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
BE®BT BEAT
3.0 4.0

- 0.1

3.0 4.1

FiifE 8 Q021F - MITES) cHEBR T
45 -

2022 2021

HK$'M HKS'M

HEBTT BEAET

HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,00178 7T - 3,500,0007% 7T 1 =
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 JT - 4,500,00078 7T - 1
1 1
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14 DIVIDENDS

Final dividend paid for the financial year
ended 31 March 2021 of HK5 cents (2021:
final dividend paid for the financial year
ended 31 March 2020 of HK7 cents) per
share

Interim dividend paid for the financial year
ended 31 March 2022 of HK3 cents (2021:
interim dividend paid for the financial year
ended 31 March 2021 of HK4 cents) per
share

The directors of the Company proposed a final dividend for the
financial year ended 31 March 2022 of HK5 cents (2021: for the
financial year ended 31 March 2021 of HK5 cents) per share totalling
approximately HK$74.3 million (2021: HK$74.3 million).

15 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable
to owners of the Company is based on the following data:

Earnings |
Earnings for the purpose of calculating
wmERN BN

basic and diluted earnings per share
arising from:

Continuing operations SR ER
Discontinued operation BRIEREERS

14 RE

IR A 220213831 B LB BE
& 2 RERR B RSBl (2021
F RN EE2020F3A8318 1E
RFE 2 AR B ESR7E)

IR & 2 2022F3 831 B B BE
[ 2 F BAR% B AR 3B L (2021
F RN EE2021F38318 1k
B E 2 R B RR4E L)

2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
BEET BEAT
74.3 104.0
44.5 594
118.8 163.4

KARIEERREE2022F3 3B I BEE
Z REAR B RSBl (20214 « B Z=202143 A
JE M BRFEESRSBMN) - & XL074388
HIT(20214F : 743B BB TT) ©

15 BRER

ARBEEANBIEERERREFRFNTIRIE
THIBEE -

KB THERZAEEREAR

2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
BEERT BEAT
1,069.8 8874
27.5 9.9
1,097.3 897.3
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

Number of shares

Number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year for the purpose of calculating
basic earnings per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary share:
Adjustment in relation to share options
issued by the Company

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

for the purpose of calculating diluted
earnings per share

IR

2022

AEEBRERBN  RNFE

ERTERKREA

EBEE LRk

1,485,301,803

S4E -
wa.

LA R B BTT 2 iy iR E

ZHE

AAEEREERN 2 TS

Egilreg=

For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, diluted earnings per
share was the same as the basic earnings per share since the share

options had anti-dilutive effect.

16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

1,485,301,803

BN A REEER

2021

1,485,301,803

1,485,301,803

B E2022F K

21F3A3HEFESRBEERFNEFGRE

REFHER

16 BEWHE

Fair value

At beginning of the year

Exchange translation differences

Additions

Change in fair value and gains on disposals
recognised in profit or loss
— Realised gains on disposals
— Unrealised gains

Disposals

Disposal of subsidiaries

Transfer to assets classified as held for sale
(Note 27)

Transfer to property, plant and equipment
(note)

At end of the year

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2022, the use of certain property of the Group
have been changed from capital appreciation and leasing out for rental income to
owner-occupation. The investment property amounting to HK$52.4 million at date of
transfer was transferred from investment properties to property, plant and equipment at

the date of commencement of owner occupation.
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2022
HK$’'M
BEBTT
AFE
F4) 15,075.2
e Z=%8 (49.4)
RE 596.6
RIEZERAZAFEZH L LE
2 Wiz
—HERZBEEE K 384.6
— KRB W 63.3
H e (1,470.5)
&K B A R (56.8)
ERESBARIEFHEERE
(B 5E27) (187.5)
EREYE - BELEXE
(FF3E) (52.4)
FR 14,303.1

2021
HKS'M
BEAT

14,766.5
(12.0)
4443

35
20.0
(147.1)

15,075.2

MieE : REZ2002F3A31BEFE - SESETYEZRE
MEASBERHE(URDNES) SR RERE
HeBEADRIABBATZREMERETHRBRERAZARER



For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group disposed of
certain investment properties and the details of which are as follows:

REE2022F R2021F3 83 1B IEFE - £EH
ERTREWEZFBOT :

2022 2021

HKS$'M HKS'M

BEETT BEATT

Net sales proceeds received EWHE T8 RIB 5 R 1,470.5 1471

Original cost of acquisitions W iE 2 R ANE (877.1) (44.2)
Accumulated gains on change in fairvalue  BEFEEHRAZ A FEES

recognised in prior years Rt (208.8) (99.4)
Realised gains on disposals recognised FALERER D ERKE

during the year 384.6 3.5

The Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform the
valuation. The management works closely with the qualified external
valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
to the model. The management reports the findings to the board
of directors of the Company every half-year to explain the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value of the property.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest and best use
of the property is the current use.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at 31 March
2022, 31 March 2021, the date of transfer to assets classified as held
for sale and the date of transfer to property, plant and equipment
have been arrived at on the basis of valuation carried out on
the respective dates by the following valuers with appropriate
qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of similar
properties in the relevant locations.

Location of investment

Name of valuer properties

Cushman & Wakefield Limited
JLL Morii Valuation & Advisory KK.
N&A Appraisal Company Limited

Hong Kong and mainland China
Japan
Thailand

SEZBE=JTAERMGLEMETHE EXE
BHESERIMBEEMEEZGIE  UBILAE
MEETERBENBARE EEESYF
AARREFRERER  UEEBYEATE
KB ZREA e

REMEZRAFER  PEREREHER
BR®E -

% B 7W2022F3A318 ~ 2021538318 - & #
ENEABEHEZEEE AUAREREYE |
MERSZBEBZIREMEATE  HIRULT
BEEAgERMONEE A 2 BUmE
HELRZHEMNS BRETZHEEE -

RENEEE
EEMEM ih &
HERTERAA B8RP EAM
JLL Morii Valuation & Advisory KK. B 7K
N&A Appraisal Company Limited =EH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERERE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

VALUATION TECHNIQUES

The fair value of investment properties located in Hong Kong is
determined either by using income capitalisation approach or
direct comparison approach. The income capitalisation approach
is calculated by capitalising the rental income derived from the
existing tenancies with due provision for any reversionary income
potential. The direct comparison approach assumes sale of property
interest in its existing state by making reference to comparable sales
transactions as available in the relevant market.

The valuation of investment property under construction is
determined by residual method based on capitalising the rental
income that would be generated from the investment property in its
completed form, and has taken into account the developers' profit
and construction costs already incurred as well as the estimated costs
to be incurred to complete the project.

The fair value of investment properties located in mainland China
and Thailand is determined by using direct comparison approach
assuming sale of the property interest in its existing state by making
reference to comparable sales transactions as available in the relevant
market.

The fair value of investment properties located in Japan is determined
by using income capitalisation approach. The income capitalisation
approach is calculated by capitalising the rental income derived from
the existing tenancies with due provision for any reversionary income
potential.

SUMMARY OF FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY AND LEVEL 3
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

As at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021, all investment properties
of the Group are valued by reference to a Level 3 fair value
measurement.
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fEERID

NREBNREVENRFEDIERABAER
EERERLEBEEMETE - WABRNOEE R
B R AP WE R & A E R E A
EBEA LW AREE BEMTE - EELER
FBEB2ERATSAGLAILRZHERS
BRAMZERERELEYEMET -

EEREMENBEIRESACRIREY
XEAZHERABEEAEBHREEMEH -
YEFREREEMNMEEL 2 BZEXANEIR
B THEEZMATRA -

MNP EAREENREYEN R FETE
RERLEE2EREAM S A FL A LR H
ERXFBENYERGRAREHENEME

F o

URARNREYENRFEDIERBAER
fEAMETE - WMABERNMOEBBENCKRIRE
P U B RO < YA (R34 f] VB RT3 [
ARMBEERBME

N\,

NP ERRRE=ZEBRAFE
3
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Hein
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Level 3 valuation methodologies

Below is a table which presents the significant unobservable inputs:

Fair value Capitalisation rate
AR Enf%
Investment properties (note d)
RENZ (Hitd)
Hong Kong
(4
Industrial HKS341.9 million (2021: HKS3708 million) 3.5%to 3875% (2021:35% to 3875%)

35%Z3875% (2021 : 35%F3875%)
325%107.25% (2021: 3375% 0 725%)

1% WI9BERT(0VE  308EET)
Commercil (note e) HKS10437.2 million (2021: HK89,2054 millon)

B2 (k) 0AT2BERT (005 SUSAREAT)  305%E725% (20015 : 3375%5725%)
Residential HKS2,7275 million (2021: HKS2,752.0 million) N/A
i VISEERT(E ) NEERT)  TER
Mainland China
R
Residental Nil (2021: HKS21.6 millon) N/A
iz B 16BE#T) TR
Commercial HK6488.7 millon (2021: Ni) 45% (2001:N/A)
i IBTAERT(N0E &) 45%(201% : THER)
Thailand
78
Residental HK$327.8 million (2021: HKS3473 million) N/A
[ WSREET(E WIEEET)  AER
Japan
B
Commercial Nil (2021: HKS306.6 million) N/A (2021:3.7%)
EE & (001 : 066R BiATr) TER (0 - 37%)
Residential Nil (2021: HKS801.5 milion) N/A (2021:3 3% to 3.9%)
[z B0 015EEAT) TR (0014 : 33%330%)
Investment properties under
construction
EERENZ
Hong Kong
(i
Residental Nil (2021 HKS109.0 million) N/A
fig B0 1005EST) TR

NI (2021: HKS1,161.0 milion)
BOME: 1161 08E#T)

N/A (2021: 325%)
TER (0% 35%)

Industrial (note ¢

% (i)

E=ZBRMEEL X

TREJNEAT A B R ARE

Unobservable inputs (note a)

ATERRALE (Hika)

Market rent (note b)

(per square foot per month)
T (W)
(EAETHR)

HES 14 0 HES39 2001: HKS14 0 HKS39)
BT EWAT (0 : BT EAT)
HKS 18 to HEST6 2021: HKS18 0 HSB2)
I8ETETGET (1001 < 183 E02ET)
/A

TaR

NA

iR

RUBT9 2027 /K
ARRIOT(201% : AER)

NA
i

/A (2021: P1730)

FR (0% : B0RE)

NJA (2021: Y210 10 JYS 1)
FEB0E : 40ABZ510RE)

VA

ol

A (2021:HKS23)

FER (0% : B87)
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Adjusted market price (note )
(per square foot)
AETEER (W
(§5R)

WA
TER

WA

el

HKS7,600 to HK$37,000 (2021: HKS7,400 to
HKS31,700)

TO00ETL EIT000A T (20215 : T40% T E
31700%7)

>

—>1

NJA 2021: MBI 1 300)
RER (001 - \RE11307)
WA

TR

THB2300 to THB7,600 (2021: THB2,300 to THB7600)
L300REKET 000k (001 : J300RSE
T6005%)

NA
Riah
NA
Fiah

/A (2021: HKS35,300)
FER (2001 : 353008 70)

T



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

Notes:

(a) The relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value are (i) the higher the
capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value; (i) the higher the market rent, the higher the
fair value; and (iii) the higher the adjusted market price, the higher the fair value.

(b) The monthly rent takes into account the differences in location and individual

factors, such as frontage and size, between comparables and the property.

() Adjusted market price takes into account the recent transaction prices for similar
properties adjusted timing of reference transactions and property-specific adjustments
including nature, location and condition of the property.

(d) Fair value measurement of investment properties is positively correlated to the
market rent and adjusted market price, but inversely correlated to the capitalisation rate.

(e) During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group had obtained approval to
convert an investment property from industrial to commercial use and the refurbishment
works were underway. Such property was valued at HK$1,161.0 million as at 31 March
2021 and classified as industrial property. The refurbishment works were completed
during the year ended 31 March 2022 and such property was then classified as
commercial property.

There were no transfers among different levels of the fair value
hierarchy in the current and prior years.

176 HKR International Limited Annual Report 21/22

By e

@ THBERBABBREATERZBRRONEREEXY
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The movements during the year in the balance of investment

properties under Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows:

At 1 April 2020

Exchange translation differences

Additions

Transfer to investment properties under
construction

Change in fair value and gains on disposals
recognised in profit or loss
— Realised gains on disposals
— Unrealised (losses)/gains

Disposals

At 31 March 2021
Exchange translation differences
Additions
Change in fair value and gains on disposals
recognised in profit or loss
— Realised gains on disposals
— Unrealised gains
Disposals
Disposal of subsidiaries
Transfer to investment properties upon
completion of development
Transfer to assets classified as held for sale
Transfer to property, plant and equipment

At 31 March 2022

72020548 1H
PE X ER
RE

BEEERRENE

RIERER
& W
—HERKZBEZR k=
—RBW (BB /M=

k=

202193 A31H

b =5

RNE

RiEEER
&2 W
—HERKZBEZR k=
— KRB Wz

=

HEMB AR

BREKNEERZIRENME

AFEEBR

ATEBHR

ERESEAFIELEEE
EREYE  BE RS
72022563 H31H

FRAEZERRVEFETZIREDEEHZ

ZEgmT

Investment
properties

RENE
HK$'M
BERER

14,663.5
(12.0)
329.2

(980.0)

35
(51.9)
(147.1)

13,805.2
(49.4)
5853

384.6
61.6
(1,470.5)
(56.8)

1,283.0
(187.5)
(52.4)

14,303.1

Investment
properties
under
construction
T
REWE
HKS$'M
BEETR
103.0

115.1

980.0

719

1,270.0

11.3

Total

mat
HK$'M
BEER

14,766.5
(12.0)
4443

35
20.0
(147.1)

15,075.2
(49.4)
596.6

384.6
63.3
(1,470.5)
(56.8)

(187.5)
(52.4)

14,303.1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Hotel
properties
il
HKS'M

AERT
Cost RE
At 1 Aprl 2000 RONE4ATR 14945
Bxchange transaton diferences EiZE 25
Additons e 93
Disposals/wite-off k16t (44
Transfer to right-of-useasets EREPRERE -
Transer to properties under development forsele.~ BEZRHEXRMYE =
Redassfication Eip] 419
At31 March 2001 RIOnE3A31H 15708
Bichange transaton differences EiEE (369
Addtions TE 80
Disposalswite-off e (127)
Disposal of subsicares HENBAT -
Transferfom investment properties ERaREnE =
Transer to propertie held for development for e BB Z R HERREYE -
Reclssfication EEipt 51
At31 March 2022 M3 318 15343
Depreciation and impairment FERAE
At 1 Aprl 2000 H00ER 1R 7089
Exchange renslation diferences EjzE 10
Provided forthe year TEERE 682
Disposalsfwrite-0ff HEME 43
Transferto right-of-use asets BRDERELE =
A3 March 2001 R0E3A31A 7958
Bxchange translaion ifferences EizH (287)
Provided fortheyear KERER ol
Disposalsfurte-off &S (122
Disposal of subsidiares LEWBAR -
Impaiment lossrecogrised BETAERR -
At31 March 2022 H0nE3R31A 8200
Carying values REE
At31 March 2022 M3 318 43
K31 March 2001 ROVE3R3IA 750
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Freehold
[and
kxR
4
HKS'M
EERR

169
(154)

(19

2396

2396

2669

Buildings

BF
HKS M
BEER

181

1204
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ERRES
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HKY'M
BERR

6393
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3446

10317
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1,080.7

4911

589.6

5706

Leasehold
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BENE
]

HKSM
BEER

g4
368

(192
(208)

(452

1641
416
(127)
(158)

015
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1843
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RRE
HKY'M
BEER

B3I

317
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(627)
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08
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(280)

021
03)
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(499)

1523
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machinery
and
equipment
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Rk
HKYM
BEER

68.9

676

Ferries,
launches
and motor
vehicles
i Mt
RAE
HKYM
REEn

6984
05
10
66)
(259)

6857

=

689.4

003

119

Construction
in progress

ERIR
HKS
BRER

(1539
151

151

177

Total

it
HKS W
BERR

50567

51763
(497)
1976
(725)
(853)
524
(19

52071

23319
U3
191
(88)
(#)
24085
(86)
11
(594)
(654)

1

24653

2108

17680



ltems of property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are depreciated on a straight-line basis, over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

Hotel properties
Freehold land
Buildings, commercial and leisure facilities

3-40 years

No depreciation

5-50 years, or over the
lease term if shorter

Leasehold improvements 5 years, or over the

lease term if shorter

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 3 -7 years
Plant, machinery and equipment 5 - 15 years
Ferries, launches and motor vehicles 3 - 20 years

18 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022 7202263H31H

Carrying amount REE
For the year ended 31 March 2022 B Z£202263A31HLFE
Depreciation charge TESH

Expense relating to short-term leases and
other leases with lease terms end within
12 months of the date of initial application

ERTIRMINZYE  BERREBERBEZRAT
A ERFRNEARENE -

HERAEREGARRE R
EABBYBHREERF 6
R B 2@ B A& RS

of HKFRS 16 HEFBENFAX
Total cash outflow for leases HERe ML B
Additions to right-of-use assets RNEFRAEEE

As at 31 March 2021
Carrying amount

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Depreciation charge

202143 A31H
BRMEE

HZE2021F3831BILEE

TEXH

Expense relating to short-term leases and
other leases with lease terms end within
12 months of the date of initial application

of HKFRS 16 HEFBEMNFAX
Total cash outflow for leases HERERLBR
Additions to right-of-use assets REFRAEEE

HEZHAEREMBAENE R
ERB BT HREENE 6
SREHRBF2MEARERS

B 5 Y % 3-40%F
KAZERELTH WEFE
B mARRERE  S5-S0FMEREE -
Bl & E8R
HEMEEE SE N B
Bl &S8R
BRI HREREE 3-74F
B - #25 RRiE 5-154F
B~ M RRE 3-20%F
18 FHEEE
Leasehold Furniture,
land and fixtures and
buildings equipment Total
HELHE HH- -HB
BF R&iE et
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT  AEBT  BEET
85.3 0.2 85.5
20.8 0.2 21.0
6.2
22.2
102.6 04 103.0
219 03 22.2
6.1
23.7
04

EHAXEREMERAR 212258 179



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

For both years, the Group leases various offices, ferry pier, leasehold
land, warehouses and equipment for its operations. Lease contracts
are entered into for fixed term of 6 months to 50 years, but may have
termination options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract
and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group has termination options in certain leases. The Group
assesses at the initial measurement of leases, it is reasonably certain
the Group will not exercise the termination options after considering
the significant initial cost incurred on the leased properties and the
removal cost that may arise.

In addition, the Group reassesses whether it is reasonably certain that
a termination option will not be exercised, upon the occurrence of
either a significant event or a significant change in circumstances
that is within the control of the lessee. During the years ended 31
March 2022 and 31 March 2021, there is no such triggering event.

19 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES/
AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

Cost of unlisted shares I E TR 2 BN

Share of reserve DEREE

Share of post-acquisition losses, DRI B EE
net of dividends received kR B WA B

Amounts due from associates (Note 26(b))

FHEE R A

Loss allowance provision
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JRE Wi Bt 2 B R IE (Bt =k 26(b))

RERMEFE SEEAZEBRAE B
fBeE MELH AERRBHEZEREZ -H
EANTAEN T AE0FHEEFH B
A BEM m AR L - TH AR IR (E B BB RERE - B
B2 ZHPREGRR R GE - REE R RFE
THREHENRER SEEBANNES
I B FE A AIE9 R SR HI R TTHIRR -

SERETHETHEARLE RUKFTER
SERERHEEMEMELEZERYIA
RARAGEEZHBRARASERER TS
TTERRLERE -

A_Y:Ej:
HHF

PEoh - MBEERERBAZESBEEAZEKRSE
HRERNBERLEY  SESEFIHEEEE
BRI T EITE - REIZE2022F3H31
BR2021F3A3A L FEANMEEEZ TR
Eg L

19 BE QT 2R/ E

NCIE/SE]

2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
BEBET BEABT
589.0 588.9
(584.9) (584.8)
4.1 4.1



The summarised financial information of the Group's associates as at £ B B & A 7] 720223 318 202153 A31

31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021 is set out below: B HBERBEHINAT
2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
BERT BEAT
Total assets BERE 14.7 15.7
Total liabilities BEER (1,901.6) (1,902.0)
Net liabilities BEFE (1,886.9) (1,886.3)
Group's share of net liabilities SE EEEFHE (584.9) (584.8)
Revenue A - =
Loss for the year KEEZEE (0.6) (0.5)
Group's share of results for the year EBDEARFEESE (0.2) (0.1)

Details of the principal associates of the Group as at 31 March 2022 & B 202238318 K2021E3B831H & £ &
and 31 March 2021 are set out in Note 45(c). B & A B 2 FEBER M EE45(0) ©

el

The financial information in respect of each of the Group's associates HEEBEKHEE AT ZHBEER W IEE KX -
is not material and no separate summarised financial information of Y\ REL AR 25 EBHEERBE o
each associate is presented.

el

20 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 20 B QA2 ER
The interests in joint ventures include the Group's 50% equity AXARIZHEZBEEERATEYEEER
interest in Dazhongli Properties Limited ("Dazhongli"). An analysis is &) ([ XA EB |) Z50%[% % » EoHamT :
as follows:
2022 2021
HK$’'M HKS'M
BERTT BEAT
Interests in: W
Dazhongli RHEE 8,743.5 8,086.9
Other joint ventures HihsE QA 1,478.7 1,556.1
10,222.2 9,643.0
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERERE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

DAZHONGLI

Dazhongli and its subsidiaries (“Dazhongli group”) are engaged in
the operation of investment properties and hotel properties in the
Jing’an District of Shanghai in the PRC.

Cost of unlisted shares FE_ETARD 2 AR
Cumulative exchange differences RGtEH Z5

7 15 Y B 1% s A

Share of post-acquisition profits

Loans to Dazhongli BERTFTAFRE

— Non-interest bearing (note a) - & 8 (fisFa)

— Interest bearing (note b) - 5T & (fifzEb)
Notes:
(a) The loans to Dazhongli are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on

demand. The Group has no intention to exercise its right to demand repayment of
these loans within the next twelve months from the end of the reporting period. The
directors of the Company believe the settlement of these loans is not likely to occur in
the foreseeable future as they, in substance, form part of net investment in Dazhongli
group as the proceeds of the loans have been substantially used by Dazhongli to inject
as registered capital into its PRC subsidiary. Accordingly, the amount is classified as
non-current asset and included in the Group’s interests in joint ventures for the purpose

of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(b) The loans to Dazhongli are unsecured, interest bearing at 1.71% per annum and
repayable in December 2022. Pursuant to the undertaking of bank loans, Dazhongli
group is refraining from settling the loans from shareholders until the settlement of
all bank loans. The directors of the Company believe the settlement of these loans is
not likely to occur in the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the amount is classified as
non-current asset and included in the Group's interests in joint ventures for the purpose
of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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R E

RPEREMBAR ([KHEEE)RHELE
R EBMERRIREYEIEEYE -

2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
ELE T HEBT
0.1 0.1
807.2 5006
3,202.1 2,868.7
4,009.4 33694
4,422.8 44233
311.3 2942
8,743.5 8,086.9

B & -

@ RATRPEZERDEER RERARBREE -
SEEERREHRE RKIELANTEEET - BRE
BZEER - AR AT EERERABZ KRB HIBEAR
TEMBARIESEMER  ARAREFHEZEFEFET
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b HBTATREZERDEER  BEMNEI71%TER
AR20202FN2AEE - BREABRITER AR AHEE
BAZBRARTENR  HABEBRRER - KRR ESA
EREEFB TGN L ARREEE - At L25INERE
FMBHAREME  ERASHECIEFRBEE Ut AKH
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The summarised consolidated financial information in respect of
Dazhongli group as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021 is set out

below.

The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in these

consolidated financial statements.

Non-current assets
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Other non-current assets

Current assets
Bank balances and cash
Other current assets

Current liabilities
Bank loans — secured
Loans from shareholders
Other current liabilities

Net current liabilities
Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Bank loans — secured
Loans from shareholders
Deferred tax liabilities
Other non-current liabilities

Net assets

Group's share of net assets

FRBDEE
REME
WE - BB KRB
H i 3FRENE &

mMEBEE
RITHEBRERE
HnEh&EE

mEAE
RITER - HEM
BERE R
HREH A&

MEN R EF R
REERADAR
FRBDAE
RITER - HER
BERERK
ELHBERE
Hi3EREN B A

BEFE
SENHEEFE

KA B &£ B R2022F3A31H &2021F3831H

ZEHAMBEMBRERINNT -

BERRREREAREZFS

2022
HK$'M
BEET

25,277.3
2,000.6
60.9

27,338.8

1,269.2
323.0

1,592.2

1,233.0
9,523.3
1,504.0

12,260.3
(10,668.1)
16,670.7

6,206.4

2,316.5
128.9

8,651.8
8,018.9
4,009.4
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2021
HKS'M
BBAT

24,057.0
1,990.9
84.5

26,1324

1,368.2
394.1

1,762.3

970.2
8,892.7
15114

11,3743
(9,612.0)
16,5204

7,129.5
542.2
1,967.3
142.7

9,781.7
6,738.7
3,369.4



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERERE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

Revenue WA

Direct operating expenses BEEEEXN

Other income RN

Change in fair value of investment properties R & ¥ 3% A F{EE
Other expenses Hih s H

Finance costs W% ER

Taxation I8

Net profit after taxation for the year NEEBRBIEF 8 Fl
Group's share of results for the year SEDEARFEER

Note:
HK$25,277.3 million (equivalent to RMB20,500.2 million) (2021: HK$24,057.0 million

(equivalent to RMB20,332.5 million)) which was based on the valuation conducted

The investment properties were measured at 31 March 2022 at fair value of

by Cushman & Wakefield Limited, who has appropriate qualification and recent
experiences in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations. The valuation
of investment properties was determined by using income capitalisation approach. The
income capitalisation approach was calculated by capitalising the rental income derived
from the existing tenancies with due provision for any reversionary income potential.
The fair value measurement of investment properties was valued under Level 3 fair
value measurement, which was measured based on the significant unobservable inputs
including the estimated market rent and capitalisation rate. The investment properties
are held within a business model of the joint venture whose business objective is
to consume substantively all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment

properties over time, rather than through sale.

Level 3 valuation methodology
Below is a table which presents the significant unobservable inputs:

For the year ended 31 March
BE3AMALEE

2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
ELE T HEBT
1,953.6 1,668.0
(593.8) (524.8)
1,359.8 1,143.2
37.5 733
151.9 (14.5)
(276.6) (241.1)
(343.5) (360.7)
(262.3) (157.4)
666.8 4428
333.4 2214

Misk: REBERTERARBETZHE REDER
200263831 2 AFEA52773BE BT (HERARY
20,5002E B 7t) (20214 : 2405708 &8 T (HERARE
203325B& L)) c AR EMNEAEEE AEYWEEE
FHAEEAEERKIHESR - REMEZHEDNFEAKBA
BAREMETE - WABRNEEZEBEANMEMIRBHAFS IER
WA WABEREEABENBEDBANBE BEmTE -
BEYMEZ AT EAENRE-BER/ATFENEGHE  EDY
EREBEATERGAGR (REGTTSEHEERERNER)
A REMENGEARIZAXEAFE mARAEXZ
E¥GBENRHEKNEFERAXSESRENENBEZBABIE
B MIESBEHEERR -

FE-ERMGELE
TREJNEATA B R ARE

Unobservable inputs (note a)
AUHEH AYE (Ka)

Estimated market rent (note b)

Fair value Capitalisation rate (per square metre per month)
et miEE € (M aEb)
AYE BR{LE (BABFAK)
Investment properties (note )
REME (Fizkc)
Mainland China
HEl A,
Commercial HK$25,277.3 million 3.5% to 6.25% RMB247 to RMB1,044
[EES (2021: HK$24,057.0 million) (2021:3.5% to 6.25%) (2021: RMB247 to RMB1,011)
252773BEHETT 3.5%%6.25% ARE4TTE ARE1,044T
(2021 : 40570B&ET) (20215 : 35%%F6.25%) (20215 : A\R#24ILE
ARE1011TT)

184 HKR International Limited Annual Report 21/22



Notes:

(a) The relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value are (i) the higher the
capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value; and (i) the higher the estimated market rent,
the higher the fair value.

(b) The monthly rent takes into account the differences in location and individual
factors, such as frontage and size, between comparables and the property.

(@] Fair value measurement of investment properties is positively correlated to the
estimated market rent, but inversely correlated to the capitalisation rate.

OTHER JOINT VENTURES THAT ARE NOT
INDIVIDUALLY MATERIAL

Cost of unlisted shares JEEMRMD 2 A

Share of reserve DG

Share of post-acquisition gains, DRI EE B I Es
net of dividends received kR B URRR B

Loans to other joint ventures (note)

Note: The loans to other joint ventures are unsecured and repayable on demand. As at
31 March 2022, the loans to other joint ventures included an amount of HK$297.7 million
(2021: HKS315.4 million) bearing interest at fixed rates at 3.0% (2021: 3.0%) per annum
and an amount of HK$342.5 million (2021: HK$402.4 million) bearing interest at 2% (2021:
2%) per annum over 1-month HIBOR. The remaining balance is non-interest bearing. The
amounts of the loans to joint ventures are classified as non-current assets as at 31 March
2022 and 31 March 2021.

The summarised financial information in respect of other joint
ventures as at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021 is set out below:

ERTEMEZERA (M)

By e

) TABEBABERATENZBEROESEER
B ATEME  ROGHHSALHE - ATHAS -

(b)  BAECFRAILEMELRYEZRLE R EREZ ()
ERRERNZER -

© REDEOHLAFEFABEGHTSHEHSEEARM -
BEERMEKRANZRIER -

H@ERFEERZEE QT

2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
BEERT BEAT
8.7 8.7
0.2 (3.1)

24.2 66.2

33.1 718
1,445.6 1,484.3
1,478.7 1,556.1

Misk: ERTHMAEERARNERFRAREREE -R
2022F3A31B - ERTEMEE AR BEEE277/BEE
7T (20214F : 31548 8 A7) W 1% B & F | £3.0% (20214 :
3.0%) FFEZ I - MR & A34258 BB T (20214 : 4024
BEBT) WiZ—E A EBERITRER B R INFF R2%:T 8
(20215 : 2%) ZHIB - B THREARE - BERXTFEERARZ
S ER2022F3 8318 M2021E3831B DA ERBEE

Hfth & & QA 1202283 A31H &202143 A31
Az BEERBESNT

2022 2021

HK$'M HKS'M

BEET BEATT

Total assets BERE 7,638.9 6,396.3
Total liabilities BEEsE (7,706.6) (6,365.4)
Net (liabilities)/assets (BE)/EEFE (67.7) 309
Group's share of net assets EBVEEEZFRE 33.1 718
Revenue WA 168.8 230.7
Net profit/(loss) after taxation for the year REEKRIHEF SR/ (EE) 14.1 (11.1)
Group's share of results for the year EESEAFEEESE 10.0 (0.8)

Details of the principal joint ventures of the Group as at 31 March
2022 and 31 March 2021 are set out in Note 45(d).

£ B MR2022F3H318 K2021F3A31HZ £ &
B8N R ZFBERK EE45d) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

21 INVESTMENTS IN DEBT AND EQUITY 21

SECURITIES

Investments in debt instruments measured
at amortised cost
Debt securities (note a)
Current
Non-current

Equity instruments measured at FVTOCI

Listed equity securities (note b)
Unlisted equity securities (note c)

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Non-current

Market value of listed equity securities
Listed in Hong Kong
Listed overseas

Financial assets at FVTPL
Unlisted equity securities (note d)
Listed debt securities (note e)
Unlisted debt securities (note f)

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Non-current
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2022
HK$'M
HEBT
RBHEKAFECEBIA
®E
B E 5 (fizka)
& 34.3
FEMRED 73.0
107.3
BN EF AR AR
FTECZBRATA
ETRRARE S (FaEb) 20.1
IE E TR A FE S (B 5Ec) 24.1
44.2
AE2REMZONMOT
JER B 44,2
FHRARES A
REB L™ 11.0
»EsN £ 9.1
20.1
BRAFEFABRZERHEE
IE E TR AN B F (B 5Ed) 409.8
EMEBFS (K iTe) 83.2
Ik ETERE S () 35.0
528.0
AE2REMZOWMOT
JERE 528.0

EBERBRAFSF 2RE

Fair value measurement
at 31 March 2022 using

202263 H31H

AFEME
Level 1 Level 3
E—B& E=EBR
HKS$'M HK$'M
BEABR BEART
20.1 -
- 24.1
20.1 24.1
11.0 -
9.1 -
20.1 -
- 409.8
83.2 -
- 35.0
83.2 444.8



Investments in debt instruments measured

at amortised cost

Debt securities (note a)
Current
Non-current

Equity instruments measured at FVTOCI

Listed equity securities (note b)
Unlisted equity securities (note c)

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Non-current

Market value of listed equity securities
Listed in Hong Kong
Listed overseas

Financial assets at FVTPL
Unlisted equity securities (note d)
Listed debt securities (note e)
Unlisted debt securities (note )

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Non-current

BBEKAEZBEHTA
RE
(B 5

ik
ek

(P 7¥a)

BATEFARMEEKES
AEZBRATA
LR AE S (D)
JF £ AR RE 2 (B i)

REBBENZAMWT :
ek

EHEAERZTE
REELT
iR ]

BEAVEFABRSZEREE
IE £ AN RE 25 (B Ed)
LW EHES (e
Ik LT ERHE S (P EER)

BEREMZAHWOT :
St

2021

HKS'M
BEATT

20.8
31.8

52.6

52.6

94
20.8

400.6
85.0
417

5273

5273

Fair value measurement
at 31 March 2021 using
F202163831H

ATFEEE
Level 1 Level 3
E-ER H=ER
HKS'M HKS'M
BEBT BEAT
20.8 -

- 31.8

20.8 31.8

114 -

94 -

20.8 -

- 400.6

85.0 -

- 417

85.0 4423
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERERE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

Notes:

(a) The Group intends to hold the assets to maturity to collect contractual cash flows
and these cash flows consist solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

(b) The Group elected to present in other comprehensive income for the fair value
changes of certain equity investments. These investments are not held for trading and
not expected to be sold in the foreseeable future.

The fair value of listed equity securities amounting to HK$20.1 million (2021: HK$20.8
million) are determined by reference to the quoted market bid prices available on the

relevant exchanges in active markets as at 31 March 2022.

() The unlisted equity securities of HK$24.1 million (2021: HK$31.8 million) represent
investment in unquoted equity investment in a private operating company which is not
held for trading purpose.

The fair value of the unquoted equity investment is determined using valuation
techniques including market multiples (based on the historical market multiples of
comparable listed companies) and a discount factor (based on the historical correlation
between multiples of the private company and comparable listed companies). The
significant unobservable inputs include price-to-sales multiples of comparables, taking
into account of the scale of the business of the comparables. A slight increase in the
price-to-sales multiples would result in a slight increase in fair value and vice versa. An
increase in the discount factor would result in a decrease in fair value and vice versa.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the impact of changes in the relevant unobservable
data as the management considers that the exposure is insignificant to the Group.

The movement in the unlisted equity securities is as follows:

FO R

Balance at beginning of the year

Net fair value loss to other comprehensive income

Balance at end of the year FREERS
(d) As at 31 March 2022, the unlisted equity securities represent investments in

private equity funds of HK$173.6 million (2021: HK$184.1 million) and unquoted equity
investment of HK$236.2 million (2021: HK$216.5 million) which are measured using
valuation techniques based on inputs that can be observed in the market in addition to
unobservable inputs such as company specific financial information.
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In accounting for the fair value measurement of the investments in private equity funds,
management has determined that the reported net asset value of the private equity
funds provided by the general partners represent the fair value of the private equity
funds. The general partners used different valuation methodologies to measure different
underlying investments of the funds. The general partners measured the unrestricted
actively traded public equity and debt investments at the closing price or bid price of the
identical assets as of measurement date. The general partners also used methodology
based on relevant comparable data whether possible to quantify the adjustment from
cost, transaction prices or latest financing price when adjustment if necessary, or to justify
that cost, transaction prices or latest financing price is still a proper approximation of fair
value of the underlying investments held by the investment funds in determining the net
asset value. The factors to be considered in assessment may require the judgement. For
those investments that have achieved positive and sustainable operating performance,
the general partners adopted Earning Multiples Methodology. The valuation using this
methodology is calculated by applying the most appropriate and reasonable multiple
derived from reference to market based conditions of quoted companies or recent
private transactions. If the multiples are derived from public company comparable,
it is discounted for considerations such as illiquidity and differences between the
comparable companies and portfolio companies, based on company specific facts and
circumstances according to the general partner's judgment. The general partners also
adopted discounted cash flow methodology. The cash flows are projected based on the
budgeted cash flows of the portfolio companies, which are adjusted for current market
environment. The significant unobservable inputs include discount rates ranging from
6.25% to 12%. The discount rates are derived from observable return of comparable
companies, which are adjusted for considerations such as different capital structure, sizes
and other specific risk of the portfolio companies. The higher the discount rate, the lower

the fair value and vice versa.

For unquoted equity investment, the Group applies a minority interest discount on the
net assets value of the investee adjusting with the fair value of the underlying properties
to determine the fair value. The valuation of the underlying properties is determined
by income capitalisation approach. The income capitalisation approach is calculated by
capitalising the rental income derived from the existing tenancies with due provision
for any reversionary income potential. The fair value measurement of the underlying
properties is measured based on the significant unobservable inputs including the
estimated market rent ranging from RMB142 to RMB483 (2021: RMB143 to RMB467) per
square meter and capitalisation rate of 4.5% (2021: 4.5%). The higher the market rent, the
higher the fair value. The higher the capitalisation rate, the lower the fair value.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the impact of changes in the relevant unobservable

data as the management considers that the exposure is insignificant to the Group.

HRABREESREZAFEAEZEGFRENS EEE
EETHERABAMRHIZBALEREES 2EET
BERALEREES ZATE - EBEBARBTRMGEE
U8 TRESZHMERE - BB ARAREEREZR
AERHZKRMEXRBEABHEFRRIIERZ AZR
RLEBRE EREBATEEAR BN TEARER
BAALBRBEBEZ A UBEKAE XS ERABENBERE
R HAR(MTFRAE)  RFAXL X ZHERIRTBE
BERDABETEEFETHREESHBSARBREZA
FEZAEROE FETRTEEZARTLTEHE
RRZEEEREARAFECEERRIREME - EBA
BARMBMNEEE - ER AR EZ2HEDEEEALE
2EZ T RASEHNZ AR S 2 TI5AERGERE 2R
BERABZEEETIHE - HWARBHRE ARALRA
7 AIRREBEBAZHEREATDZEEEERER -
ZERPUETERATLRAREREAEARZHZER
ETHE - EBEBATKAUBRBSRELZ - REREZ
AT ERNREBE AR ZEERSRE  WIREA TSR
BETHE EXTAEREABRSENRE X (N F6.25%
£212%) cBREDRAALRAB 2 ABEE® - LRE
REBEARBZTREAGE  AREEMSERARERER
ETRE -BREYES  RATESRE  R2TR -

RERBERARENS  SEUREURZEEFEERAD
HRR B 2ITE - UAEEMEZ AFEELARE  UEE
AFE - HEMEGEDERRABEREMEE - WAE
M EBEBE AR AP W € KA E R T M/
BIEMRBRANBEERENTE - BEMEZRATETE
DEREATAIBRGASE (BEGMIMERSEFHK
NFARE142TTE ARY483TT (20215 : ARBI143TE A
R#46770) R B AL R45% (20214 : 45%)) 5t & - miHHA
s AFEAES - ENMERER - AFEBIE -

HREREERREHAREREMS L TEXN - R B
BRI BESBEED R ERBHREEDN -
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

The movement in the unlisted equity securities is as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year FHER
Acquisition during the year FRUWE

Net fair value gain/(loss) in profit or loss

Proceeds from disposal & A8 3R IE

Exchange translation differences EH =

Balance at end of the year FREH

(e) Even though the Group’s business model is to hold debt securities assets in order

to collect contractual cash flows, the cash flows of these investments do not meet the
HKFRS 9 criteria as solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

The fair value of the debt securities as at 31 March 2022 is HK$83.2 million (2021: HK$85.0
million) which is valued by reference to the Level 1 fair value measurement deriving
from quoted prices in active market for identical assets. The weighted average effective
interest rate is 6.1% (2021: 6.4%) per annum.

(f) The unlisted debt securities of HK$35.0 million (2021: HK$41.7 million) represent

investment in an unquoted convertible loan to a private operating company.

The fair value of the unquoted convertible loan is determined based on Binomial Option
pricing model with key inputs of the model including expected volatility, share price, risk
free rate and bond yield. An increase in the expected volatility used in isolation would

result in an increase in the fair value measurement of the unquoted convertible loan.

No sensitivity analysis is disclosed for the impact of changes in the relevant unobservable
data as the management considers that the exposure is insignificant to the Group.

The movement in the unlisted debt securities is as follows:

Balance at beginning of the year FOKEH
Acquisition during the year FRUWEE
Repayment during the year FREER

Net fair value (loss)/gain in profit or loss
Balance at end of the year FREEER

There was no transfer among different levels of the fair value
hierarchy in the current and prior year.
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FEMRAZF ZEFHMT :

2022 2021
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BEERT BEAT
400.6 4022
4.7 95
13.8 11.7)
(9.6) (123)
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409.8 400.6
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BEBT BESATT
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- 36

(3.7) =

g (3.0) 3.7
35.0 417

REAFRERBEFE  RFEEBR 2 TRER
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AND VALUATION
PROCESSES

The Group determines the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for Level 3 fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-observable data
to the extent it is available. The valuation is performed at the end
of each reporting period. Where there is material change in the fair
value of the assets, the cause of the fluctuations will be reported to
the management of the Group.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in
determining the fair value of assets are disclosed above.

22 OTHER ASSETS

Mortgage instalment receivables (note a)

Loan to an investee (note b) MIEEREHRER
Other assets Hi&E

Notes:

(a) The mortgage instalment receivables represent the financing provided to buyers

of development properties of the Group. The amounts bear interest at prime rate minus
2.5% to prime rate (2021: prime rate minus 2.5% to prime rate) and are receivable by
instalments over a period of not more than 25 years (2021: 25 years) from the sale
of relevant properties. The receivables are secured by a first mortgage or a second
mortgage over the respective properties. The portion of mortgage instalment receivables
due within one year of HK$12.0 million (2021: HK$10.9 million) is included as trade

receivables in current assets.

(b) The Group owns a 15% interest in an unlisted company incorporated in Singapore
which holds a commercial complex comprising a retail mall, 2 office towers and a
residential rental apartment in Tianjin, the PRC. The loan to the investee is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand. The Group has no intention to exercise its right
to demand repayment of these loans within the next twelve months from the end of
the reporting period. Accordingly, the amount is classified as non-current asset for the
purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial position.

e 3% 38 75 B K (P fEa)

AFEFERMGEERBRE

EEAF-EALTEAEETABENGER
5 K8 A BUE -

R AFER  SERATEATREEHN
MGABRHE - HERSHE B RET
BEZAVELRERED  HEBHZREK
AEBEREERSE -

BEHEEEERFEMERZMEERT REA
BRZEMN EXHE -

22 HitEE

2022 2021
HK$'M HK$'M

BHEBT BEATT

512.6 2140

(Bt sEb) 106.2 106.2
83.2 15.5

702.0 335.7

By &E

@) BRZBSBERNEETFTERERYEER 2
B o LRI R EEF R H25%E R EBEF KRB (20214 ¢
REBFRH S NEREERFR)  TEEAEAMES L%
NHBHA25F (20214F 1 254 ) A D HAYKE ot FEULEE R T IA B
FMEEE—IRBRE_RBIER - BHAB20EEET
(20214F : 109B BH JT) N —F A B 8 2 e Wiz 18 5 B4 5K
B ARBDEEZEKESHERA -

b) KER—KEMNMFEMRILZIELETAREEI%
i ZARRPERXERA - ARERARE  BF—EE
WS MERRAERER-—BEETEAS - MABRE
HRERREER 2ERZEREE SEESNHREY
RAEFHARA2{E B ATTEERER - BREEZZRN - At -
MERAMBRARZ2IIME - FASBECINEIRBEE
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23 INVENTORIES 23 78
2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
ER- ¥ AEAETT
Consumables S m 32,5 443
24 PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER 24 HHESFRE/IZEDRYE
DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE
2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
ER- ¥ AEETT
Current assets: mMBNEEE
Properties under development BERERAREEERTYE
for sale in Hong Kong 2,499.5 1,027.8
Properties under development BARIIMEEERTYE
for sale outside Hong Kong 2,097.3 1,103.8
4,596.8 2,131.6
Non-current assets: EMBEE :
Properties held for development for sale EABEARNEFERYE
in Hong Kong 3,654.9 =
Properties held for development for sale EEBIIMIEEFEZRERYE
outside Hong Kong 937.1 9324
4,592.0 9324

At the end of the reporting period, total borrowing costs capitalised R IREH K » 821 H BB It (20214 : 62980 &
in the properties under development for sale were HK$82.1 million B7L) CBREEXKAEBIEHLEEERPME
(2021: HK$62.9 million). The properties under development for sale  Z FX 7N © 4,596.8 8 &8 7T (20214 : 151978 &
amounting to HK$4,596.8 million (2021: HK$1,519.7 million) are  #Jt) ZHHEXEF YW EBHRRREH KL
expected to be completed after twelve months from the end of the ~ 5F1218 A & 525X o

reporting period.

192 HKR International Limited Annual Report 21/22



25 TRADE RECEIVABLES

The credit periods allowed by the Group to its customers are
dependent on the general practices in the industries concerned.
For property sales, sales terms vary for each property project and
are determined with reference to the prevailing market conditions.
Property rentals are receivable in advance. Payments for healthcare,
clubs and hotel services are receivable on demand.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of
allowance for credit losses, presented based on the payment due
date at the end of the reporting period:

Not yet due EEEE
Overdue: wHY
0 - 60 days 0-60K
61 - 90 days 61 - 90K
Over 90 days EBiEo0K

As at 31 March 2022, included in the Group's trade receivables
balances are debtor with aggregate carrying amount of HK$27.5
million (2021: HK$36.8 million) which are past due as at the reporting
date. Out of the past due balances, HK$4.2 million (2021: HK$5.2
million) has been past due 90 days or more and is not considered as
in default because based on the Group's historical information, the
counterparty is of a good credit quality and usually settles after due
date. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

The Group has provided allowance for receivables overdue beyond
120 days because historical experience is such that receivables
that are past due beyond 120 days are generally not recoverable.
Management closely monitors the credit quality of trade receivables
and considers the trade receivables that are neither past due nor
impaired to be of a good credit quality.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 44.

25 EIRE FEIRM

SEATERS 2 ERMRTERN—RE N
EeRMEMETE  HERKEEWEER
MR TLREBTREE - WERLAEL
B BRRE S REERYEZ 2 AER
BEREHA o

AT RENE SRR IREEBREE) N
SHRZBIMN KA BZ S Z BRI AT -

2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
BEBET BEABT
36.4 42.7
18.9 294

4.4 22

4.2 5.2

63.9 79.5

2022638318 - SEZEWE ZFRKEHRE
ERBEACI B EKEETE  FEEGREA
275B BB IT (20214F : 36.8E BB L) ° BEA
BER - 4A2BEBTQOE s2ABBT)E
BHROOR A £ - EERBEEENBEEER
RBUFHEELEERE  BENIIHA%KE
AR BEY SENTERZFEHT
BEMEKER -

SED A HEE 120K 2 BURREH R BA
ETHERBREEEER ZFAHEBI20K
ZEWER—REAATKE - EEEXER
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26 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

(a) DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES/BANK BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 March 2022, deposit, prepayment and other receivables
included an amount of HK$1,023.1 million (2021: HK$384.4 million)
which is deposit paid on acquisition of development projects.

As at 31 March 2022, bank balances and cash represent cash held
by the Group and short-term bank deposits at market interest rate
ranging from 0.01% to 2.45% (2021: 0.01% to 2.90%) per annum and
included an amount of HK$1.3 million (2021: HK$52.2 million) which
is sale proceeds arising from property sales held by stakeholders.

(b) AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

The amounts due from associates are unsecured, non-trade nature,
non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

(c) AMOUNTS DUE FROM JOINT VENTURES

The amounts due from joint ventures are unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 44,

27 ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR
SALE

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group has committed to
a plan to sell two investment properties in Japan. Sales and purchase
agreements were entered into to sell the properties in Japan at a
total consideration of HK$237.4 million. The disposal of the properties
in Japan was completed in April 2022. Accordingly, the carrying value
of these properties of approximately HK$187.5 million was classified
as "assets classified as held for sale” in the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2022.
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28 TRADE PAYABLES, PROVISION AND
ACCRUED CHARGES

Included in trade payables, provision and accrued charges are
trade payables of HK$76.2 million (2021: HK$117.1 million), an aged
analysis presented based on the payment due date at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

Not yet due &) 7R Bl HA
Overdue: BH -
0 - 60 days 0-60K
61 - 90 days 61 - 90K
Over 90 days B HRBO0K

The average credit period on purchases of goods and payment for
subcontractor works is 90 days.

The trade payables, provision and accrued charges include (i)
construction cost accruals of HK$346.1 million (2021: HKS$365.9
million); and (ii) provision for certain construction obligations
of HK368.5 million (2021: HK$328.5 million). In the course of the
property development activities, the Group is obliged to construct
certain common or public facilities within the development projects
in accordance with the development plans approved by the relevant
authorities. Provision for such construction costs has been made
when a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made and the
details of the movement of the provision are set out below:

Balance at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and
1 April 2021
Provided during the year

Balance at 31 March 2022

28 EREFRNR BERK
FEstE R

ENESERZ BREREFERTBEEEMNE
SERI62AEHB T Q021F - M7 1BEBT)
IWTNERBRERRIZBBARBHEEN 2R
DHT

2022 2021
HK$'M HKS$'M
BEERT BEAT
41.8 713

28.1 423

27 03

3.6 32

76.2 117.1

REEQRXAHBIRREZ FHRENA
90K °

ENESERR BELETERREOER
B A346.18 BB T (20214 : 36598 &8
7C)  R(iEh B T EZEAE AT ER 36858 &
PETT (202148 - 3285BBHETT) - KREEETY
X¥BRRIPH2BER  AREBEEHERE
BRAE RERBERNERZETAXRLR
mite e EEER A HILBATHAEZ S REIEN
A S RS RERNELBE M
HEH 2 FBEHIOT

HK$'M
BEBRT

M2020F4A18 ~ 2021534318 &
2021F4 A1 H 2 & 64
FANEIEEE

M2022F3 A318 2 &6k

3285
40.0

368.5
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29 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 29 AR
2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
BEA BEET
Property sale deposits YEEELRS 75.5 246.8
Advance payments from customers EPENK 127.1 83.7
202.6 330.5
Less: Amount included under current B ETARBAEGE SR
liabilities (138.8) (300.2)
Amount included under non-current SAERBHEEZSE
liabilities 63.8 30.3

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised in  TEXHI RN AEEELZLEBRRABHEES

the current year relates to carried-forward contract liabilities. ABEERE -
2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
BEEBT BEAT
Revenue recognised that was included FFAFEVIE LB EARD
in contract liabilities balances at the BRI -
beginning of the year:
Property sales deposits MEEEES 246.8 1,167.5
Advance payments from customers BEEEMNK 53.4 346
300.2 1,202.1
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30 BANK AND OTHER LOANS

Bank loans (note a)
Bonds and notes (note b)

Less: Amount included under current
liabilities (including bank loans with a
repayable on demand clause)

Amount included under non-current
liabilities

Bank and other loans are repayable:

On demand or within one year
Between one and two years
Between two and five years
Over five years

Secured
Unsecured

Bank loans that contain a repayable on
demand clause (shown under current
liabilities) and the scheduled payment is
(note q):

Within one year

Notes:

(a) As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s bank loans carried interest at an average (a)
margin of 0.95% (2021: 0.96%) plus HIBOR, other relevant interbank offered rates or other

benchmark interest rates per annum.

(b) On 10 April 2013, the Company established a US$1.0 billion Medium Term Note (b)
Programme (“MTN Programme”). On 25 May 2021, a 10-year Hong Kong dollar fixed rate
notes in the principal amount of HK$300 million at a coupon rate of 3.25% per annum

was issued under the MTN Programme.

(@] The amounts due are based on scheduled payment dates set out in the (0

respective loan agreements.

RITE K (Ff5Ea)
B R ERE (K &b)

B RARBRBEZEE (B
E B Al RERS 2 REE HRK
ZHRITER)

FFARBRBEZEHE

BEM
i

HB AR EREREGRRL
ROTER(RRBEEIT)
BEFMA (o) -
—F A

f i -

30 RITREMER

2022 2021
HKS$'M HKS'M
BEET BEAET
10,357.3 74188
298.1 266.0
10,655.4 7,684.8
(2,390.8) (776.8)
8,264.6 6,908.0
2,390.8 776.8
3,237.9 105.0
4,728.6 6,803.0
298.1 =
10,655.4 7,684.8
- 140.0
10,655.4 7,544.8
10,655.4 7,684.8
295.6 465.3

20223 A318 - £EBITE E IR T F095% (2021
F:096%) 2 FHERERNBEBRITAERER - Hitvig

BRITRAEF SRR EMEEN KRR -

M20135F4 8108 * R ARRLI0EETZ2HFHRERE
8 ([hEZETE]) - B2021F58258 @ IRIBEPHZE
FTEIE BT ASATEI00B BT Z10F HIREF325%EH

MEFBZETERRE °

FMBORTIRE BNE R B H T BE R H -
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31 LEASE LIABILITIES 31 HE&E
2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
BEA BEET
Lease liabilities payable: ENHERE:
Within one year —F R 7.1 19.0
Within a period of more than one year —FUAEETRBBREZ
but not more than two years HEA 6.0 9.5
Within a period of more than two years WMEAEBETBBRFZ
but not more than five years HEA 7.6 8.2
Within a period of more than five years AFELAEZHER 39.0 40.1
59.7 76.8
Less: Amount due for settlement with W RN RBEENRI2EAN
12 months shown under current ZHR{EIE 2 A
liabilities (7.1) (18.9)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months R IEZREN B EFI/R1218 B 8 2| 5
shown under non-current liabilities B8 258 52.6 57.9

Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies other than the  LAMERBEEBERE 2t EB AN EK A EZ
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below: HERESEYNET :

Japanese yen Renminbi Thai baht
H AR £ 7
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

BERT BHEATT BEER
At 31 March 2022 M2022%F3H31H 2.7 11.5 0.8
At 31 March 2021 M20213A31H 0.6 44 1.9
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32 OTHER LIABILITIES

Advances from non-controlling shareholders — JE#E A& A% 58 2 #4738
(note a) (Bt 3¥a)
Club debentures (note b) & PfEs (Mstb)

Less: Amount due within one year included

B EFARBREL—

32 Hha &

under current liabilities B HAFRIR
Amount due after one year —F 1% B HIFRIB
Notes:
(a) The amount represents advances from non-controlling shareholders of

subsidiaries to finance operation of those subsidiaries. The amounts carry interest at
3-month HIBOR plus 3.5% per annum up to 31 December 2020. From 1 January 2021, the
amounts carry interest at 1-month HIBOR plus 2.5% per annum.

As at 31 March 2021, except for the advance from a non-controlling shareholder
amounting to HK$295.0 million (2022: nil), which was expected to be settled in the
coming twelve months that was presented as current liabilities, the remaining amount
was not repayable within one year.

(b) Club debentures are non-interest bearing, unsecured, redeemable on their
maturity dates in 2047. These debentures are issued to members of the following clubs
operated by the Group and the principal amount of the club debentures issued are as
follows:

WEEEELRE

y et =)
[ /é‘%% =

Discovery Bay Golf Club

Discovery Bay Recreation Club

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of club debentures at amortised cost and
deferred income amounted to HK$608.8 million (2021: HK$597.0 million) and HK$206.7
million (2021: HK$215.3 million) respectively.

2022 2021
HK$'M HK$'M
HEBT BEAT
1,663.6 519.7
815.5 8123
2,479.1 1,332.0
FA
- (295.0)
2,479.1 1,037.0
PaE

@ RFARWMBARFFEEBRRET  BUABNZE
MEBRREERT - EE2020F 128318 R 1E - ZRIER=
8 B EIE B IR1T R 17 B h03.5%2 F I R EF S - B2021
FIRAERE AR AR SMEBRITEERFEMN25%2
FRREFERS -

R20213A318 ' B A #0295.08 &8 T (20224 : &) WA
HRARIEANEEZEERBRRBR (2 ARBDEE)
SN BRTRIEBAR —FRER -

b)) EBREZARE  BEMRAR047FAEEHZEH
BERE - WEEHDHEITT T HEEMKLE L EMNEER
ERTZEMESFZASENT ¢

2022 2021
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT BEBT
665.9 661.2
149.6 151.1
815.5 8123

M2022F3A31H  REBHEK AT EZEMEFURIELTK
AZ BRHEE S B A608.8H &% 7T (20214 : 597.08 &8 T)
F2067E BB T (20214 21535 EHBIT) ©
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33 DEFERRED TAXATION 33 BEEFIE

The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities)/assets recognised LA N ACHR 2 EBEIEHIE (BE) /BE
and movements thereon during the current and prior reporting years: RERIBITRAFREFE 2 &

Fair value Distributable
Accelerated  change of profits of
tax investment Tax foreign Others
depreciation  properties losses  subsidiaries (note) Total
BHE
MEHE ~ RENE RAFH it
WE ATESD  HEFE  2REN (MaE) H)
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

BEERn HEERT HEET BEER HEBR  HEAR

At 1 April 2020 1R2020E4A1H (267.8) (1103) 408 (95.3) 07 (4333)
Exchange translation differences ERESE (0.2) (5.8) - (6.9) 03 (126)
(Charge)/credit to profit or loss (B 5t NB2 (14.0) 219 393 (16.1) 604 915
Charge to investment revaluation NGEREERRE

reserve - - - - 0.7) 0.7)
At 31 March 2021 R202143A318 (282.0) (94.2) 80.1 (1183) 593 (355.1)
Exchange translation differences ERER 13 (09 = (47) 02 (41)
(Charge)/credit to profit or loss (10%%) /5t A% (127) 293 08 (94.) (64) (832)
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAF 08 = (1.0) = (23) (2.5)
At 31 March 2022 R2022%3831A (292.6) (65.8) 79.9 (217.2) 50.8 (444.9)

Note: These mainly represent net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in relation M W EFEE TR ETYEREBEE RS BN FAEDR
to unrealised profit of certain property development projects and gain on fair value CEEREEE/ (BE)FRULAEBEELEDERHELEE

change upon transfer of properties held for sale and properties under development for BRPYEERTIREMER A TFEEEE -
sale to investment properties.
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For the purposes of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
been offset in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. The
following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for
financial reporting purposes:

Deferred tax liabilities EEHRIBEE
Deferred tax assets R IBE E

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of HK$2,065.0 million (2021: HKS1,940.2 million) available for offset
against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of approximately HK$484.2 million (2021: HK$485.5 million)
of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of the remaining HK$1,580.8 million (2021: HK$1,454.7 million) due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of HK$218.0 million (2021: HK$210.0 million)
mainly arising from impairment losses recognised in respect of
property, plant and equipment, inventory and certain financial assets
at amortised cost. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is not probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

REBEASYBRRARME  ETELEHEE
ENBEEREEZEFERRENE - A TRHA
REA %25 B 1 ZIRET IR AR (EIHR) D4 -

2022 2021
HK$'M HK$'M
BHEBR BEAT
(502.5) (469.0)
57.6 113.9
(444.9) (355.1)

RIEHR  SEAKRFEAFIEEBIE B206508
BT (20215 - 104028 8% 7T) - Al ARK
5 oK H F o H AR #94842F B8 7T (20214 ¢
4855EH BB L) BECERELHIBEE - B
P A TR ORI R AR s Fm A - B b 3 4 h R R
1,580.8F & /8 7T (20214 1 145478 B%& T) #E
RELERBEE -

GFERETIHREHERATEZ SCREEZEE
R ERESI B AR E R EZ5 A21808
BT (20214F : 21008 88 7T) - AR AR
BE G FE R i A AT B RO #K 8 1) Rk B R = KE
B b 3 48 Bh 5% 55 AT HRL D B £ KR M SRR I B IE
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34 SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each

Authorised: SETE

At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021
and 31 March 2022

Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021

and 31 March 2022

35 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted two share option schemes on 8 September
2011 (the “2011 Scheme”) and on 25 August 2021 (the “2021
Scheme”) respectively (collectively, the “Schemes”) which permits
the directors of the Company to grant share options to all directors
(including any Executive Directors and Non-executive Directors),
full-time employees and any consultants (employed on a contract
basis) of the Company and its subsidiaries to subscribe for shares in
the Company. The 2011 Scheme was terminated on 27 August 2021
but the share options granted prior to the termination continue to
be valid and exercisable in accordance with the 2011 Scheme.

During the year, the directors were granted with certain share
options under 2021 Scheme. As at 31 March 2022, the number of
shares in respect of which share options had been granted and
remained outstanding under the 2011 Scheme and 2021 Scheme
was 35,750,000 (2021: 44,880,000), representing 2.41% of the shares
of the Company and 39,940,000 (2021: nil), representing 2.69% of the
shares of the Company in issue as at 31 March 2022 respectively.
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34 A

EFREE25B T2 E B

MR2020F4H18 ~ 202193H318
202154 A1H K2022F3 A31H

MR2020F4H18 ~ 202193 H318
202154 A1H K2022F3 A31H

Number
of shares HK$'M
% 8 BE#ET
4,000,000,000 1,000.0
1,485,301,803 371.3

35 IR HAREH 2l

AR A D BIFR2011F9A8H ([2011F5HE1]) &
2021F8 H258 ([2021F 5+ &) B4 7 /9 (& A%
MERER Bl ([ZERH8)) F 255885 4A A
RIEEMARARENBARZMAEES (B
FAMRTESRIERTES) - 2BEER
ERUEHFAER 2 ERER LA REARRF
B AR 2 AN HARE » 201146 5181 2 R20214F8 A 27
B E - BERKRIEERRE 2 ROBEEES
A AT ARIE 2011 AT EITT6E o

FAR EBRB20VFAEERE TRM?
TE o FA20225F3 A31H » R IE20114F 51 8 52021
FrEEREBERRITENRDBESS XA
f& 17 81 B %35,750,0008% (20214F : 44,880,0004% )
$239,940,0008% (20214F : &) * D EAME AR F R
20223 A31H B BT H2.41% 5% 2.69% ©



Details of the movements of the share options granted are as follows: DR HRMDEIE Z EEFFEBOT -

Lapsed Outstanding Granted Lapsed
during asat during during
Exercise Outstanding the year 31 March the year theyear Outstanding
price per asat ended 2021 and ended ended asat
Category of share 1 April 31 March 1 April 31 March 31 March 31 March
participants Date of grant Exercise period HK$ 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2022
R20215F

REZ  3A31BR REZ REZE
SR H2020% 20215 20215 20225 20226 2022
fTEE 481R 3A318 481H 3A318 3A31A 3A318

SEEER Rt A EH BT MRTHE LEEAN MARTHE LEERE LFEEAN iel R AT
Director 28 February 2017 28 February 2017 to 27 February 2027 3.845 10,560,000 - 10,560,000 - - 10,560,000
Ex 2017%2R28A 201752A288 F2027F 28278
Director 12 March 2018 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028 4373 17,160,000 - 17,160,000 - - 17,160,000
B 2018%3A128 2018F3A 128 £2028F3 8110
Director 24 November 2021 24 November 2021 to 23 November 2026 3.028 - - - 35,200,000 - 35,200,000
Ex 20215117248 2021511 A24B 22026811238
Ex-director 28 February 2017 28 February 2017 to 27 February 2027 3845 6,600,000 = 6,600,000 = (3,190,000) 3,410,000
AES 20178F2A288 201752288 22027824278
Ex-director 12 March 2018 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028 4373 9,680,000 - 9,680,000 - (5,500,000) 4,180,000
MES 2018F3A128 2018538128 2202853 A1
Employee 12 March 2018 12 March 2018 to 11 March 2028 4373 1,100,000 (220,000) 880,000 = (440,000) 440,000
E& 201837128 2018F3A 128 Z2028F3811A
Employee 24 November 2021 24 November 2021 to 23 November 2026 3.028 - - - 4,740,000 - 4,740,000
E& 20215117248 2021611 A24B 22026811238

45,100,000 (220000) 44880000 39940000  (9,130,000) 75,690,000

Exercisable at the end of the year

FRATE 75,690,000
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In respect of fair value of options granted during the year ended 31
March 2022, the inputs into the model were as follows:

Spot price (B
Exercise price IEE
Expected volatility T8 HA R 1@
Risk-free rate # J3 f )

Expected dividend yield
Exercise period

1T

The fair value of the share options is determined using the Binomial
Option Pricing Model. The variables and assumptions used in
computing the fair values of the share options are based on the
directors’ best estimates. Expected volatility is based on the historical
share price volatility of the Company over the past 5 years. Expected
dividend vyield is based on the historical dividend payment of the
Company. The risk-free interest rate is interpolated from the Hong
Kong Monetary Authority’s Hong Kong Exchange Fund Bills/Notes as
at the date of grant.

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$18.9 million (2021: nil)
for the year ended 31 March 2022 in relation to share options granted
by the Company to the directors and employees of the Group.
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T8 HA R B 2

MR E2022F3A318 IEFERE AR D HI#
AFEME  BRERAZHAZBEOT :

24 November 2021
20214F11 A24H

HK$2.990
2.9907% 7T
HK$3.028
3.02878 7T

23.51%

1.232%

2.54%

24 November 2021 to
23 November 2026
2021F11 A24B 2
2026511 A23H

Bty i 2 R ETRA ZBAR D BEEE
BABE AERNMBRZAFERERZE
BEBRIBRBEECRAERELT - BH
KIETIIRIBE AR BB ESFAERERIEAE
BEHRERERDIREBEAR B AER BB
At E - BRBRANXTTATEEREERETR
SMNER S RB/MBEHFNEH B MESR -

REE2002F3A83MBIEFE SERAR A
HYEBEZEREE 2 RMBERER T H A%
189B E BT (20214 : ) o



36 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 36 REHRERERKE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT BEFORE (a) REAGANELEEFRFSREFH
TAXATION TO NET CASH GENERATED FROM Z ¥ AR
OPERATIONS
2022 2021
Notes HK$’'M HKS'M
B 5 BEERT BEAT
Profit before taxation from: REMNTEE ZBRBADGE R -
Continuing operations S B IS B TS 1,676.6 1,628.1
Discontinued operation Eigﬂzﬂ“%%i‘k 12 26.9 126
Adjustments for: HATIEEEL 2 #H% -
Finance costs M5 E M 8,12 123.8 88.3
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEEZBZITE
equipment 17 203.1 179.1
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TRAREEZTE 18 21.0 222
Amortisation of bonds B 2 # i (0.5) -
Impairment loss on investments REHEKAFEZEBIA
in debt instruments measured ®EZREEE
at amortised cost 7 8.6 0.2
Impairment loss recognised/(reversed) TR/ (BE)ERTEE AT
on loans to joint ventures ZREEE 7 0.7 (03)
Impairment loss on other assets HEtEEZRERE 7 0.2 =
Impairment loss on property, Y BEREREZREREE
plant and equipment 7 7.1 -
Net (gain)/loss on financial assets at BROFESFABG eMEE
FVTPL (Yeas) /B 18 7% 2R 7 (1.1 29
Net gain on mortgage instalment FE W IR 18 5 A SR U s ) EE
receivables 7 (14.5) -
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, s E%% WE R&EZ
plant and equipment (W) /518 %58 (0.9) 3.0
Net gain on disposal of right-of-use assets B A E 2 Wk ¥ 8 (0.6) -
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries 6 BB 0 5] 2 W ah % 8 37 (35.6) =
Net gain on deregistration of subsidiaries BSHEM B AR 2 W FE 7 (0.3) (77.2)
Share of results of associates DIGE A AR EE 19 0.2 0.1
Share of results of joint ventures PaN SR /NI ¥ 20 (343.4) (220.6)
Realised gains on disposals of investment i %Txﬁ?@%ﬁ-rza’ﬁfﬁ%ﬁé
properties 16 (384.6) (3.5)
Unrealised gains on change in RENMENTEESZ
fair value of investment properties REIE S 16 (63.3) (20.0)
Interest income 2 WA (48.7) (50.1)
Equity-settled share-based payments N EE RN AER 2
L 18.9 =
Change in working capital: EEECEY):
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FER A/ (5G) 6.0 04
Decrease in properties held for sale BIELEWERD 1,894.9 4645
(Increase)/decrease in properties held HEEFER/BRERYE
for/under development for sale (3 hn) /R 2 (6,370.0) 480.1
Increase in trade receivables fE U E 5 BR FRIE AN (0.4) (50.0)
(Increase)/decrease in deposits, e - TERT A R E A FE IR

prepayments and other receivables KIA (i‘ ) /R (1,027.9) 305.9
Increase in mortgage instalment JRE Wi 48 53 BR 41 338 AN

receivables (284.1) (123.0)
Increase in amounts due from joint FEN & & A B FRIEIE N

ventures (12.0) (4€
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables, FERTE SRR - BE R IERT

provision and accrued charges BRI Cld) 53.1 (256.9)
Increase/(decrease) in deposits received ElEeREMEREBE

and other financial liabilities &0/ CRl ) 9.1 (41.7)
Decrease in contract liabilities SHERRKD (131.0) (897.4)

Cash (used in)/generated from operations w8 (A /FERe (4,668.7) 1,441.5
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(b) RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

(b) MEEEFELEEEZHIK

TRAJNEERELTDMELABZEH (B
RASIERSEY) BREIDAELEZA
BEHREREZRECHARAKRRSREMNEBEL
EREREXRTHESRELTDRERELRA

f&°

activities.
Advances
from non-
Dividend Interest ~ Bankand  controlling Club Lease
payables  payables otherloans shareholders debentures liabilities Total
/IR FERRR
EARE  EMAE  HHEXR 2B¥  gfifEx HEAE @it
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BE#An HBE#AR HEER BEER RAEER  BEER  REEX
At 1 April 2021 R021%54A1R - - 7,684.8 519.7 812.3 76.8 9,093.6
Financing cash flows HARSNE (242.9) (1207) 3,354 1,108.8 3.2 (220 37616
Exchange translation differences EXER - - (41.7) - - - (41.7)
Interest expenses FERT - 97.4 - 238 - 26 1238
Interests capitalised in the qualifying ~ RABREEEA(LZFIS
assets
- Properties under development -HNERERYE
for sale - 443 - 13 - - 55.6
Dividends to a non-controlling A-2EERRERTRE
shareholder 1241 - - - - - 124.1
Dividends declared BEERRE 1188 - - - - - 1188
Renewal of lease BiRE - - - - - 19.2 19.2
Disposal of lease HERE - - - - - (5.6) (5.6)
Others 2 - (21.0) (23.1) - - (11.1) (55.2)
At 31 March 2022 #2022%3431H - - 10,655.4 1,663.6 815.5 59.7 13,194.2
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Dividend Interest
payables payables
ERNRE  ERFE
HKS'M HKSM
BEEL BEAT
At 1 Apri 2020 R020E4A18 =
Financing cash flows HERERE (1634) (119)
Exchange translation differences ELEE -
Interest expenses FERT = 817
Interests capitalised in the qualifying ~ RABREEEA(LZFIE
assels
- Properties under development forsale  —fHEXERNE = 353
- Investment properties -RENE -
- Property, plant and equipment 0% BERIE - 2]
Dividend from a joint venture REAERTZRE -
Dividends declared EERRE 1634
New leases entered BiuHEE -
Renewal of lease BITHE -

At 31 March 2021 R021%3A8318 =

(c) ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances and cash

The market interest rate of the bank balances at 31 March 2022 was
in the range of 0.01% to 2.45% (2021: 0.01% to 2.90%) per annum.
The directors of the Company consider the carrying amount of the
Group's bank balances and cash at the end of the reporting period
approximates their corresponding fair values.

For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021, the
Group performed impairment assessment on bank balances and
concluded that the probability of defaults of the counterparty bank
is insignificant and accordingly, no allowance for credit losses is
provided.

Advances

from non-
controlling
shareholders
Bankand  andajoint Club Lease
other loans venture  debentures liabilities Total
FIERBER
BTk ReEAF
A& ZBY eFfER  HERE B3t
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
RE#ET REERT AEAT  BEBT  BEAR
73212 8712 8099 83.0 90853
3927 (195.7) 24 (237) (1068)
(29.1) - - 06 (285)
= 36 = 30 883
- 105 - - 458
_ 40 = - 40
- 17 - - 38
- (1756) - - (1756)
- - - - 1634
- - - 03 03
- - - 136 136
76848 5197 8123 768 90936

() BRERBEEEHERBERIN

2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
BHEBET BEBTT
2,717.7 3,060.9

SR1T A5 82 PA20229F3 A318 2 ™ 5 F| R £ F
R0.01%ZE2.45% (20214F 1 0.01%ZE2.90%) 2 £ &
Ae ARNAIEERAEENRITEHRERERN
WEMR REEHEEEATEES -

H 22022F3 8310 K2021F3A3 1B L FE -
SECHBTEKRETRETGL  IRARS
BITEHNITREETK AT EHEEEE
TEL B -
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37 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(@ On 20 August 2021, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, Hong Kong Health Resort Limited entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party, and pursuant
to which Hong Kong Health Resort Limited disposed of its entire
interest in Co-Success Investment Limited and its shareholders’ loans
to Co-Success Investment Limited granted by the Group. Co-Success
Investment Limited is engaged in property investment business
in Hong Kong. The net consideration after the transaction costs is
HKS$31.5 million.

The disposal was completed on 20 September 2021.

Assets and liabilities of Co-Success Investment Limited on the date of
disposal are as follows:

37 HEME QT

@ M2021%F8H20H  RRARIZEEME R
AlHong Kong Health Resort Limited 82 — %5 % 37 55
= HEIMEE W& - #E Ik - Hong Kong Health
Resort Limited R EHRERKFEBRAFIZE
HEmEEREGREEBRARRLE ZKE
BER - -ORREBRATNBEREMERE
HR - HIBRRZHNAEcREFERISES

BT

HEEEMN20215F9 8208 =K -

ERREERAANEEERZEERBEN
T

HKS'M
BEATT
Net assets disposed of: HEZEEFE:

Investment property AWM 279
Property, plant and equipment M - WERH&E 2.5
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEBE (0.8)
29.6

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HEMNB AR 2 :
Net consideration received B EFRE 315
Net assets disposed of TECEEFE (29.6)
1.9

Net cash inflows arising on disposal: HEZRESMAFE
Net consideration received B EFE 315
Bank balance and cash disposed of HECRITESREE S =
315
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(b)  On 1 November 2021, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, Partner Ally Limited entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party, and pursuant to which
Partner Ally Limited disposed of its entire interest in Rainbow Alpha
Holdings Limited and its shareholders’ loans to Rainbow Alpha
Holdings Limited granted by the Group. Rainbow Alpha Holdings
Limited is engaged in property development business in Hong Kong.
The net consideration after the transaction costs is HK$157.8 million.

The disposal was completed on 30 November 2021.

Assets and liabilities of Rainbow Alpha Holdings Limited on the date
of disposal are as follows:

(b) M2021F1NMAIH ARBIZHEEZEWEB
RAFEXKBRARE—EBULE=-FEIVEER
W Bt FKBRAFTEEERIIEER
ERAFRIZEHEEEBAREZERERA
AR ZBREER - REERERABNES
WREMEBRIEE - BT IRAKZRETF
FEA1578EBETT o

HEETER2021511 A30H 7T o

BEZERERATNEEEAZEERAEN
T

HKS'M
BEET
Net assets disposed of: HECEESE:

Property held for sale RIEHEZME 162.9
Deferred tax assets EERIIAE E 32
Trade receivables, deposits and prepayments JEWE 5 IR~ L& RTENRIE 12
Deposits received BlZ® (1.0)
166.3

Loss on disposal of a subsidiary: HENBARZEIRE :
Net consideration received B EFRE 157.8
Net assets disposed of TECEEFE (166.3)
(8.5)

Net cash inflows arising on disposal: BEZHRERAFRE
Net consideration received B EFRE 157.8
Bank balance and cash disposed of HECRITEHREES =
157.8
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(00 On 1 December 2021, a wholly owned subsidiary of the () H2021%F12818 ' AARIZ2EWEBE A
Company, Hong Kong Health Resort Limited entered into a sale  &]Hong Kong Health Resort Limited 82 — 45 % 37 55
and purchase agreement with an independent third party, and =75 3] 37 B & 1% 3% © # Itk * Hong Kong Health
pursuant to which Hong Kong Health Resort Limited disposed of its  Resort Limited B E ERNEF B R A 7 2 & 21
entire interest in Active Future Limited and its shareholders’ loans to  z= R EBEBESBER A A H ZREER 8
Active Future Limited granted by the Group. Active Future Limited S AR AGREBNRESWEREER - B
is engaged in property investment business in Hong Kong. The net S A& 2 R B E 2B A208B BT o
consideration after the transaction costs is HK$29.8 million.

The disposal was completed on 28 December 2021. HEEIER2021F12828H T/ ©

Assets and liabilities of Active Future Limited on the date of disposal EFABARAINEEEH 2 EERBENT
are as follows:

HKS'M
BEET
Net assets disposed of: HECEEFE:
Investment property AWM 289
Property, plant and equipment W - WER&E 0.1
Deferred tax assets EERIIAE B 0.1
Trade receivables, deposits and prepayments EUWE SRR e RIENKIEB 0.1
29.2
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HEMNB AR 2 :
Net consideration received B EFE 29.8
Net assets disposed of TECEEFE (29.2)
0.6
Net cash inflows arising on disposal: BEZRERAFRE
Net consideration received EWREFRE 29.8
Bank balance and cash disposed of HECRITEHREES =
29.8
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(d) On 16 February 2022, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, GenRx Holdings Limited entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with an independent third party, and pursuant to which
GenRx Holdings Limited disposed of its entire interest in Excellent
Power Investments Limited and its shareholders’ loans to Excellent
Power Investments Limited granted by the Group. Excellent Power
Investments Limited and its subsidiaries are engaged in operation of
comprehensive healthcare service network in Hong Kong and Macau.
The net consideration after the transaction costs is HK$66.1 million.

The disposal was completed on 31 March 2022.

Assets and liabilities of Excellent Power Investments Limited and its
subsidiaries on the date of disposal are as follows:

d  M2025F2R16H - ARG z22EWE A
R NIEBRERARE—BBIE=FHET
EEWa B REOZERERAAGHER
A Excellent Power Investments Limited 2 & &R #E
= N % [E [MExcellent Power Investments Limited
R 2 B3R E X o Excellent Power Investments
Limited R HIff B A R IR E 2 E A B BIRE
R - BEEREB KB - MR HKAE
ZREFERCIAEBT -

HEEEMR2022F3A31H K °

Excellent Power Investments Limited &2 £ M B A

ANHEEAZEERABBENT

HKS'M
BEET
Net assets disposed of: HECEESE:
Property, plant and equipment M - BER&EE 173
Right-of-use assets EREEE 107
Other assets H A& EE 4.0
Inventories T8 5.7
Trade receivables, deposits and prepayments EWE SRR - He RIEN KA 14.7
Bank balances and cash WITHEBRIRS 18
Trade payables, provision and accrued charges BRNESER BERETER (16.2)
Contract liabilities GHEE 24)
Lease liabilities MHEAE (11.1)
245
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HENB AR 2 :
Net consideration received B EFRE 66.1
Net assets disposed of TECEEFE (24.5)
41.6
Net cash inflows arising on disposal: BEZHRERAFRE
Net consideration received B EFE 66.1
Bank balance and cash disposed of HECZRITEHREES (1.8)
64.3
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38 PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022, no bank loans of the Group were secured by
investment properties (2021: HK$306.6 million).

In addition, the loans to a joint venture by the Group amounting
to approximately HK$854.5 million (2021: HK$803.9 million) were
subordinated to banks to secure a banking facility granted to the
joint venture for financing a property development project.

39 FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

Guarantee given, to the extent of the
Group's proportionate share, in respect of
a banking facility granted to an investee
company (note)

Guarantee given, to the extent of the Group's
proportionate share, in respect of a
banking facility granted to a joint venture
for the development of a project (note)

PR (M)

e 2 B R (B FE)

Note: No provision for financial guarantee contracts has been recognised in the
consolidated financial statements as the fair value of the financial guarantee on
initial recognition and the amount of provision to be recognised subsequently was

insignificant.

40 COMMITMENTS

Contracted but not provided for: BEEAERERE :

Capital expenditure in respect of investment

properties and property, plant and B2 EARRAEZ
equipment
Others H
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38 EEEKHA

202238318 - EEWERIBITERMIEH#
A Z B (20214F : 3066ABBTT) °

AN RE-—KEERRERRITEER F
RYEXBERFERAZES  SHEHORKRTREE

R A4I854.58 BB T (20214F : 80398 & 7T)
ZERMPITIERERE -

39 UHBERED

AEBAELL PIRIR - BRI E
NEEENRITEERELZ

NEBERELPIRR  sLasgl
AIRRBBERNRITERER

2022 2021
HK$'M HK$'M
BEERT BEAT
107.1 103.2
1,616.1 1,052.5

MisE : MR PIARERO M BER 2 AFERERETHER
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41 LEASING ARRANGEMENTS
THE GROUP AS LESSOR

Property rental income earned from investment properties and other
properties during the year was HK$474.0 million (2021: HK$478.8
million) in aggregate, of which HK$460.5 million (2021: HK$466.5
million) was generated from investment properties of the Group.
Investment properties and other properties with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$14,319.4 million (2021: HKS$15,235.3 million)
were held for rental purposes at the end of the reporting period.
Depreciation charge for the year in respect of other properties
was HKS$1.4 million (2021: HKS$1.3 million). The properties held
have committed tenants for a period from one to thirteen years.
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with
tenants for the following future minimum leases payments under
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

—FR

Within one year
In the second to fifth year inclusive

AFNUE

Over five years

F_E2ELF (BREREMF)

41 FHE L H
EEBHEA
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42 RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
HONG KONG

In order to comply with Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”)
with employer’s voluntary contributions has been established on 1
December 2000.

For the members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5%
of the relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, subject to a cap
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 effective 1 June 2014 for
the MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by the employee.
The Group also makes voluntary contribution in addition to the
mandatory contribution.

The amount charged to profit or loss represents contributions paid
or payable of HK$20.9 million (2021: HK$20.8 million) to the MPF
Scheme by the Group, less forfeitures on voluntary contribution of
HK$3.1 million (2021: HKS$3.7 million) arising from employees leaving
the Group prior to completion of the qualifying service period.

At the end of the reporting period, there is no forfeited contributions,
which arose upon employees leaving the retirement benefits
schemes and which are available to reduce the contributions payable
in future years (2021: nil).

MAINLAND CHINA AND OVERSEAS

The employees of the Group in mainland China and overseas are
members of state-managed retirement benefits schemes operated
by the respective local governments in relevant jurisdictions. The
Group is required to contribute and recognise a specified percentage
of payroll costs to the schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligations of the Group with respect to these schemes are to make
the specified contributions and recognise the respective retirement
pay in accordance with terms set out in the schemes and relevant
jurisdiction requirements.

The total cost charged to profit or loss in respect of the
above-mentioned schemes in the relevant jurisdictions amounted to
approximately HK$6.0 million (2021: HK$4.1 million).
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43 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes long-term bank and other loans, short-term bank loans
and other liabilities as disclosed in Notes 30 and 32, net of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital, reserves and accumulated profits.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
periodic basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors of the Company,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well
as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

43 EXERERE
iffz«( Py

AHEAESEE TS ERHESELE &H
HEHEABTER  WHEBEEHLBRAZER
?F%ﬁﬂﬁﬁ%ﬂx%ﬁi%?ﬁ@#& SEZEE
RIEEBEFERFTIE -

EEZEAALERREER FE (BT RERT
30K T RBRITREMER - BHR
TERREMEE HBRESMRESEEER)
RARNBHEREANEGEZ (BIEEEITRA
HEEREEF) °

ARREFZERRMAEARNGERE - ERULER
Z—H#n ARREEFEEBESKARER

BAZHBAER REARBDNEEZEE &
B R 5 B S - BATHTAY - BB AR R TR
ﬁ%ﬂiﬁa@ﬁﬁﬁﬁ% REAFEERBEARLERE

EHAXEREMERAR 21/22 5% 215



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERERE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

44 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets EREE
Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets at amortised cost

Equity instruments measured at FVTOCI

FFTEZBRATA
Financial liabilities SRAaE
Amortised cost 3o DN

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments include equity instruments
measured at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL, investments in debt
instruments measured at amortised cost, trade receivables, amounts
due from associates, loans to joint ventures, amounts due from
joint ventures, bank balances and cash, other financial assets, trade
payables, deposits received and other financial liabilities, bank and
other loans and other liabilities. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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Currency risk

The Group does not have significant exposure to foreign currency
risk as majority of the Group's sales and purchases are denominated
in currency which is the functional currency of the respective group
entities except for certain bank balances, loans to joint ventures,
financial assets at FVTPL and investments in debt instruments
measured at amortised cost which are denominated in foreign
currency, other than the functional currency of the respective group
entities.

The carrying amounts of the group entities’ foreign currency
denominated assets and liabilities at the reporting date are as follows:

Currency B
Renminbi AR
US dollar e

Thai baht EE 7
Euro dollar B TT
Singapore dollar AN T
Japanese yen =
Others HAh

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk of US dollar and
Thai baht. The sensitivity analysis excludes balances which are
denominated in US dollars for an entity with Hong Kong dollars as its
functional currency since Hong Kong dollar is pegged to US dollar.

BEWERE

BRETRITESR ERTAEQA BRAFE
AFABRRZEREEMZBRIEKNAGTEZER
TARBUINEMLIEAFBEEERINGEE
BIES KREXRHMIEEHUNEHEEER
ZWEEERIE  MEBELEATERINEE
SRk -

SEEBRHEBNINEINEBEZCEERARZ
FREEMT :

Assets Liabilities
BE =R+

2022 2021 2022 2021

HK$'M HKS'M HK$'M HKS'M

BEBRT BEAT BEBRT BEAR

296.4 273.0 - =

4,680.1 4,695.1 - =

329.6 324.8 - -

59.1 73.5 - -

0.1 76.2 - =

142.1 12.5 - =

0.9 0.9 - -
BBED A
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The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% decrease
in the functional currency of the respective group entities against
the relevant foreign currencies. 5% is the sensitivity rate used
when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnels and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the end of the
reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. The
analysis illustrates the impact for a 5% weakening of the functional
currency of the respective group entities against the relevant foreign
currency and a positive number below indicates an increase in profits
for the year and in exchange reserve. For a 5% strengthening of
the functional currency of the respective group entities against the
relevant foreign currency, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the profits for the year and exchange reserve.

Currency =]
Renminbi AR
US dollar ETT

Thai baht B
Euro dollar BT
Singapore dollar Fronsgor
Japanese yen =

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the exposure at the end of
the reporting period does not reflect that during the year.
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Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
investments in debt instruments measured at amortised cost and
debt securities at FVTPL (see Note 21), fixed-rate loans to joint
ventures and fixed-rate bank deposits, borrowings (see Note 30)
and lease liabilities (see Note 31). The Group is also exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank deposits and
borrowings (see Notes 26(a) and 30), loans to joint ventures, advances
from non-controlling shareholders (see Note 32) and mortgage
instalment receivables (see Note 22). It is the Group's policy to keep
its borrowings at floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair
value interest rate risk.

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial assets and
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group'’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR, other relevant interbank
offered rates or other benchmark interest rates arising from the
Group's borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for non-derivative instruments at the
end of the reporting period. The variable-rate bank deposits have
been excluded from sensitivity analysis as the management of the
Group considered that the interest rate fluctuation is not significant.
For variable-rate bank borrowings, advance from a non-controlling
shareholder and mortgage instalment receivables, the analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of liability and asset outstanding at
the end of the reporting period was outstanding for the whole year.
A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnels and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.
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If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group's:

profit for the year ended 31 March 2022 would decrease/
increase by HK$54.7 million (2021: HK$38.4 million). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its
variable-rate bank borrowings, advance from a non-controlling
shareholder and mortgage instalment receivables.

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to market price fluctuation through its
investments in both listed and unlisted securities. The management
manages this exposure by maintaining a diversified portfolio. The
level and volatility of the prices of securities may be affected by
general economic and market conditions, such as interest rates,
availability of credit, inflation rates, economic uncertainty, changes
in laws (including taxation law), trade barriers, currency exchange
controls, and national and international political circumstances, if
applicable.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to price of securities investments at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective securities investments had been 5%
higher/lower:

profit for the year ended 31 March 2022 and investment
revaluation reserve as at 31 March 2022 would increase/decrease
by HK$26.4 million (2021: HK$26.4 million) and HK$2.1 million (2021:
HKS$2.5 million) for the Group respectively as a result of changes in
fair value of equity and debt securities instrument measured at FVTPL
and FVTOCI respectively.
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Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 March 2022, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to discharge an obligation by the counterparties and financial
guarantees provided by the Group is arising from:

the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position;
and

the amount of financial guarantee contracts in relation to
financial guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed in Note 39.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets and
financial guarantee contracts, except that the credit risks associated
with mortgage instalment receivables is mitigated because they are
secured over properties.

Except for debt securities at FVTPL, the Group performed impairment
assessment for financial assets and other items under ECL model.
Information about the Group's credit risk management, maximum
credit risk exposures and the related impairment assessment, if
applicable, are summarised as below:

Loans to joint ventures and an investee/Amounts due from
joint ventures and associates

For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group
regularly monitors the business performance of the joint ventures,
associates and an investee. The Group’s credit risks in these balances
are mitigated through the value of the assets held by these entities
and the power to participate or jointly control the relevant activities
of the associates and joint ventures. The management considers
that the counterparty has a low risk of default, after taking into the
consideration of the value of the assets held by these entities and the
operating result of these entities.
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Trade receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group'’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on trade balances individually or based on provision matrix.
The trade receivables are grouped under a provision matrix based on
shared credit risk characteristics by reference to repayment histories
for recurring customers. Details of the quantitative disclosures are set
out below in this note.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group uses
debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its customers because
these customers consist of a large number of small customers with
common risk characteristic that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual
terms.

Based on the internal assessment, the management considers
that the balances are of low risk and not credit impaired for
ECL assessment if the counterparty has a low risk of default or
counterparty has past due debts but usually settles after due date
while the balances are of doubtful and credit impaired for ECL
assessment if there has been significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition through information developed internally. For
the balances that are classified as doubtful, the Group has made full
provision at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021.

The management considers that the amount of loss allowance at 31
March 2022 and 31 March 2021 were considered as insignificant to
the consolidated financial statements of the Group, having assessed
the nature of the business.
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Investments in debt instruments and bank balances

The Group only invests in debt instruments issued by issuers that
have strong credit ratings to mitigate counterparty risk. Credit
exposures to debt instruments are monitored and reported regularly
to the management.

The credit risks on bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

Financial guarantee contracts

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount that the
Group has guaranteed under the respective contracts was HK$1,723.2
million (2021: HK$1,155.7 million) as at 31 March 2022. At the end of
the reporting period, the management of the Group has performed
impairment assessment, and concluded that there has been no
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the
financial guarantee contracts. Accordingly, the loss allowance for
financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group is measured at an
amount equal to 12m ECL.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread
across diverse industries and geographical areas. Other than
concentration of credit risk on loans to joint ventures and amounts
due from joint ventures, the Group does not have any other
significant concentration of credit risk.
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The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s major |~ 3% 5% 51 £ B 78 {£ 1 78 £f {_.:.Lff EEFHcEE

financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: CTREEMARZEER
Gross
External Internal carrying
At 31 March 2022 Notes creditrating  creditrating  12m or lifetime ECL amount
NREASERAFHRZ
$2022%3A31H Wit HEBEETR RBEEIR BAHRFEER REAE
HK$'M
BEBET
Financial assets at amortised cost
REBHEBATEZEREE
Loans to joint ventures included 20,26(c) N/A Low risk 12m ECL 6,472.9
in interests in joint ventures and TEAR R R NREARBEEESE
amounts due from joint ventures
AAGERAIZERLERTRERT
RIEW & & AR FIE
Loan to an investee included 22 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 106.6
in other assets TEA 1K BB NREARHEESE
AAREMEEZ AEBREHRER
Investments in debt instruments 21 Ba3-B2 N/A 12m ECL 75.5
measured at amortised cost Ba3ZB2 TEA NREAEHEESE
REERATEZERTIARSE B1-Caa3 N/A Lifetime ECL - not credit 25.9
B1Z(Caa3 TERA impaired
EREHAZRBEEER-
BREERE
Ca-C N/A Lifetime ECL - credit 15.6
Ca®EC TiEA impaired
EREHAZRBEERR-
FERE
Bank balances 26(a), 36(c) Aal-Baa2 N/A 12m ECL 2,717.7
RITEE R Aa1ZBaa2 FEA NREARHEESE
Trade receivables 25 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL - not credit 63.9
e E 5 B8R K TEA & B By impaired
EREHAZRBEERR-
EEERE
N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL - credit 1.4
TEA & impaired
EREHAZRBEEER-
FERE
Amounts due from associates 19 N/A High risk Lifetime ECL - credit 589.0
JRE Wiz Bse & A R A TEA B E R impaired
EREHAZRBEEER-
FERE
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Gross

External Internal carrying
At 31 March 2021 Notes credit rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
REASERFHN
202163318 Fitsr IBEENR ABEETR i%i,ﬁm BB FH&E
HKS'M
BEET
Financial assets at amortised cost
REBHERATTEZSRERE
Loans to joint ventures included in interests 20,26(c)  N/A Low risk 12m ECL 6474.2
in joint ventures and amounts due from T 1 /2 B REAESREEBE
joint ventures
EH\S%’ATZ%‘ ZEXTEERA
REWA SR RFIEA
Loan to an investee included in other assets 22 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 106.6
AARMEEZ AERREHRER TER EER REAEREESR
Investments in debt instruments measured 21 A3 -B1 N/A 12m ECL 113.0
at amortised cost A3ZEBI TEM NEAESHEESE
REEKAHEBZERIARE
Bank balances 26(a), 36(c)  Aal -Baa2 N/A 12m ECL 3,060.9
RITE AalZBaa2 NEmA REAEBHEEER
Trade receivables 25 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL - not credit 79.5
W E 5 B ek WS impaired
EREHAZREEE
BiE-EEENE
N/A Doubitful Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 23
TiE KRR FPRENRZEHREE
BE-EERE
Amounts due from associates 19 N/A High risk Lifetime ECL - credit impaired 5889
FE U Bt & 1) R R TER =ER FREHAZEHEE

BR-EEHE
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

The table below shows reconciliation of loss allowances that have
been recognised for loans to joint ventures included in interests

in joint ventures, loan to a joint venture and loan to an investee

included in other assets.

At 1 April 2020
Reversal of impairment under ECL model

At 31 March 2021
Impairment under ECL model

At 31 March 2022

TREIMAACGLERAZEEZERTEE
REBERXRTF-RAZAARFARMBEELZ
FAARRESRERER B EREHE -

12m ECL

NEAEHEEER
Loans to Loans to
joint ventures an investee
BT EAERERE
NG| HRER
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAET BEERT
7202054 A1H 21.1 0.4
RIEBEREEBEER ZBERE 0.3) =
202193 A31H 20.8 04
RIBFFEHEEBEEN 2RE 0.7 =
7202263A31H 21.5 0.4

Loss allowances recognised for loans to joint ventures and loan to an
investee are measured at 12m ECL, there is no transfer from 12m ECL
to Lifetime ECL during the year as there is no significant increase in

credit risk for these financial assets.
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Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group's operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors
the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan
covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant source of
liquidity. As at 31 March 2022, the Group has available unutilised
overdraft and bank loan facilities of approximately HK$3,956.2 million
(2021: HKS$2,772.4 million).

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the
board of directors of the Company, which has built an appropriate
liquidity risk management framework for the management of
the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity
management requirements.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment
terms except for the bank loans with a repayable on demand clause.
For non-derivative financial liabilities, the table has been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The
table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent
that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is
derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

RBESRR

RERRBESRARMS  SEERRERE
BEAAENREEZERHRESIRERE
MERBFEZREIASEERBEKF -F
EEERRITEEZHABRN  URRETEE

£, gy 2ht
e

SEEKBRITEEEARDESCEERR -
R2022%F3 8318 ' SEEEEFERAEREKD
BB RIBITE 9395628 &7 7T (2021
F 277248 8B °

ARPEEERRBECRAREEARERGRE
T AEBREE2EY THERHESEKR
BECEEFRBEY—EAEEZARBELAR
EIRIELE o

TRFAVNEERBEHEEFRMF RS OHARZ
cREBEAFITBKRERERGRZRITE
RN - BIFPTEERMABME » WIIKRTS
EEEARERNRZEREAY  EREEZ
ABBRBRERES - RPBREANEREAEZER
TR WMMERBFDNERGFE - RRBEEER
BIZRE wMEMRZHME -
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Liquidity risk table

2022
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade payables and accrued charges
Deposits received and other financial
liabilities
Bank and other loans
- fixed-rate
- variable-rate
Other liabilities
Financial guarantee contracts

Lease liabilities

2021
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade payables and accrued charges
Deposits received and other financial
liabilities
Bank and other loans
- fixed-rate
- variable-rate
Other liabilities
Financial guarantee contracts

Lease liabilities

20225

FTESREE
BB SR RETER
Blige REMESREE

2015

FTESREE
ENESE RIS BR
BlikeREMERER
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Repayable
on demand
or within

1 year
-FREE
HK$'M
AEETR

107.6

159.9

9.8
2,501.2
441
1,723.2

4,545.8
9.0

Repayable
on demand
or within

1 year
BRER
—EREE
HKS'M
BEAT

REBESERE
Total Carrying
Over undiscounted  amount at
1-2 years 2-5 years 5years  cash flows 31 March
AEH  W3A31A
—ERE CZEIf  EFNE RERAE  2REE
HKS'M HK$'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BEEn  HE®BR EEEn  HEBR  HEAER
- - - 107.6 107.6
- - - 159.9 159.9
9.8 293 340.4 389.3 298.1
3,336.1 4,816.0 - 10,653.3 10,357.3
107.5 127.2 2,429.9 2,708.7 2,479.1
- - - 1,723.2 -
3,453.4 4,972.5 2,7703 15,742.0 13,402.0
1.7 126 58.8 88.1 59.7
Total Carying
Over  undiscounted amount at
1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years cash flows 31 March
AR 13A31A
—EWE  ZERE  nENE RERLE  REE
HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M HKS'M
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT
= = = 140.2 140.2
= = = 1517 1517
179.1 69322 = 79668 76848
192.2 = 8123 13416 13320
= = = 1,305.7 =
N3 6,932.2 8123 10,906.0 9,308.7
15 137 61.7 1084 768



The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for non-derivative financial liabilities is subject to change if changes
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

As at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021, all bank loans are classified
in respective time band based on the agreed repayment terms
except for the bank loans with a repayable on demand clause.

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the
“Repayable on demand or within 1 year” time band in the above
maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2022, the aggregate undiscounted
principal amounts of these bank loans amounted to HK$297.8 million
(2021: HKS$465.3 million). Taking into account the Group's financial
position, the directors of the Company do not believe that it is
probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to
demand immediate repayment. The directors of the Company believe
that such bank loans as at 31 March 2022 will be repaid within one
year (2021: within one year) of the reporting date in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements,
details of which are set out in the table below:

Within 1 year

-FR

HK$'M

BEER

At 31 March 2022 R®2022%3A31R 297.8
At 31 March 2021 202143 A318 468.7

FRAAGTESREEZIETIEZESR

ERBHERBELED -

M202283 8318 K202143A318 » T AR
BRTEWBEBRE  LAEERSESE -
BEREREREBERZBITERERI

BB EREEERZEITERTF AN L
HALs Tz [RERK—FREZ|IBEIE
oo 2022838318 ZEFRITERZ AR
RN& 4858 529788 BB 0 (20215 46535 8
BL) cRREBEBMMBARE  AREE
ERBRITETSITEERBERERBEER
RATEEFHBE  N202538318 2% E4#EB 1T
EXBRRERMEHECERBS  BR

HHEBEF —F (2021F : —F) NEE - 715
AN TR
Total
undiscounted Carrying
1-2 years 2-5 years cash flows amount
KER
—EMF ZERE  RERAE REE
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEER BEERL BEER BEER
- - 297.8 295.6
= = 4687 4653
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FAIR VALUE

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are
the maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle under
the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is
claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectations
at the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is
more likely than not that no amount will be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change depending
on the probability of the counterparty claiming under the guarantee
which is a function of the likelihood that the financial receivables
held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined
as follows:

the fair values of financial assets with standard terms and
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined with
reference to quoted market bid prices; and

the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The consolidated financial statements include holdings in unlisted
equity securities which are measured at fair value using valuation
techniques based on inputs that can be observed in the market in
addition to unobservable inputs such as company specific financial
information (Note 21).

(i) Financial instruments carried at amortised cost
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of

financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised costs on
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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AFE

LR BEEREOATANSEIINE T EHR
EREEREERBELHEABN2BERER
&SR REXNBREHRNTEY  KER
RRATEHARBLRENEMEE - AW -
BIREFHRFH D RIFERRE L AR AT
ME > ML A AR FREERE S AFHARN
EMERRZIEEBROAENE -

TREERERABBZIRAFEDNRATHAE

E

AREBREGRRGHELRNERRBTS
BEEVZEMEEZATFENDZ2EMSEARE
MmEE + &

HMeMEERERABZIAFELNR
BE-REBEIEEEN  UREBEBRSRD
T & E

REMBHRREBEIFLTRAZTLSHEE %
FEENERBERGERABEMSE AXK
BRETAIBRGABRBNRRSEMBENR
NFERE (HaEE21) »

(i) BBERXIR2EMITE
ARREZRR  NREMBEHR A AR HX

AANBRZEREERSRABCRAEEAR
FEMESE -



(ii) Financial instruments carried at fair value

The financial instruments are measured in the statement of financial
position at fair value in accordance with HKFRS 13. This requires
disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair
value measurement hierarchy:

Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (Level 1).

Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2).

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is
based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. A
market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing
service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and
regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the
current bid price. These instruments are included in Level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market is determined using valuation techniques which maximise
the use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on
entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to estimate
the fair value of an instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in Level 2. If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument is included in
Level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments
include:

Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.
The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present

value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable yield
curves.

(ii) BROAFEIERz2EMIA

REEBMBEREEEBG R ITATIR
NFERPBRRARGE - RERKRA TR
FEFAEERHAFEFES RIELHE -

1R A B S B R E TR T8 2 1R (T
BE) (F—ER) -

RESRF - EBRIBEIN AIREE
KB EEE AER) KEE (BREER) B
BB 2BABE(E_BMR) -

# A WU 3 3EAR R A B T 45 RS I
T AEAE & (BFBRAMGHARE) (E=
BR) -

RERTHEBEeMIAZAFERERS
HRZTEREAE - BBRMG LA
NEBRZ ST - KHE - KLEA  TEEE -
BERBLRERBRESREZTS - MEH
BESEKLELETZEERATRGZER LS
B -KEMBMBEEEMBZMSRERER
BERE -ZBATASRIRFE BR-

FRNERMBEEZEMTA (FI: FIMT
ETR)ZAFEAGERMGE - ZEMHE
BMEMOAMAAESZABERMEEE - &M
BERMIDEBRARZHEGAEE SHAYF
EFfE2 TAZMAEEARBESAIERERG
AZETEGRINAE BN - H—HHZH
ERBABBYFFERABRMSHIE - A%
TAFAZE=ZEH -

ARFAeRTIABEZREARERTEEE

BUSRTAZTEREXARHERE -

MNEERXGZRAFEDREBEANBRE 2
Wik KRG ARRBAEREZREH -
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The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is
determined using forward exchange rates at the end of the reporting
period, with the resulting value discounted back to present value.

Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are
used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.

As at 31 March 2022, mortgage instalment receivables at FVTPL
of HK$524.6 million is measured with valuation techniques using
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3).

The determination of fair value is subject to the valuation policies
and procedures formulated by and the oversight of the Group's
management. These policies and procedures facilitate the exercise of
judgement in determining the risk characteristics of various financial
instruments, discount rates, estimates of future cash flows and other
factors used in the valuation process. Judgement may also be applied
in adjusting prices of less readily observable external parameters.
The management considers the appropriateness of the valuation
model inputs, as well as the valuation result using various valuation
methods and techniques generally accepted within the industry.

There is no transfer among Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 during the
year.

The following represents the changes in Level 3 instruments for the
year ended 31 March 2022:

At 1 April 2021

Addition (EE
Repayment B

Unrealised gain recognised in statement of
comprehensive income

At 31 March 2022

232 HKR International Limited Annual Report 21/22

20214818

A2022%F3H31H

EHINESHZ A FENBREH RN
EHEXEE  MASEEFERZRE-

HAb M - PIanRLIRIRSIRE ST - AIA
ETESREMTIAZATE-

MR2022F3 8318 @ A TFE ABRZ EUIIZ
B4 6B BT HERAEATAER
BASE(EZEA) 2EERME -

AFPEEEXSEEREGE 2 HEBRER
BFAMEEE ZFBRREMEFEOREE
EEESRMTAZEBREE BRX - HER
KBRERERGEEETEM 2 HMERKE
- FERTABR ZINB2EZERE
RAlREEMHIE - EEREE BAERLH AR
BZEEN URERRAARZEEMES
EREMEH 2 EEER -

FRN F—BR B_EBEARE=ZERZEL

T AEE02F3ANBLEFEZEZERT
a4
Mortgage
instalment
receivables at
FVTPL
BAFE
AR
PE U iR 3B
72 HA AR
HK$'M
BEET

224.9
386.2
(101.0)

Remba R R RER K

14.5
524.6



45 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

(@) Details of principal subsidiaries incorporated and have their

principal place of operations in Hong Kong are as follows:

Name of company

AAER

Ace Spring Limited
MERERAR

Active Future Limited

EABRARF

AmMed Cancer Center (Central) Limited

Beaufort Hotels Limited

Cardiomed Limited
RBFEERAH

Co-Success Investment Limited

BREKREERAA
Discovery Bay Commercial Services
Limited

mRERERBERAA

Discovery Bay Enterprises Limited

31 March 2022
20223 A31H

Issued

share capital
BRITRA
HK$

BT

400,000

Equity
interest
attributable
to the Group

SERERE

%

100

100

100

50%

50%

45 T Ef B LT - BE

RE&RH

@ HEBFBEMAULMTIBLEMHBURNE

BZEBWBABFENT

31 March 2021

poy

= /3

=

202134318
Equity
interest
Issued attributable
share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
BEETRA SERERE IEXK
HKS %
BT
1 100 Property investment
MERE
1 100  Property investment
NERE
2 100 Provision of cancer
treatment services
and diagnostic
imaging services
REERUERE K
ER R
1 100 Provision of hotel
management services
REBEEERY
1 100  Investment holding
REZRK
2 100 Property investment
MERE
2 50 Commercial leasing
agent
BFEHERHE
400,000 50*  Operation of a shipyard

2EMIE
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31 March 2022 31 March 2021
2022%3A31H 20213A31H
Equity Equity
interest interest
Issued attributable Issued attributable
Name of company share capital to the Group share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
NEER ERTRE SEEGRE BETRA SERERE IEXK
HK$ % HKS %
B BT
Discovery Bay Financial Services Limited 2 50% 2 50%  Provision of financial
MREMBERBER AR services to first
hand purchasers
of properties in
Discovery Bay
mERENEZ—F
BRREMBRS
Discovery Bay Golf Club Limited 2 50% 2 50%  Provision of club
MRESRRFEERAA facilities
RE G MRIE
Discovery Bay Hotel Limited 2 50% 2 50*  Hotel operator
BEZE
Discovery Bay Ice Rink Umited 1 50% 1 50*  Ice rink operator
WEERKEERA Bk e E
Discovery Bay Marina Club Limited 2 50% 2 50*  Provision of club
IREERERRA facilities
REEMRIE
Discovery Bay Property Limited 2 50% 2 50*  Provision of property
MRENEFTRDA agency services
REMELERY
Discovery Bay Recreation Club Limited 2 50% 2 50%  Provision of club
MRERLEGERRA facilities
REGMARIE
Discovery Bay Road Tunnel Company 2 50% 2 50*  Road tunnel operator
Limited BRiEEE

mREREERA
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31 March 2022 31 March 2021

2022F3A31H 20213A31H
Equity Equity
interest interest
Issued attributable Issued attributable
Name of company share capital to the Group share capital tothe Group  Principal activities
NAER ERTRE SEEGRE BETRA SERERE IEXK
HK$ % HKS %
B BT
Discovery Bay Services Management 2 50% 2 50*  Estate manager and
Limited principal lessee of
MRERBEEERA communication
network in Discovery
Bay
EREE R SREBA
Bk EERBA
Discovery Bay Transit Services Limited 2 50% 2 50*  Provision of bus and
HEERBREEARA garage services
RUEB T REERS
Discovery Bay Transportation Services 2 50% 2 50*  Provision of ferry
Limited services
MREMERBERAR RAER & R 15
Dorro Properties Limited 500,000 100 500,000 100  Property investment
ENEXERAF NERE
Emerald Property Limited 1" 50* 1 50%  Property investment
BRMEER AT MERE
Fame Wood Limited 2 100 2 100 Property investment
BIRRBR AR MERE
Garnet Property Limited 1 50* 1% 50%  Property investment
ERNEERAT MERE
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Name of company

AT

Grace Investment Limited

BEEREARAA

Greenyield Limited
ABARDA

Health & Care Dental Clinic Limited
ERTRBEAERAA

HKR (PRO) Limited
FRAX(FE)BRRA

HKR Limited
ENCEE D E -1 SN

HKR Properties Limited
BEAEZ(ME)BRAA

Hong Kong Health Resort Limited

Hong Kong Resort Company Limited
BERRXERAT

31 March 2022
20223 A31H

Equity
interest
Issued attributable
share capital to the Group
BRTRE SEELRE
HK$ %
BT
2 100
2 100
2 100
2 100
2 100
4 100
389,243,374.35%* 50%
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31 March 2021
2021934318
Equity
interest
Issued attributable
share capital to the Group
BEITRA  SEEGRE
HKS %
BT
2 100
2 100
10,100,000 100
2 100
2 100
2 100
4 100
389,243,374.35%* 50*

Principal activities

TEXEK

Property investment

NERE

Property investment

MERE

Provision of dental
health and care
services and
operation of dental
clinics

RO T RHR & 1 R
BREETRZH

Investment holding
REER

Property management

MEER

Property investment

NERE

Property investment and
investment holding

MERERBEERR

Property development
and investment
holding

MEERRIREER



Name of company

NEEH

Humphrey & Partners Medical Services
Management Limited

Jasper Garden Limited

ZXEARRAA

Kinter Limited
BEBRAA

Lam Island Development Company
Limited
HEBESERAA

Lee Wo Company, Limited
MMERARE

Macro Future Limited

BRARAR

Moonstone Hill Limited

AUBERRA

Noble Glamour Limited

SEERLE

Opal Property Limited
BIMEERAF

31 March 2022
2022%3A31H

Equity
interest
Issued attributable
share capital to the Group
BRTRE SEEGRE
HK$ %

B
1“#“ 50*
1 100
2,000,000 99.99
300,000 100
1 100
14 50%
1 100
1 e 50%

31 March 2021
2021934318
Equity
interest
Issued attributable
share capital to the Group
BETHRA  SEEGRE
HKS %
BT
1 94.25
]### 50*
1 100
2,000,000 99.99
300,000 100
1 100
1w‘m 50%
1 100
(et 50%
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Principal activities

TEXH

Administration of clinic
network

EEY AR

Property investment

MELRE

Property investment

NERE

Property development
NEER

Property investment

NERE

Investment holding

RALK

Property investment

NERE

Investment holding

REEK

Property investment

NERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

31 March 2022
20223 A31H

Equity
interest
Issued attributable
Name of company share capital to the Group
NEER BRTRE SEELRE
HK$ %
B
Parocka Investments Limited 20 100
Pearl Development Limited 2 100
BEEZRERAA
Peony Restaurant Limited 2 50%
HAHERBERDA
Qualigenics Medical Limited - -
BEBEFERLDA
Quebostage Limited 2 100
BEER QA
Rainbow Alpha Holdings Limited - -
REERERAF
Regal Galaxy Investment Limited 1 100
RREEERAA
Royston Investment Limited 2 100
MREXREFRRA
Scoot Development Limited T¥¥* 100
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31 March 2021
2021934318
Equity
interest
Issued attributable
share capital to the Group
BEITRA  SEEGRE
HKS %
BT
20 100
2 100
2 50%
3,000,000 100
2 100
1 75
1 100
2 100
]FE* 100

Principal activities

TEXEK

Property development

NERE

Property investment

MERE

Restaurant operator
BERE

Operation of diabetes
and endocrine
disorders clinics

KRR RAD B
KADF

Property investment

NERE

Property development

MEER

Property investment

NERE

Investment holding

REEK

Investment holding
REER



Name of company

NEEH

TCS Project Management Limited

The Sukhothai Hotels & Resorts Limited

Topaz Holdings Limited
REERERAF

Victor Century Investment Limited

BAREERAF

Wells Estate Services Limited

EIeMEREBRDA

Wells Property Management Limited
BRMEEEERAA

World Forum Investment Limited
IREBEEERAA]

Yintaly Construction Company Limited

ENRETRERAF

31 March 2022
2022%3A31H

Issued

share capital
BRITRA
HK$

B

Hhn
1

100,000

1,000

Equity
interest
attributable
to the Group

SEELRE

%

100

100

50%

100

100

100

100

100

31 March 2021

2021934318
Equity
interest
Issued attributable
share capital to the Group
BETHRA  SEEGRE
HKS %

BT

2 100
1 100
1 50*
1 100
100,000 100
1,000 100
1 100
2 100
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Principal activities

TEXH

Provision of project
management services

AR EERS

Provision of hotel
management services

RE{BEEERS

Property investment

NERE

Provision of financial
services to first
hand purchasers
of 2GETHER and
properties in
Discovery Bay

mES R REME
Z—FERRMHH
B R%

Property management,
estate manager and
investment holding

MEREBERIUR
REEKR

Property management
and estate manager

NELRERER

Property development

MEER

Property investment

NERE
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* According to the shareholders’ agreement of Hong Kong Resort Company
Limited ("HKRC"), the Group is able to control more than half of the voting powers of the
board of directors (which determines the relevant activities) of HKRC and its subsidiaries.

o In addition to 1 ordinary share, 100% in the value of HK$389,243,373.85 deferred
shares are also held by the Group. The deferred shares held by the Group are shares
whose shareholders are neither entitled to receive notices, attend, vote at any general
meetings nor to receive any dividend out of operating profit and have very limited rights
on return of assets of the company.

FEx Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company
also includes JPY270,875,000 divided into 270,875 redeemable preference shares.

# Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company

also includes HK$276,000,000, representing 276,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

it Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company
also includes HK$218,000,000, representing 218,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

#Hit# Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company
also includes HK$267,000,000, representing 267,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

i
also includes HK$213,000,000, representing 213,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company

#i###  Beside the 1 ordinary share of HK$1.00, the issued share capital of the company
also includes HK$207,000,000, representing 207,000,000 redeemable preference shares.

##### Beside the 1 ordinary share of HKS$1.00, the issued share capital of the company
also includes HK$133,000,000, representing 133,000,000 redeemable preference shares.
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* REELBHEEZERAT ([FRBEE]) BRI &
B ARG EREEREMB AR ZESE OREHBRE
B)BEBYBZRRE-

= HREBSBIRLTBIRSIN  SEFFHI100%EE
389243373858 L 2 IR 1D - KEERFHAELERHD 2K
REEEEF IR ERETARRAGRRE LRE )
R EERM T DR ZEMBRE  REEBFZRAF
FEHRZEERRET -

= BRIREE R0 T2 EBARIN - ZARIZEEITR
AN FE(B1E270,875,000 H [El 5 £270,8758% 2 7] #E BB 5L % ©

# BRIBREEAIB T Z E@MBIN Z AR ZE BT
A& 75 75 62 4E {8 {8276,000,0007 7T X % 276,000,0008% 2 A f& 6]
BRR -

i RIREERI00B Tz ERMRIN Z AR ZE BT
A% 7 71 B2 4 {8 18218,000,0007% 7T X #218,000,0004% 2 7] & (9]
B -

wHe  BRIREERIOBTZEBRIN ZRARZERT
A% 7S 71 B2 4% 1B 18.267,000,0007% 7T (X #£267,000,0004% 2 7] & (6]
B -

i RIBREEARI0B T Z MR Z AR ZE BT
A& 7N 75 £ 4E {8 {81213,000,0007% 7T £ %213,000,0008% 2 7] f& =]
BERRR -

# RIREERI00B T2 ERRIN ZRAIZE BT
% 7S 71 B2 4% {E {8207,000,0007% 7T X #207,000,0004% 2 7] & 5]

i IR EE R 00B T Z ERRIN Z AR ZBE BT
A% 7S 71 B2 4% {E 8133,000,0007% 7T (X 2%133,000,0004% 2 7] & (2]
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(b)  Details of other principal subsidiaries are as follows: by EHMEFEMHBRAAFBOT :

31 March 2022 31 March 2021
202243318 202134318
Nominal value Equity Nominal value Equity
Place of Principal of issued share interest of issued share interest
incorporation/ place of capital/registered  attributable  capital/registered attributable
Name of company registration operation capital to the Group capital tothe Group Principal activities
AR/ IEEE BRATRE  REEE BEIRL SEEE
NEER BRitH o AMERZEE hE SRMEAZEE hiE TEEH
% %
Abraham Holdings Limited Liberia Hong Kong Nil 100 Nil 100 Securities investment
M B &k & E EHRE
Abraham Investment Holdings British Virgin Islands ~ Note* Us$1 100 US$1 100 Securities investment
Limited RBABRRE ME (ESH E3 EFRE
Beaufort Holdings Limited Cayman Islands Hong Kong HK$10,197,932 100 HK$10,197,932 100 Investment holding
REHE &R 10,197,932 7 1019793287 RARK
Beaufort International Hotels Singapore Singapore $$1,000,000 100 541,000,000 100 Investment holding
(Singapore) Pte Ltd I A 1,000,0003 7© 1,000,000 T RERHR
JPY100,840,000 JPY715,840,000
100,840,000 F 715,840,000
Brentall Investments Limited British Virgin Islands  Hong Kong US$1 100 Uss1 100 Investment holding
ABABAREE BA E EI RARK
CDW Building Limited Cayman Islands Hong Kong HK$5,100,002 100 HKS5,100,002 100 Property investment
REHS i 5,100,002 7T 51000027 UESE
GenRx Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Note** US$1 100 Uss1 100 Investment holding
RAZRERRA ERARREE I (E EI RARK
Hanbright Assets Limited British Virgin Islands  Hong Kong US$1 100 Uss1 100 Investment holding
AEARREE Bh (EJH ES REER
Health & Care (Macau) Dental Group Macau Macau - - MOP25,000 100 Operation of dental clinic
Limited 9 R 25000217 in Macau
B2 (2P THEBBR AT ERMEETRD M
HK Resort International Limited Cayman Islands Hong Kong HK$3 100 HKS3 100 Investment holding
HEES &b 3ET 3BT REHER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e ERERE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

Name of company

NFER

HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd

HKR China Limited

EREFTEERAT

HKR Company Limited

HKR Japan KK

HKR Shanghai Limited

FARL LBERAA

HKRJ Development Co, Ltd

Pine Isle Holdings Limited

Prinia Pte Ltd

Ruthin Investments Pte Ltd

Place of
incorporation/
registration
R ER L/
B

Singapore

R

British Virgin Islands
RERBRES

British Virgin Islands
ABARRRE

Japan

AA

British Virgin Islands
ABARARES

Japan

AX

British Virgin Islands

Singapore

iple

Singapore

b
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Principal
place of
operation
TEEE
bk

Singapore

gl

Note**
A

Note**
Pz

Japan

AR

Note**
P e

Japan

AA

Hong Kong
&R

Singapore

ipe

Singapore

s

31 March 2022
2022F3A31H

Nominal value Equity
of issued share interest
capital/registered attributable
capital to the Group
BRAKRE  SEEE
aZMEAZEE R
%
$$5,000,000 100

5,000,0003 .

THB24,700,000

24,700,000% £
US$1 100

1%
Uss$2 100

bEYS
JPY10,000 100

10,000H
US$1 100

(EF
JPY10,000 100

10,000H
US$1 100

1%
§92 100

Wi
5§92 100

b

31 March 2021

20214F3R318
Nominal value Equity
of issued share interest
capital/registered  attributable
capital  to the Group
BREIRE  £EER
HfEAZEE fxiE
%
§$5,000,000 100
5,000,000 7T
JPY2,693,360,000
26933600000
THB24,700,000
24,700000% 5k
Uss$1 100
(E
Us$2 100
2ETL
JPY10,000 100
100008
Uss1 100
EF
JPY10,000 100
10,000H
Uss1 100
E3m
5$2 100
W
5$2 100
W
JPY1,362,730,000
1,362,730,0000

Principal activities

IEREK

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

RERR

Property investment

ESIE

Investment holding

AEER

Property development

UESSS

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

RERR

Property investment

UES



Name of company

NFER

Sathorn Park Co, Ltd.

Sky Phoenix Enterprises Limited

REEE M) BRAF"

B (LS ERANARAT"

B (LB EXARAA

BEE (L&) ERARAR"

31 March 2022
2022%3A31A

Nominal value Equity
Place of Principal of issued share interest
incorporation/ place of capital/registered  attributable
registration operation capital to the Group
AL/ TEEE BRIRA  REERS
Bty bk ZRERZEE g
%
Thailand Thailand THB933,600,000 100
%E %E 933,600,000
British Virgin Islands  Hong Kong Us$1 100
AERBREE Bh (EJH
PRC PRC HK$760,000,000 100
hE t 760,000,00078 7T
PRC PRC US$1,500,000 100
hE G 1,500,000% 7T
PRC PRC RMB$20,000,000 100
il t AR 20,000,000
PRC PRC HK$915,000,000 100
hE i 915,000,000/ 7T
PRC PRC RMB8,000,000 100
t t AR#8,000,0007
PRC PRC RMB8,000,000 100
iilei i A E%8,000,0007C
PRC PRC RMB8,000,000 100
t i AR 8,000,000
PRC PRC US$14,000,000 100
t t 14,000,000 7T

31 March 2021

2214634318

Nominal value Equity
of issued share interest
capital/registered  attributable
capital  to the Group
BREORA  SEER
HHERz AR IiE
%
THB933,600,000 100

933,600,000 £k
Y 100

E
HK$760,000,000 100

760,000,0007 1T
US$1,500,000 100

1,500000% 7
HK$915,000,000 100

915,000,000 70
RMB8,000,000 100

ARH8,000,0007T
RMB8,000,000 100

AR 8,000,000
RMB8,000,000 100

ARH8,000,0007T
US$14,000,000 100

140000003 7
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Principal activities

IERE

Hotel operator and owner

BERBREE

Investment holding
RERR

Property development and
investment holding

WEERRRERR

Property management

NEER

Property development

NEER

Property development and
investment holding

MEERREERR

Property development

NEER

Property development

UES

Property development

NEER

Property investment

UESIE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

31 March 2022 31 March 2021
20223A31H 2001453318
Nominal value Equity Nominal value Equity
Place of Principal of issued share interest of issued share interest
incorporation/ place of capital/registered  attributable  capital/registered  attributable
Name of company registration operation capital to the Group capital  tothe Group Principal activities
R ER L/ TEEE BRIRA  REERS BEORA  SEER
RAER B bk dMEXZEE e HMEACEE g TEEE
% %
MEEZ (M) BERAR PRC PRC RMB8,000,000 100 RVBB,000,000 100 Property development
hE G AK%8,000,0007C AR 8,000,000 WERER
MENESEBM) BERAT  PRC PRC RMB1,000,000 100 - - Property investment
i il AE%1,000,0007C nERE
& These companies are engaged in securities investment business of the Group — * IERARNREEEB B AFAREEL  BMLBERE

and have no specific principal place of operation.

>

principal place of operation.

# The Group can enjoy all economic beneficial interest, instead of equity interest, of

the companies by contractual terms.

#it These companies are wholly foreign owned enterprises.

(c)  Details of principal associates are as follows:

Name of company

AREH

Polyoung Limited
BHEARA A

Tung Chung Station Development
Company Limited

Place of
incorporation

o 1 A L 3t B

Hong Kong
)

Hong Kong
Bk
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These companies act as investment holding companies and have no specific

31 March 2022
2022F3A31H
Attributable
interest held
by the Group
S8

PElh S

%

31

31

ZEBEEWE -

= HERARRREZRAR AMLEREZEES
B E

# SERENGERAIZEZS AR N BT

1 3E AR A 35 -
Ho WEARARNEALE-
© EEBBERRFENOT

31 March 2021
202143 H31H
Attributable
interest held
by the Group
EEME
FEhHE S

%

Principal activities

FREK

31 Provision of financial services to first
hand purchasers of Coastal Skyline

MEXERF—FBERE R RE

31 Property investment

MELRE



(d)  Details of principal joint ventures are as follows:

31 March 2022
2022F3H31H
Attributable

Place of interest held
Name of company incorporation by the Group
KB
NRER o Al R 3 3t B FEfh RS
%
Advantage Investor Limited British Virgin Islands 50
REHRARES
City Grace Co,, Ltd. Thailand 49
RE
Dazhongli Properties Limited British Virgin Islands 50
RpEMERARRA REHRARES
Everbeam Investments Limited Hong Kong 50
EAREERAA BB
Everbeam Mortgage Limited Hong Kong 50
ERARBAERAR Bt
Gainwick Limited Hong Kong 40
MEFR QA BB
Strongbod Limited British Virgin Islands 40
REBHRARES
Ultimate Champion Investments British Virgin Islands 50
Limited KBERARES
BE (LB FHEZERER DA PRC 50
o &
* The company is wholly foreign owned enterprise.

31 March 2021
202143 H31H
Attributable
interest held

by the Group
SEAH
FEMG R

%

50

49

50

50

50

40

40

50

50

d FERERFFHFBWAT :

Principal activities

TRER

Investment holding
KREZER

Property development

MEBR

Investment holding
XA R

Property development

MEBR

Provision of financial services to first
hand purchasers of La Cresta

A —F BER BRI RS

Property development

MERR

Investment holding

REERK

Investment holding

REER

Property investment

MERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

(e)

non-controlling interests:

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of
the Company that have material non-controlling interests:

Name of subsidiary

MEARERE

Hong Kong Resort Company Limited
and its subsidiaries (note)

BERAERZERARIRAKNBAR
GEY

Individually immaterial subsidiaries
with non-controlling interests

BAFEERERZERNFER
(o)== NC]

Note: Hong Kong Resort Company Limited

development, management and provision of essential and recreational services for

residential housing and leisure projects principally in Discovery Bay, Lantau Island.

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of each of
the Company’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests
is set out below. The summarised consolidated financial information
below represents amounts before intergroup elimination.

HONG KONG RESORT COMPANY LIMITED AND ITS

SUBSIDIARIES

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

Equity attributable to owners of the
Company

Non-controlling interests

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material

(e)

ZEE

G- PNCIPA=S i

Proportion of ownership Profits/(losses)

interests and voting rights allocated to
Place of held by non-controlling non-controlling
incorporation interests interests
FERESBHERERES STETHERESR
o I8 B 37 4t B RRREZ LA 2l (B18)
2022 2021 2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
AEER AEET
Hong Kong 50% 50% 128.1 230.1
BB
(5.9) 1.2
122.2 2313

and its subsidiaries are engaged in the

0 R ELERTS o

BEAEANFERES

ZIFEEWBRA

TR BEBERFEBRER 2 ARREEE

Accumulated
non-controlling
interests
Rtk ER
&
2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
BHEBT BEETL

2,919.3 2,910.2
0.1 10.6
2,919.4 2,920.8

e : BEREERARANEMBAREIERERRKER
TENRABLMREZEETET RKHEIEEL I AERHE

ERBEE FERERZARASMEB R
Al EMBERBEEINMT o TR
REVMBEMRBZ B ERBAYHATZ

ki
EARAEXERLATAREMEB AT
2022 2021
HK$'M HK$'M
BEBT BEBTL
MENEE 3,266.4 2,433.4
ERBEE 10,638.9 6,647.1
REBAE (3,055.2) (1,523.5)
JEREEE (4,955.1) (1,714.8)
RAREB ANEEERE
2,975.7 2,932.0
FEVE R R = 2,919.3 2,910.2
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WA
B3

Revenue
Expenses

Profit attributable to owners of the Company
Profit attributable to non-controlling FEFZE AR 4 o5 PB4 Vi 7
interests

Profit for the year AN

Other comprehensive income attributable to
owners of the Company

Other comprehensive income attributable to
non-controlling interests

AR HE b 2 R R

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income attributable to
owners of the Company

Total comprehensive income attributable to
non-controlling interests

AEE2HEKRmBER

Total comprehensive income for the year

Dividend paid to a non-controlling
shareholder

Net cash (outflows)/inflows (used in)/from
operating activities

Net cash outflows used in investing activities

Net cash inflows/(outflows) from/(used in)
financing activities

ORH) /ImAFER
RERBFAETR
BEEBFS/ (FFA)
Net cash (outflows)/inflows Be ORL)/mAFHE
All of the above principal subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
other than Abraham Holdings Limited, Beaufort Holdings Limited,
Hanbright Assets Limited, HK Resort International Limited, HKR Asia-
Pacific Pte Ltd, HKR Company Limited, HKR China Limited, Macro

Future Limited and Noble Glamour Limited, are held indirectly by the
Company.

The above tables list the subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures would, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.

Other than club debentures as set out in Note 32, no other loan
capital has been issued by any of the subsidiaries.

ZA/NIE R DN lapil

BEXK (FTA)/MFE

BanrA/ORh) F8#

For the year ended 31 March
BZE3A31BLEE

AREER ARG E M 2R
TR R A o B A B b 2 e R

ARBHEAANEEEE KSR
FEBE RN E KSR

E [A) JF 4% A B SRR A AL R,

2022 2021

HK$'M HKS$'M

BHEBT BEETT

1,984.9 2,2355
(1,734.1) (1,784.5)

122.7 2209

128.1 230.1

250.8 451.0

122.7 2209

128.1 230.1

250.8 451.0

119.0 -

R &

(4,470.0) 392.6
FER (225.8) (186.0)
4,426.6 (101.8)

(269.2) 104.8

FxAbraham Holdings Limited * Beaufort Holdings
Limited * Hanbright Assets Limited * HK Resort
International Limited + HKR Asia-Pacific Pte Ltd *
HKR Company Limited * HEEZE R HAH R A

}EYWEIEQT& 2EARDESN - Lutpr
EEKWE CBERERAEREHAAR

Qﬂfsﬁi%%ﬁ °

t%%ﬁﬂ$@ﬂ§$wﬁﬂ%l%ii‘kﬁﬁﬁ
EAFEZEENBERAR BHERARNMEGER

T ARREERE 'ﬁﬂﬁmW%ﬁﬁ~%
AA/\j&/\A)\/\T iéﬂ‘#i@ﬁ/q\ﬁﬁo

B B 5232 51 2 & P B 7551
ABTHMEERA -

BB RIS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

46 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 46 BEE A X 5

During the year, other than balances with related parties as shown  BREAZES BTSRRI REREESF 2 &850 - &
in the consolidated statement of financial position, the Group had BERNEMBE AETZTESSOT -
significant transactions with related parties as follows:

(@)  Transactions with entities controlled by separate discretionary (a) EREERKREETEZIBITEAZTRE
trusts with a substantial shareholder act as a corporate trustee. Three  [EEFEAEHIZ EEZET IR S - RBEHEHFE
(2021: Three) directors of the Company are among the discretionary ARG =% (2021F : =R)EE A LilE5E2
beneficiaries of the above trusts at the end of the reporting period. BB A °

2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
BEET BEETT
Rental income HE WA 2.8 53
(b)  Transaction with an associate of a director: by H—ZEBHMBAETIRS:
2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
ER- )P BEATT
Sales of a property SHE W - 26.2
(c)  Transactions with joint ventures of the Group: (0 HEFBSLNRETIRS
2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
ER- )P AEETT
Management fee and other service fees from A& & A RIWERZ EIRE K H M
joint ventures k7S & 19.1 36.5
Interest income from a joint venture A& &R RIURELZ B B U A 12.6 12.8
Rental income from a joint venture m& &R AMEZ e A - 0.7
Rental expense to a joint venture AeE RSN ZHESER 4.6 4.4
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(d) Compensation of key management personnel: (d FEEHEEBAEWD

The remuneration of Executive Directors during the year is as follows:  #{TEBRERNZMES WO T :

2022 2021
HK$'M HKS'M
ER- Y BEET
Short-term employee benefits R HE B 18 A
Salaries and other benefits e M HMAE R 24.7 233
Performance related incentive payment LR 37.0 34.8
Ex-gratia payment FEFIE - 20.0
Equity-settled share-based payments NHEREE ARG BER 2R 10.1
Retirement benefits schemes contribution RORAEFIFT IR 0.4
72.2 78.1

The remuneration of Executive Directors is determined by the #TEZ vy MEeHmTFMNEESeLRXRE@EBE TR
remuneration committee having regard to the performance of IR ETIZBRARBET -
individuals and market trends.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B RR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #Z=2022% 38310 L F[E

47 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 47 ZX /A F]

OF THE COMPANY

Non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries (note (a))
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Other assets
Amounts due from joint ventures

Current assets
Deposits, prepayments and other
receivables
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Trade payables, provision and accrued
charges
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Lease liabilities

Bank and other loans due within one year

Net current liabilities
Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities
Bank and other loans due after one year

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves (note (b))

Equity

The statement of financial position of the Company was approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2022

and is signed on its behalf by:

TANG Moon Wah
Managing Director
BimE
EHEEATE
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FnBEE

P /B8 2 m (Y E(a))
NG
EREEE

Hitp & E

FEM & & R B FRIA

MENEE

BE  ANFER
H fth & USRI
RITHERERE

mEAE

e B HRM - BHER
et & M
FERTHT B

HERE

—FRIBH 2 RITREMBER

//\L@JEJ R
REERMEBBME

FRBEE
MERE

—FRBNH 2 RITREMBER

BEFE
BAL R
L@
fit #85 (P £ (o))
i

SHEAE RO TR

2022
HK$'M
BEBERT

14,942.0
7.8

13.5
114.9
597.2

15,675.4

34.0
960.3

994.3

33.5
924.3
9.6
295.6

1,263.0
(268.7)
15,406.7

4.8
7,665.6

7,670.4
7,736.3

371.3
7,365.0

7,736.3

NGAN Man Ying
Executive Director
B
HITEE

Z 8 FE AR L R

2021
HKS'M
BEAT

14,179.3
13.2
226

1155
609.4

14,940.0

59.3
6294

688.7

30.1
963.4
9.3
615.8

1,618.6
(929.9)
14,010.1

14.4
6,363.0

6,377.4
7,632.7

3713
72614

7,632.7

KRB ZPIEMRRARE R 2022F6 20 EE S
WHTHNESRERS



(a) INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (a) MIB AR

2022 2021

HK$'M HKS'M

BEETT BEET

Unlisted shares, at cost JE TR - IR AE 2,909.7 3,146.5
Amounts due from subsidiaries G CINEMNGIE S

Interest bearing portion (note) FTEE S (k) 5,638.9 43535

Non-interest bearing portion REEH D 6,393.4 6,679.3

14,942.0 14,179.3

Note: The amounts are unsecured, bear interest at the prevailing market borrowing e ZERBEAEER RETHEEEN RSB LKE
rates and have no fixed terms of repayment. BT &R -

(b) MOVEMENT IN RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (b) XATHEEH
Share Capital
Share options redemption Accumulated
premium reserve reserve profits Total
% 10 5 7 EAXER

B 12 % 8 it it 25T @t

HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M

HEER HEBT BEET HBER HEBR

At 1 April 2020 20204 A 18 1,537.9 420 3.1 6,075.0 7,658.0
Loss and total comprehensive AFEEER2MH

expense for the year F X B = = = (233.2) (233.2)

Share options lapsed FS 1 B #E 2k 3K = 0.2) = 0.2 =

Dividends paid EIRAR B - - - (163.4) (163.4)

At 31 March 2021 7202183 A31H 1,537.9 418 3.1 5,678.6 72614
Profit and total comprehensive Z~4F & & 5 & 2 H

income for the year W 4asE = = = 203.5 203.5
Recognition of equity-settled  FERR bAKE 2 45 B A

share-based payments Mty RERE 2 5K = 189 = = 189

Share options lapsed P 1) B HE SR R - (86) = 86 =

Dividends paid B E - - - (1188) (118.8)

At 31 March 2022 R2022%3H31H 1,537.9 52.1 3.1 5,771.9 7,365.0

Under the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman RIEBEHESEE A TNEFENE (KEZ]) @ XA T
Islands, the share premium of the Company is available for ZMmEERHO IR FAREHKAEFEIRE @ 8
distribution or paying dividends to shareholders, subject to the ‘B FHABAMEZERAME A4S EZMABEEMm
provisions of its memorandum and articles of association and & @ MEREIEEE A AT AGENEENAH
provided that immediately following the distribution of dividends, HXMBINEZEKE - BIEARAQ G 2 HB =24
the Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary 8l - KA T R 827 7202243 318 2 254
course of business. In accordance with the Company’s articles of 577198 &% 7T (20214 : 567868 & /B L) &
association, dividends can only be distributed out of the accumulated — #FUR ZE P& 2 ©

profits of the Company, which amounted to HK$5,771.9 million (2021:

HKS5,678.6 million) as at 31 March 2022.
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Five-Year Financial Summary
hFPBHME

- =
RESULTS E
For the year ended 31 March
BZ3B831BLLEE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
HK$'M HK$'M HKS'M HK$'M HK$'M
BEAT BESBT BAEST BEST BEAR
Revenue WA 4,314.2 3,942.3 4,696.5 3,844.0 2,222.3
Profit from operations & i A 1,484.1 1,508.5 2,287.3 2,030.2 2,797.5
Finance costs B 15 E& A (123.8) (88.3) (271.8) (245.7) (208.3)
Share of results of associates {5 Bk & A Tl £ 4& (0.2) (0.1) 0.1 0.2) 0.2)
Share of results of joint DMEEERNAIEE
ventures 343.4 2206 506.6 946.7 484
Profit before taxation B B4 B 1,703.5 1,640.7 2,522.0 2,731.0 2,6374
Taxation 18 (484.0) (512.1) (837.7) (325.8) (200.5)
Profit for the year TN JE 55 A 1,219.5 1,128.6 1,684.3 2,405.2 24369
Attributable to: T AL -
Owners of the Company RAEER A 1,097.3 897.3 1,624.6 2,206.9 2,305.1
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR HE o 122.2 2313 59.7 198.3 131.8
Profit for the year RE [E i F 1,219.5 1,1286 1,684.3 2,405.2 2,436.9
FINANCIAL POSITION B 7R
At 31 March
M3H31H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
HK$'M HK$'M HK$'M HKS$'M HK$'M
BERBT BEAET BEAT BEATL BHEAL
Total assets BEHE 43,407.5 38,145.0 37,2409 35,4574 34,636.7
Total liabilities BEBEHE (15,461.2)  (11,5403)  (12,494.7) (11,5350)  (12,479.3)
Non-controlling interests FEI2E IR 2 (2,919.4) (2,920.8) (2,678.8) (2,622.0) (2,439.6)
Equity attributable to ZIN/NEEZF =N
owners of the Company JEfh = 25,026.9 23,683.9 22,0674 21,3004 19,717.8
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Particulars of Major Properties
TEYRFE

At31 March 2022 7202293 A31H

A. PROPERTIES HELD FOR/UNDER

DEVELOPMENT

Descriptions
BR

1. The remaining phases,
Discovery Bay,
Lantau Island

(@) Residential

(b) Recreational

(c) Others

2. Hollywood Road project,
Hong Kong Island

3. Starlight One, Jiaxing City,
Zhejiang Province,
the PRC

4, In One, Lin'an District,

Hangzhou City, Zhejiang
Province, the PRC

5. Rama 3 Road project,
Yannawa District,
Bangkok, Thailand

Gross floor
area (sq. ft.)
BETAEE
(EAR)
R = &
BTEH
F=x 1,334,736
NG 11,087
Hib 352,101
BEE 26,403
fEEEER
hEMIAREES 768,000
ERE
RETT AN T 430,000
g
BEE
ZHEA 416,180
Yannawal& (site area)
Rama 3 RoadZE B (EEE)

A.

Stage of
completion

2R P B

Construction
under progress/
Planning in
progress
TRRETH/
MBI

Planning in
progress

REETH

Not yet
commenced

WA E) T

Completion of
demolition

TTRB IR

Construction
under progress

Ti2EfTH

Construction
under progress
TRETH

Planning in
progress
REETH

HRBIBRET2UE

Expected
completion
date

jabikeped=

2025-2032

2023-2032

No definite
plan
mEEE 2

2025

2023

2023

No definite plan
BEE RS

Nature of property

NEEE

Residential
FE

Recreational

PR TE]

Retained for
future development

BIEERER
Residential

EE

Residential
€

Residential
F=x

Residential
FE

EHAXEREMESRAT 21/22 F5% 253

Attributable
interest to
the Group

%8
P46 F 5

50%

50%

50%

100%

100%

100%

100%



Particulars of Major Properties

TEYRFF

At31 March 2022 #202243 8318

B. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR

RENTAL PURPOSES

Descriptions
BR

6. 2 houses located at Bijou Hamlet,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

7. 3 houses located at Headland Village,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

8. 9 units comprising lowrise
and duplex apartments located at
Peninsula Village,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

9. 1 highrise apartment located at
Greenvale Village, Discovery Bay,
Lantau Island

10. 18 highrise apartments located at
Parkridge Village, Discovery Bay,
Lantau Island

11. 4 midrise apartments and
1 combined unit located at DB Plaza,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

12, 2 lowrise apartments located at
Siena One, Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

13, 2 highrise apartments located at
Peninsula Village, Discovery Bay,
Lantau Island

14, 6 houses located at Phase 17
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

15. 14/F of Century Tower Il and
Car Parking Space No. 12 on Level 1,
Century Tower, T and 1A
Tregunter Path, The Peak, Hong Kong
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AEZ‘Z
‘U?/%%

AE
WBTEE A+ 5=

Hﬁ]ﬂH

RIR L= 2R
MEERFE

KIUE L& &%
IEEA (MEEFRE
REAERAK)

KRB LS EEE
VE = EE

RBELBRERZR

1818 = BB

AR R ERRES
A8 BB
EREEN

REL g REERAM &
ABEEEL

KB =EE17
CETEEERE

EBILTE

1 F AR A2 B 155 155
R REN 148 R LKE
FIEFERREM

B. RAREVMXFEREESHWA

A&

Gross floor
area (sq. ft.)
BREEE
(FFR)

5392

15,074

1,068

12,468

4338

2483

1438

43,055

3,663

Nature of
property

ES:3

Residential
F=E
Residential

€

Residential
F=E

Residential
€

Residential
F=x

Residential
FE

Residential
TE
Residential
FE
Residential
FE

Residential
FE

Attributable
interest to
the Group

£m
P45 F &

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

50%

50%

100%

Category
of lease

RE SR

Medium
i

Medium

hH

Medium
i

Medium
i

Medium
]

Medium
]

Medium
]
Medium

th

Medium

Bk

Long
=



Descriptions
BR
16. 1 highrise apartment located at

20.

22.

23.

24,

25.

26.

Coastal Skyline, Tung Chung,
Lantau Island

Wellgan Villa,
148 Nga Tsin Wai Road, Kowloon

Souei Park Harajuku,
Tokyo, Japan

\Veneo Minami Azabu,
Tokyo, Japan

Commercial Centre,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

Shop 401 on Ground Floor,
Coastline Villa, Peninsula Village,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

Commercial Centre, Yi Pak,
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island

CDW Building,

382-392 Castle Peak Road,

27-37 Mei Wan Street, Tsuen Wan,
New Territories

325 car parking spaces at
Tuen Mun Central Square,

22 Hoi Wing Road, Tuen Mun,
New Territories

West Gate Tower,
7 Wing Hong Street and

8 King Lam Street, Cheung Sha Wan,

Kowloon

156 office units and 62 parking lots,
located at Jinsha INCITY,

Qiantang District, Hangzhou,

the PRC

Gross floor
area (sq. ft.)
HMEEEE
(FAR)
RNE\FREX G 1,189
V& B E
B2 I B B 14857 39,022
RYLE
AARER 14,040
Souei Park Harajuku
ARER 18,299
Veneo Minami Azabu
RIUE L =2 225,266
[EEL
KB o= a% & 7417
BEEH T401E
RNELwEE—QE 170,162
HERL
REE 975,520
EBE7-37%
& IL138382-3925%%
PN
ARG R25 N/A
TP R ES TEf
325{EE L
NERDE 146,418
KR 7 R IB ML
ABHEH
REmMNTEER 234,680

W ENRIS6fA P A Bl
&@11$H

Nature of
property

ES:3

Residential
Fx

Residential

EE

Residential
FE
Residential
FE
Commercial

GRS

Commercial

SRS

Commercial

GRS

Commercial

EES

Commercial

EES

Commercial

GRS

Commercial

EES

Attributable

interest to Category

the Group of lease
55

BRI HEER

100% Medium

i

100% Medium

HE

100% Freehold

KAERE

100% Freehold

KAERE

50% Medium

]

50% Medium

H

50% Medium

H

100% Medium

H

100% Medium

H

100% Medium

H

100% Medium

H
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Particulars of Major Properties

TEYRFF

At31 March 2022 #202243 8318

Descriptions
R
27. 2 units of DANG, nREE
2-6 Fui Yiu Kok Street, RE A-65%
Tsuen Wan, New Territories DANG 2{E Bz
28. United Daily News Centre, L&
21 Yuk Yat Street, TBR#21%R
To Kwa Wan, Kowloon BABRAE

C. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Descriptions

R

29. Remaining units of Poggibonsi, AU L = 2
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island ERATEM

30. Remaining units of IL PICCO, R =
Discovery Bay, Lantau Island BEHTEN

31, Remaining units of ZEEAR
The Sukhothai Residences, The Sukhothai Residences
Bangkok, Thailand BN EL

32. Remaining units of Elite House, FREETRER
No. 1310 Ding Xi Road, TEFH1310%
Changning District, Shanghai, H L EM5E
the PRC BTEM

33. Remaining units of Riviera One, BT E EET
Jiaxing City, Zhejiang Province, (i
the PRC BT EfL

34, Remaining units of Mansion One, FEIE ERT
Jiaxing City, Zhejiang Province, FRE
the PRC BTEM
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Gross floor Nature of
area (sq. ft.) property
BEEHE

(FFR) MEME

2,821 Industrial
(saleable area) T
(BERmE)

62,800 Industrial
T%

Attributable
interest to
the Group

5
FE45F %

100%

100%

C. BFLHEWRE

Gross floor Nature of
area (sq. ft.) property
BEEHE

(FFR) MEME

15,442 Residential
FE

32,684 Residential
F=E

22,214 Residential
(net saleable £
area)

(FER@ER)

4754 Residential
F=E

8,382 Residential
F=x

22475 Residential
FE

Attributable
interest to
the Group

%8
FE45 F 22

50%

50%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Category
of lease

HERH

Medium

R

Medium

th

Category
of lease

HERH

Medium

h

Medium
i

Freehold
KAERE

Long
&

Long
&H

Long
=5
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